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OVERSIGHT HEARING ON H.R. 8: CHILD
NUTRITION PROGRAMS

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 23, 1993

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
SUBCOMMITITE ON ELEMENTARY, SECONDARY,

AND VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR

Washington, DC.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., Room

2175, Rayburn House Office Building, Honorable Dale E. Kildee,
Chairman, presiding.

Members present: Representatives Kildee, Miller of California,
Sawyer, Unsoeld, Reed, Roemer, Becerra, Green, Woolsey, English,
Strickland, Romero-Barcelo, Ford, Good ling, Gunderson, McKeon,
and Molinari.

Staff present: Susan Wilhelm, staff director; Dennis Fargas,
budget analyst/professional staff member; Margaret Kajeckas, leg-
islative associate; June Harri s, legislative specialist; Lynn Selmser,
professional staff member; and Jack Jennings, educational counsel.

Chairman KILDEE. The schoolteacher, not the politician, compels
me to start on time. I want to welcome all the people here today
for this hearing, especially those with the American School Food
Services Association. You have been administrators, you have been
just so helpful to this committee throughout the years, and we try
to coincide our hearings with the opportunity that you have to be
here in the city.

I will make some brief introductory remarks and then defer to
Mr. Goodling, my good friend. Then the Secretary should be here
momentarily, and he will be our first witness then.

The Subcommittee on Elementary, Secondary, and Vocational
Education convenes this morning for an oversight hearing on sev-
eral child nutrition programs under this subcommittee's jurisdic-
tion. The subcommittee is in the midst of reauthorizing the Ele-
mentary and Secondary Education Act this session. Well, while we
do that, it's appropriate to take some time to focus on the child nu-
trition programs, because good nutrition is vital to academic suc-
cess.

Studies have shown that undernourished children are less phys-
ically active, less attentive, and less independent and curious. They
are more anxious and cannot concentrate as well. As a result, their
reading ability, their verbal skills, their motor skills suffer. It's ob-
vious that if we are interested in school reform, we also have to
make sure that our children are fed.

(1)
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I taught school, as many of you know, for 10 years and personal-
ly observed in those 10 years the need for good nutrition. I always
tell this story, and I'll abbreviate it a bit here, that before the
school breakfast program was ever st Irted at the Federal level, I
started the school breakfast program at Flint Central High School
in Flint, Michigan, for one student.

You've heard me tell this story probably many times, Bill. He
has heard all my stories through the years.

But in my home room, every day someone's lunch was being
stolen. I was raised in a family where stealing was a very, very se-
rious sin and crime. I was determined to catch the culprit and laid
a trap and finally caught the culprit. I was going to turn him in, of
course, to the principal where he would have been suspended from
school.

When I caught him, I found outwithout going into detailthat
in the morning his mother was in no condition to ever prepare him
a breakfast. When he got to school in the morning, his first job was
to try to find something to eat. He told me, he said, "Mr. Kildee, I
never steal the same lunch from the same person in the same
week."

[Laughter.]
Chairman KILDEE. I thought, well, that kid has ethics. That's

good, you know. Rather than turning him in to the principal, I took
him down to the cafeteria and spoke to Mrs. Pelky, who was in
charge of the cafeteria, and I said, "Now, this young gentleman,
Robert, will be coming down here every morning, and prepare
something for him for breakfast and send me the bill." Well, for
the next 3 years Robert got a breakfast, and I never got a bill. That
was a one-person school breakfast program there at Flint Central
High School.

This subcommittee has jurisdiction over the National School
Lunch and Breakfast Programs, the Special Supplemental Food
Programs for Women, Infants, and Children, "WIC." I was very
happy to see the President's announcement on WIC during his
State of the Union message. We have jurisdiction over Summer
Food, the Child and Aduh Care Food Program, and several other
programs that help fight childhood hunger.

Several of these programs expire in 1994, so that reauthorization
next year will give us a chance to review all of the child nutrition
programs with an eye towards serving more children more effec-
tively.

On the first day of this session, Mr. Goodling, Mr. Ford, and
myself introduced H.R. 8, to reauthorize the expiring programs.
This morning we will focus on the National School Lunch and
Breakfast Programs and WIC. As we stated, we are all pleased
with President Clinton's statement on WIC the other night. WIC is
one of the most cost-effective Federal programs in existence, be-
cause it prevents the ill effects of developmental malnutrition from
ever occurring. It prevents the loss of intellectual and physical ca-
pacity and even the loss of life.

We are quite pleased this morning to have Secretary Espy here,
my former seatmate on the Budget Committee where he knew the
budget process far better than I and shared his wisdom with me.
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He is here t7., is morning to discuss this proposal and some of the
administration's other ideas concerning these critical programs.

This is the first time in recent history that a Secretary of Agri-
culture has appeared before the Education and Labor Committee. I
think Jack, or John Block, appeared in 1981. I think he was here.
And his deputy, Richard Ling, would testify from time to time.

We appreciate, Secretary Espy, your being with us here today.
Before I introduce our witness, I would like to call my very good

friend and my colleague and one who has been a consistent and
solid supporter of nutrition programs, Mr. Goodling, the ranking
Republican member of the full committee and the ranking Republi-
can member of this subcommittee, to make a statement.

Mr. Goodling?
Mr. GOODLING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I don't know whether I have any stories to top this story or not.

The ones I would tell, you would have heard also, I would imagine,
before. The one I like to tell most of all is my first encounter with
a Senate in conference on school lunch and child nutrition. At that
time I had just come from being a school superintendent and was
always upset that so much food was thrown away because we had
to give them everything that was there whether they wanted it or
whether they didn't. I thought, well, I will be brave enough and see
whether I can't do something about that.

When we got to conference, the great Senator from Minnesota
was there, but so were some others whose staff were telling them,
"No, no, you can't change that. Everybody has to take everything
that is served. If you don't, it will destroy their diet," et cetera, et
cetera. I don't know how it destroyed their diet; they weren't
eating it anyway.

But at any rate, I took a chance and I finally said, "That's
stupid, in my estimation. If a youngster isn't going to eat red beets,
why in the world are we putting them on their tray so they can
dump them back in the trash?"

The good Senator Humphrey said, "I agree with that. Muriel in-
sists I eat red beets. I hate red beets, and I'm not going to eat red
beets, and kids shouldn't have to eat red beets."

[Laughter.]
Mr. GOODLING. It paSsed.
Chairman KILDEE. He picked the right one.
Mr. GOODLING. If I had said asparagus or spinach or something

else, it probably wouldn't have worked, but somehov, or other the
Good Lord said, "Say red beets," and that's what I said.

Well, it's your twenty-first time here. I'm not quite here that
long, but close, almost every time as I sat at the knees of our great
Chairman Perkins and learned all about school lunch and child nu-
trition, followed by Chairman Hawkins, followed by Chairman
Ford, and now working with the subcommittee Chairman, probably
one of the finest members of Congress that we have. We belong to
each other's mutual admiration society, so I thought I would throw
that in.

I want to welcome all of you here. I particularly want to welcome
the Secretary of Agriculture. Being a congressman is almost impos-
sible. I would think trying to run a department as large as the Ag-
riculture Department is an impossible task, but I know you will be
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up to it. We will do wnat we can to help you rather than hinder
you. I look forward to your testimony this morning.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman KILDEE. Thank you.

STATEMENT OF HON. DONALD M. PAYNE, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE
STATE OF NEW JERSEY

Mr. Chaii man, let me commend you for calling this oversight hearing on child
nutrition programs.

As we know, programs like the Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants
and Children [WIC], the School Lunch Program and related programs work. They
improve the health and the nutritional status of the participants and they also save
Federal medicaid costs.

Mr. Chairman we need to continue the trend of political and financial support for
these programs that do work and strive to provide these services to all citizens that
are eligible. I am so pleased that this administration has shown such great interest
in helping the children and families of this Nation.

I would like to welcome all of the witnesses, and I especially welcome my former
colleague and fellow Congressional Black Caucus member the Secretary of Agricul-
ture, Mike Espy. I look forward to hearing your testimony.

Chairman KILDEE. I think we will go to the Secretary right now.
So Mr. Secretary if you would step forward. I can't tell you enough
how proud the House is to have one of its own members serving as
Secretary of Agriculture. You certainly were an outstanding
member of the House, and I know you will be an outstanding Sec-
retary of Agriculture. We welcome you here this morning. You
may proceed in any fashion you wish, Mr. Secretary.

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE MIKE ESPY, SECRETAL:i OF
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, WASHING-
TON, DC, ACCOMPANIED BY GEORGE BRALEY, ACTING ADMIN-
ISTRATGR, UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE,
WASHINGTON, DC

Mr. ESPY. Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity of being
here today. To Mr. Good ling, my friend, I also appreciate your
being here.

The Chairman said that I sat next to him on the Budget Commit-
tee for about 6 years, and I got a chance to know him through that
experience. I have to admit, though, Mr. Chairman, I am awfully
glad that I am off that committee. It's a tough, tough assignment.

Here I come, it's my first appearance before this subcommittee,
and Bill Good ling says that I have an impossible job and then he
talks about red meat to someone who has been dealing with red
meat over the last 31/2 weeks.

I am honored to be here today, Mr. Chairman. I am here for a
reason. The Agriculture Department is very large, as you know.
We have about a $62 billion budget. If you would compare the asset
value of our portfolio, it would compare favorably to Citibank and
Bank of America. It is incredibly large.

As you know, we have many things that we do over thereinter-
national aid, international trade, farm programs, forestrybut
principal among our jobs is our intent to maintain programs that
keep children healthy and provide a nutritional diet. School lunch,
school breakfast, and of course the WIC program are all vital, so
vital to what we do every day. I do have a statement. I will try not
to impose upon your time by reading it all. If you would, Mr.
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Chairman, I would just like unanimous consent to enter the entire
statement into the record.

Chairman KILDEE. Without objection, it shall be entered.
Mr. ESPY. As I said, Mr. Chairman, I'm honored to be responsible

for the programs which provide food and nutrition education to
millions of children and adults in our Nation daily. Programs such
as the National School Lunch Program, the School Breakfast Pro-
gram, and the WIC Program are all so very vital.

President Clinton in h. ; Inaugural Add-ess stated that there is
nothing wrong with America that can't be cured by what is right
with America. One part of what is right with our country is the
dedication and vigor of people involved in providing nutrition to
America's children; persons daily attacking the problems of hunger
in this country. A hungry child can't learn. Each day in every
school lunchroom in the United States, we change a life for the
better and we invest in our Nation's future. Each person who has a
hand in feeding children a nutritious meal should be commended,
and there are many here today.

At this point also, Mr. Chairman, let me commend you for your
leadership in feeding our children and making certain that hungry
children get a chance to learn without having to worry if they will
have a breakfast or an adequate lunch.

I would also like to commend Mr. Good ling for his long and un-
tiring commitment to the Special Nutrition Programs. He and this
entire committee have always treated these issues in a bipartisan
fashion, and I will work with all of you in that same spirit. You
have my pledge on that one.

In testifying today, at the outset, I would like to say that the ad-
ministration is currently formulating the President's fiscal year
1994 Budget. OMB would like me to remind you that therefore I
am not in the position to provide you with the administration's pa
sitions on funding fcm specific programs or activities, but I've had a
peek at it.

Chairman KILDEE. In the past administrations, I always encour-
aged the Secretary to ignore OMB, but I won't make that state-
ment this time.

Mr. ESPY. I can hardly do that. I made a speech last night, Mr.
Chairman, where I said that I now know the difference between a
Member of Congress and a Cabinet Member: a Member of Congress
can pretty much say what he or she wants to say, and a Cabinet
Member has always this ominous OMB. I might be the first Cabi-
net Secretary to protest for First Amendment freedoms for Cabinet
secretaries. However, although I'm not in the position to be very
specific about the fiscal year 1994 Budget, I can say that I've seen a
peek at it with regard to our request for nutrition programs. I
would believe, I could say in all honesty, that this is the first time
in 12 years that we are going to be coming before you asking for an
increase in programs for food and nutrition.

[Applause.]
Mr. ESPY. Mr. Chairman, recent statistics about the need for Fed-

eral food programs couldn't be more clear. In 1991, 35.7 million
Americans lived in poverty. Unfortunately, a disproportionate
number of the poor are children. One out of every five American
children, 21.8 percent lived in poverty; a rate higher than any

9
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other age group, including the elderly. Happily, one program that's
working well to address the nutritional needs of children is the Na-
tional School Lunch Program.

As committed as this government is, we still need to do more. In
the National School Lunch Program, more than 92,000 schools and
residential institutions participate. About half of the children get
free or reduced price meals. The program is available to 98 percent
of public schoolchildren and about 90 percent of all schoolchildren.
The appropriation for the National School Lunch Program in fiscal
year 1993 was about $4 billion, up from $3.6 billion in fiscal year
1992.

It is also important to note that the assistance provided by the
National School Lunch Program is also available to those who have
been adversely affected by this weak economy. Unfortunately, that
number has been growing, and I'm proud that our lunch program
is there and that we're in a position to help.

The breakfast program participation is about 4.9 million per day.
In my opinion, this is not enough. Some recent efforts have been
made to encourage school breakfast expansion. Grants totalling $23
million will enable more than 6,000 schools to join the program,
serving to that point almost a million children. There is still, how-
ever, a wide gap between the number of breakfasts served and
lunches served, with as many as 25 million lunches being served
but only about 5 million breakfasts. The appropriation for fiscal
year 1993 was $902 million, which was a big increase from the $722
million in fiscal year 1992.

The Child and Adult Care Food Program provides cash and com-
modity assistance to nonresidential child care and adult day care
centers, and through sponsors, to family day care homes for chil-
dren. Average daily participation for Child and Adult Care Centers
in 1992 was about 1.7 million. The fiscal year 1993 appropriation
for this program was $1.3 billion, up from $1.2 billion in fiscal year
1992.

We also have, as you know, Mr. Chairman, the Summer Food
Service Program, which provides nutritious meals to children when
school is not in session. It has also experienced a significant expan-
sion in the last several years. This growth has been driven by out-
reach efforts encouraged by various organizations and changes in
the law which reopened the program to private nonprofit sponsors.
I support and I encourage these efforts toward outreach, and we
will be doing more.

For many students, school meals make a significant contribution
to their daily nutrient intake. An objective of the Healthy People
2000 initiative calls for increasing to at least 90 percent the propor-
tion of school lunch, breakfast, and child care food services whose
menus are consistent with the principles of the Dietary Guidelines
for Americans.

In addition to these goals, the planning of meals must take into
consideration children's food preferences and the cost of meal pro-
duction. The Department recognizes that meals need to be present-
ed in ways that make children eager to eat the school meal. There
must also be a continuing awareness of the special dietary needs of
these children with special requirements.

1 0
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Mr. Chairman, this is a new day over at the USDA. We have al-
ready announced a certain mechanism to promote a partnership
between USDA's new political leaders, its career employees, and
the public it serves. The new partnership is dedicated to working
together for massive, positive, and constructive change. I would
like to hear all of the concerns and suggestions for change that will
improve the services provided to those in need of our assistance.

I pledge my best efforts to work with all involvedwhether it's
in this committee, school food service workers, State directors, or
individual parentsto improve these food programs that are al-
ready the envy of the world.

We are prepared to help in this effort, a response to S.R. 303
passed last session. We are examining the feasibility and the cost
of a universal school lunch program, which I know is a topic of
great interest to all of you today. Results from this study and other
studies required by the 1990 Farm Bill will be released in October
1993.

Mr. Chairman, we would like to begin gathering comments and
thoughts on proposals and preparations for next year's reauthoriza-
tion. As you know, President Clinton has outlined the economic
plan with full details to be incorporated into the 1994 Budget
which will be released by mid-March. We do need your full partici-
pation to enable us to help make the decisions necessary to develnp
a legislative package that's best for our children.

I would like to discuss briefly change in school programs. We all
know that change was a major theme in President Clinton's cam-
paign, and it is certainly a major focus at USDA as we begin to
streamline and modernize the Department. I will be speaking later
today at an Appropriations Subcommittee hearing to talk in more
detail about our streamlining opportunities.

However, I have been trying to find the gentleman in the base-
ment who is paid about $54,000 to measure the flow rate of ketch-
up. I have been looking for him, but I never found him until last
night. I understand that he was found by "Prime Time Live." We
will be meeting today to see if we could explore other options for
this gentleman, because we certainly have more things to do, Mr.
Chairman.

There are four broad areas where I see a need for emphasis.
They are: One-stop shopping in child nutrition programs, more
work on paperwork reduction, outreach, and cementing ties with
the fundamental agricultural community. I'll go over these very
briefly.

One-stop shopping is a term, as you know, Mr. Chairman, often
applied to the human resources area but which has meaning in the
child nutrition arena as well. I understand that many States are
using welfare office records to directly certify students as eligible
for some of our feeding programs. Clearly, this results in less pa-
perwork in the long run and, hopefully, will prove to be cost-effez-
tive. We need to speed up implementation of our one-stop shopping.
We need to determine ways to have this work not only in urban
areas, but in rural areas as well. We also need to examine if there
are other programs that can be effectively added to the list, and we
intend to undertake this task immediately.

I .1
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Under paperwork reduction, we have a problem there. We
thought that we could reduce it by facilitating the degree of com-
puterization around the office. Yet, while we have more computers,
today paperwork continues to be a tremendous issue.

During the last reauthorization of some of these programs, Con-
gress made a number of changes which resulted in less paperwork.
Such things as the direct certification of students for free school
meals based on a match of school enrollment with food stamp or
AFDC participation and multiyear and permanent program agree-
ments have resulted in less paperwork.

I am sure that there are other ways to reduce it as we go for-
ward with our goals towards streamlining, but these efforts must
be balanced with the need to ensure accountability to the taxpay-
ing public and ensure that children are receiving the nutritional
benefits to which they are entitled.

Under outreach, everyone here knows that we need outreach. It
is clear that there are more people who need the help than there
are those presently receiving it. Outreach to those households
would help fill that information void so that these children can eat
lunch on a reduced price basis. Outreach could provide the access
or demolish a barrier which would enable a program to reach a lost
client. Outreach to its citizens is the essence of government, and at
USDA we will begin the outreach process with our most vulnerable
citizens, our neglected citizens: our children.

Lastly, from time to time, we all need to be reminded of our
roots. One of the roots of today's National School Lunch Program
is its agricultural base. Although significant sums go to the Nation-
al School Lunch Program in cash reimbursements, there is still an
additional 14 cents per meal in commodity entitlements, plus bonus
commodities. We need to look into ways for those who provide the
food and fiber, and those who serve that food on the school lunch
line to work more closely.

We need to examine areas where cooperative efforts can yield
more effective results. Our nutrition programs should not be adver-
saries to the agricultural community, but allies.

Mr. Chairman, if I can just stop to say that part of the challenge
over at USDA is really to expand the client base. There are many
of those who thought that we only care about farmers or producers
or ranchers, and we do. I mean, they are a vital part of what we do
over there. We have to emphasize that if you farm, you're involved
in agriculture; but if you eat, you're involved in agriculture; if you
produce fiber, you're involved in agriculture. If you wear clothing,
you're involved in agriculture.

Everyone here, I daresay, is involved in agriculture, and we need
to develop more of an appreciation of what we do at USDA, but
USDA needs to know how to outreach to those just beyond the tra-
ditional farm community. That's why I'm here today to talk about
these type of things and to tell everyone that we are placing an
added emphasis on the entire client community.

Lastly, food safety. We have been dealing with this since my first
hour on the job. The exact time, Mr. Chairman, that I was over at
the White House raising my hand to become the 25th Secretary of
Agriculture, there in Washington State, Ms. Unsoeld's State, unfor-
tunately, we had some children eating tainted hamburgers. We had
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to jump right on it and do the best that we could to try to get hold
of that situation to ensure that we could do a better job of protect-
ing the public and assuring a safe food supply, and admitting some
error.

There are certain things that we can do a little bit better. We
inspect meat in 1993 the same way that we did it in 1930. We have
announced some short-term changes, we have announced some
long-term goals. We are moving forward very rapidly on this very
important area.

I would like to say that the safety of the food products that
USDA donates and the products that local schools and other out-
lets buy must meet the highest safety standards so that no one's
health is threatened. I recently made a number of recommenda-
tions for improving the monitoring of the Nation's meat supply. I
certainly would like to know of any special concerns that you have,
or those of you in the Food Service Programs have, so that we
might have the best set of comprehensive recommendations avail-
able as we make changes in the inspection service. It is critical to
us.

This is the so-called first "health threat" that we've had on
President Clinton's watch, and I just want to say for him, it is a
very, very high priority.

Lastly, the WIC Program. Mr. Chairman, you heard the State of
the Union speech. Both in the short-term stimulus package and the
long-term infrastructure development package, there was a height-
ened emphasis on the WIC Program. We would like to fully fund
the WIC Program, and it will be fully funded. It is the most popu-
lar program, I think, among all on the nutrition menu, if you will.
It provides supplemental foods, nutrition education, and health
care referrals to low-income women, infants, and children who are
found to be at nutritional risk.

One of the most important aspects of WIC is how it functions as
an adjunct to health care. It's not simply a food program, but a
gateway into the health care system and to improved health
through nutrition education. The program also encourages preg-
nant women to breastfeed their infants. Last year, the WIC aver-
age monthly participation was 5.3 million. The fiscal year 1993 ap-
propriation was almost $2.9 billion, up from the fiscal year 1992 ap-
propriation of $2.6 billion.

As I've said, in his address before the joint session of Congress
last week, our President stated, and I quote, "I recommend that
the WIC nutrition program be expanded so that every expectant
mother who needs the help will get it." I will certainly work with
you to accomplish this goal. We are requesting a $75 million sup-
plemental appropriation for WIC for this fiscal year to get the full
funding process by fiscal year 1996 moving along.

I appreciate WIC's role in efforts to hicrease the rate of child im-
munization within our country. Expanded immunization is a top
priorit; of our administration. We also believe that it is an incredi-
ble investment in a healthy future for our children.

As I said at my recent confirmation hearing, I am excited about
heading an agency which does so much good for our country. Each
weekday, 25 million children have a healthy lunch, infants receive
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needed nourishment, and millions more benefit from the receipt of
food stamps.

As the former chairman of the Domestic Hunger Task Force and
of the Select Committee on Hunger, I know that hungry children
don't just exist in Somalia. They exist in Mississippi, they exist in
Michigan, they exist in Washington State. Hungry children are all
around us. They are in rural America and also in urban America.
Hungry children are just down the street.

We must be prepared to fight for our priorities within the budg-
etary resources that are available, and investment in our children
is, indeed, a worthy project. Infrastructure in streets and sewers,
but also infrastructure in our children.

Mr. Chairman, my door is open to you and those of you on this
subcommittee and all of those of you in this room today. Together,
we can revitalize the Agriculture Department and the nutrition
programs that it administers. I thank you for allowing me to come
today. I wanted to certainly show by my personal presence that,
sure, we are involved in the Farm Program, but we are also in-
volved in WIC and school lunch and school breakfast. We are going
to heighten the emphasis on those programs within this USDA, be-
cause it is an incredibly important part of what we do every day.
TI lank you.

[Applause.]
[The prepared statement of Hon. Mike Espy follows:]

STATEMENT OF HON. MIKE ESPY, SECRE'rARY OF AGRICULTURE, DEPARTMENT OF
AGRICULTURE, WASHINGTON, DC

Good morning, Mr. Chairman. I am honored to be here today and to see so many
of my former colleagues and friends.

I am honored to have been chosen by President Clinton to be the Secretary of
Agriculture.

I am honored to be responsible for the programs which provide food and nutri-
tion education to millions of children and adults in our Nation daily, programs such
as the National School Lunch Program [NSLP], the School Breakfast Program, and
the Special Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants and Children [WIC].

I will be honored to work with this committee and other Members of Congress
to improve these and other Federal nutrition programsespecially the programs
serving children.

Lastly, let me particularly say I am honored to be able today to recognize the
many contributions of the dedicated workers who are daily on the front lines provid-
ing nourishment to our children.

President Clinton in his inaugural address stated that there is nothing wrong
with America that can't be cured by what is right with America. One part of what
is right with our country is the dedication and vigor of people involved in providing
nutrition to America's children; persons daily attacking the problems of hunger in
this country. A hungry child cannot learn. Each day in every school lunchroom in
the United States, we change a life for the better and we invest in our Nation's
future. Each person who has a hand in feeding children a nutritious meal should be
commended.

At this point, Mr. Chairman, let me commend you for your leadership in feeding
our children and making certain that hungry children get a chance to learn without
having to worry if they will have a breakfast or lunch. I also want to commend Mr.
Good ling for his long and untiring commitment to the Special Nutrition Programs.
He, and this entire committee, have always treated these issues in a bipartisan fash-
ion, and I will work with all of you in that same spirit.

In testifying today, I want to emphasize at the outset that the administration is
currently formulating the President's fiscal year 1994 Budget. Accordingly, I am not
in a position to provide you with the administration's position on funding for specif-
ic programs or activities. As soon as the President's fiscal year 1994 Budget is re-
leased, I would be pleased to provide you with the Department's view.
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Need for Food Assistance
Recent statistics about the need for Federal food programs could not be more

clear. In 1991, 35.7 million Americans [14.2 percent] lived in poverty. And, unfortu-
nately, a disproportionate number of the poor are our children. One out of every
five American children [21.8 percent] lived in poverty, a rate higher than any other
age group, including the elderly. Happily, one program that is working well to ad-
dress the nutritional needs of children is the National School Lunch Program. As
committed as this government is, we still need to do more. In the National School
Lunch Program, more than 92,000 schools and residential institutions participate.
About half of the children get free or reduced price meals. The program is available
to 98 percent of public schoolchildren, and about 90 percent of all schoolchildren.
The appropriation for the National School Lunch Program in fiscal year 1993 was
about $4 billion, up from $3.6 billion in fiscal year 1992. It is important to note that
the assistance provided by the National School Lunch Program is available to those
who have been adversely affected by the weak economy. Unfortunately, that
number has been growing. I am proud that the National School Lunch Program is
there and able to help.

The School Breakfast Program participation is about 4.9 million per day. This is
not enough. Some recent efforts have been made to encourage School Breakfast ex-
pansion. Grants totalling $23 million will enable more than 6,000 schools to join the
program, serving almost a million more children. There is still, however, a wide gap
between the number of breakfasts served and lunches served, with as many as 25
million lunches being served, but only about 5 million breakfasts being served each
schoolday. The appropriation for fiscal year 1993 was $902 million, a big increase
from $722 million in fiscal year 1992.

The Child and Adult Care Food Program provides cash and commodity assistance
to nonresidential child care and adult day care centers, and through sponsors, to
family day care homes for children. This program is meeting the needs of our
changing world, where working mothers are an ever-growing part of the workforce,
and where an aging parent who needs supervised care can receive it. Average daily
participation for Child and Adult Care Centers and Family Day Care Homes for
September, 1992, was 1.7 million. The fiscal year 1993 appropriation for this pro-
gram was $1.3 billion, up from $1.2 billion in fiscal year 1992.
SUMMER FOOD SERVICE PROGRAM

The Summer Food Service Program, which provides nutritious meals to children
when school is not in session, has also experienced significant expansion in the last
several years. This growth has been driven by outreach efforts encouraged by vari-
ous organizations and changes in the law which reopened the program to private
nonprofit sponsors. I support and encourage these efforts.
NUTRITIOUS MEALS

For many students, school meals make a significant contribution to their daily nu-
trient intake. An objective of the Healthy People 2000 initiative calls for increasing
to at least 90 percent the proportion of school lunch, breakfast and child care food
services whose menus are consistent with the principles of the Dietary Guidelines
for Americans. The Dietary Guidelines message is clear for the Special Nutrition
Programs. The programs should:

Offer a variety of foods.
Serve meals that help maintain a healthy body weight.
Offer meals low in fat, saturated fat, and cholesterol.
Serve plenty of vegetables, fruits and grain products.
Offer and use sugars only in moderation.
Offer and use salt and sodium only in moderation.
Promote an alcohol- and drug-free lifestyle.

In addition to these goals, the planning of meals must take into consideration
children's food preferences and the cost of meal production. The Department recog-
nizes that meals need to be presented in ways that make children eager to eat the
school meal. There must also be a continuing awareness of the special dietary needs
of those children with special requirements.
TEAM USDA

Mr. Chairman, this is a new day and a new USDA. I recently announced TEAM
USDAa partnership between USDA's new political leaders, its career employees,
and the public it serves. The new partnership is dedicated to working together for
massive, constructive change. I invite all of you to join TEAM USDA. I want to hear
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all concerns L ad suggestions for change that will improve the services provided to
those in need f our assistance.

I pledge my t,st efforts to work with all involved, whether it is in this committee,
school food service workers, State Directors, or individual parents, to improve these
food programs that are already the envy of the world.

USDA is also prepared to help in this effort. In response to S. Res. 303 passed by
the Senate last session, we are examining the feasibility and cost of a universal
school lunch program, which, I know, is a topic of great interest to all gathered here
today. Results from this study and other studies required by the 1990 Farm Bill will
be released in October, 1993.

Mr. Chairman, I want to begin today to gather comments and thoughts on propos-
als in preparation for next year's reauthorization. As you know, President Clinton
has outlined his economic plan with full details of the plan to be incorporated into
the fiscal year 1994 Budget which will be released by mid-March. I need full partici-
pation by all to make the decisions necessary to develop a legislative package that is
best for our children.
CHANGE IN SCHOOL PROGRAMS

Now, we all know that change was a major theme in the President's campaign,
and it is a major focus at USDA as I begin to streamline and modernize the Depart-
ment. I think change in the meal programs is inevitable as well. I foresee new and
exciting things occurring that will increase student involvement, improve meal
quality and simplify program management. I applaud these efforts and hope to en-
courage even more new and innovative ways to make an already excellent program
even better.

There are four broad areas where I see a need for emphasis. They are:
One-stop-shopping in child nutrition programs.
More work on paperwork reduction.
Outreach.
Ties to the agricultural community.

ONE-STOP-SHOPPING
One-Stop-Shopping is a term often applied to the human resources area but which

has meaning in the child nutrition arena as well. I understand that many States are
using welfare office records to directly certify students as eligible for some of our
feeding programs. Clearly, this results in less paperwork in the long run and will
prove to be cost-effective. We need to speed up implementation. We need to deter-
mine ways to have this work not only in urban areas, but in rural areas as well. We
also need to examine if there are other programs that can be effectively added to
the list. I intend to undertake this task immediately.
PAPERWORK REDUCTION

Mr. Chairman, many thought the computer age would herald the "paperless
office," yet while there are many more computers, today, paperwork continues to be
an issue.

During the last reauthorization of these programs, Congress made a number of
changes which resulted in less paperwork. Such things as the direct certification of
students for free school meals based on a match of school enrollment with food
stamp or AFDC participation and multiyear and permanent program agreements
have resulted in less paperwork.

I am sure that there are other ways to reduce paperwork, and streamline the ad-
ministrative requirements of our program, but these efforts must be balanced with
the need to ensure accountability to the taxpaying public, and ensure that children
are receiving the nutritional benefits to which they are entitled. For example,
USDA promulgated the Coordinated Review Effort regulation that went a long way
in reducing the paperwork burden on schools. We must make our programs "school
food service worker" friendly.
OUTREACH

Mr. Chairman, we need outreach. It is clear that there are more people who need
help than are receiving it. Outreach to those households would help fill that infor-
mation void so that those children can eat lunch on a reduced price basis. Outreach
could provide the access or demolish a barrier which would enable a program to
reach a lost client. Outreach to its citizens is the essence of government, and at
USDA, I will begin the outreach process with our most vulnerable citizens, our most
neglected citizens, our children.

I 6



13

TIES WITH AGRICULTURAL COMMUNITY
From time to time, we all need to be reminded of our roots. One of the roots oftoday's National School Lunch Program is its agricultural base. Although signifi-cant sums go to the National School Lunch Program in cash reimbursements, thereis still an additional 14 cents per meal in commodity entitlements, plus bonus com-modities. We need to look into ways for those who provide the food and fiber, andthose who serve that food on the school lunch line to work more closely. We need toexamine areas where cooperative efforts can yield more effective results. Our nutri-tion programs should not be adversaries to the agricultural community, but allies.

FOOD SAFETY
Before concluding my discussion of school programs, let me say that the safety ofthe food products that USDA donates, and the products that local schools and otheroutlets buy must meet the highest safety standards so that no one's health is threat-ened. I have recently made a number of recommendations for improving the moni-toring of the Nation's meat supply. I would like to know of any special concernsthat those in the food programs might have so that we have the best set of compre-hensive recomrs-mdations available as we make changes in the inspection service.The advice of this committee, Mr. Chairman, would be most helpful.

THE WIC PROGRAM
Finally, one of USDA's, and the President's, most popular programs is the WICProgram, which provides supplemental foods, nutrition education, and health-carereferrals to low-income women, infants, and children who are found to be at nutri-tional risk. One of the most important aspects of WIC is how it functions as an ad-junct to health care. It's not simply a food program, but a gateway into the healthcare system and to improve health through nutrition education. The program alsoencourages pregnant women to breastfeed their infants. Last year, WIC averagemonthly participation was 5.3 million. The fiscal year 1993 appropriation wasalmost $2.9 billion, up from the fiscal year 1992 appropriation of $2.6 billion.In his address before the Joint Session of Congress last week, President Clintonstated, "I recommend that the WIC nutrition program be expanded so that everyexpectant mother who needs the help gets it." I will work with you to accomplishthis goal. We are requesting a $75 million supplemental appropriation for WIC forthis fiscal year to get the full funding process by fiscal year 1996 moving along.I appreciate WIC's role in efforts to increase the rate of child immunization in theUnited States. Expanded immunization Ls a top priority of the Clinton administra-tionan important investment in a healthy future for our children.

Conclusion
Mr. Chairman, as I said at my recent Senate confirmation hearing, I am excitedabout heading an agency which does so much good for our country. Each weekday,25 million children have a healthy lunch, infants receive needed nourishment, andmillions more benefit from the receipt of food stamps. As the former chairman ofthe Domestic Hunger Task Force of the Select Committee on Hunger, I know thathungry children do not just exist in Somalia. Hungry children are in the Delta.Hungry children are in rural America. Hungry children are in urban America.Hungry children are just down the street
Mr. Chairman, we must be prepared to fight for our priorities within the budget-ary resources that are available, and investment in our children is indeed a worthypriority.
Mr. Chairman, rny door is open to you, and those of you in this room today. To-gether, we can revitalize the Agriculture Department, and the nutrition programs itadministers.
Mr. Chairman, that concludes my testimony, I would be happy to answer anyquestions you may have.

Chairman KILDEE. I thank you, Mr. Secretary. Thank you, Mr.Secretary, for your very good testimony.
The Chairman of the full committee, Bill Ford, has been a long-time mentor of myself in politics and public morality, and he ishere this morning, so I am going to defer to Chairman Ford.Mr. Ford?
Mr. FORD. Why, I thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.I wanted to get over here. I am in between meetings, and I willhave to steal Mr. Goodling from you in a short while. We are going
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over to explain to the House Administration Committee the very
austere way in which we are going to operate this committee for
the next year with a reduced budget. I am particularly happy to
have a chance to pop in here and see our colleague Mike Espy, now
Secretary Espy.

I got to know you when you first came to Congress, and you
taught me about something that I guess I had heard but never paid
any attention to, that raising catfish was a very valuable part of
agriculture in your part of the country.

In wearing my other hat, Mr. Chairman, as Chairman of the
Post Office and Civil Service Committee, we passed a resolution to
declare a "National Catfish Day."

Mr. ESPY. It's the truth.
Mr. *FORD. I am still being teased about that in Michigan, Mr.

Secretary, because they haven't got the word yet. I went to you and
said, "You can't be serious," and you explained to me that it was a
very important part of the agricultural income of your State and
many other States as well. Just as recently as the Inauguration, I
ran into some people from Mississippi who surprised me by remem-
bering "National Catfish Day." They were up here for the Inaugu-
ration, and very proud of the fact that they told me you w ere the
second person from Mississippi to be a member of a President's
Cabinet in this century. Is that correct?

Mr. ESPY. That's correct. The former Secretary of Labor was
from Jackson, Mississippi. Although he was never born there and
nc,t quite raised there, but we recognize him as being a Mississippi-
an.

Mr. FORD. Well, they are sure proud of you down there, and we,
who served with you in the House, are proud of you.

I would like to just make one comment. This subcommittee,
under Mr. Kildee, is going to be perhaps the most worked subcom-
mittee in this Congress. The administration has a very ambitious
and very progressive set of programs, a good deal of which will
come through here, and a good deal of the domestic initiatives that
the President has talked about are going to come through Mr. Kil-
dee's subcommittee.

All of the Members of this subcommittee should understand that
we warned youand we were guessingthat because of what the
President said to us during the campaign and immediately after,
that Mr. Kildee's subcommittee was going to be a hot spot in this
Congress. It is turning out to be true. You are going to be very,
very busy.

For that reason, I want to publicly commend you, Chairman
Kildee, for getting started right away with the child nutrition part
of your responsibility. You are going to have to do a reauthoriza-
tion this year, but you have some overwhelming big programs that
you are going to have to reauthorize and authorize that are prob-
ably going to get a lot more attention from the media as time goes
by. By getting a start right now with child nutrition, you have sig-
nalled to everybody that under your chairmanship this subcommit-
tee recognizes that that part of the President's initiatives is equally
important with any other part.

There is a part about the child nutrition, Mr. Secretary, that
used to puzzle me when I came to this committee 29 years ago, and
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that was, how come when we went to a conference between the
House and Senate on the school lunch program we met with the
Agriculture Committee on the Senate side and the House Educa-
tion and Labor Committee on this side. It prompted me to find out,
where did this idea of the school lunch program come from and
how did it get on the books.

I was pleasantly surprised to find outand I wasn't nearly as
cynical then as I am now and I'm not yet as cynical as I expect to
be before I leave herebut like the GI Bill, which was not an edu-
cation program at all but it was a veterans program, it was some-
thing that was moved into the law by people who had something
quite different in mind than we have now.

In 1946, the people in nutrition and in medicine in this country
started doing epidemiologic studies of the number of young Ameri-
cans who were called by the draft and who were the schoolchildren
during the Great Depression, but could not pass the basic physical
to carry a rifle in the Infantry.

Many parts of the country where the Depression hit the hardest
and the longest produced a whole generation of young American
males who couldn't serve because during the important develop-
mental years the Depression had robbed them of anything close to
a decent diet.

It was thoughtand if you go back to the debates, it's kind of
interestingthat if we had to have another World War II, the
country would be better off if we spent some time worrying about
the nutrition of our children. The place that you were most likely
to do something about that was when you had them in school.

It was from that kind of thinking that they began to use the
schools to attack the problem of malnutrition among a segment of
the American population that was not being thought of as needing
nutrition during their formative years. We now know from all sorts
of studies over the years that "hungry bellies" can't learn anything
in schools and that they can't concentrate very much, and if they
do concentrate, they lose what they hear very quickly.

I don't hear anymore, anywhere, from any segment of our popu-
lation the argument that this is not a valid approach to making
education dollars really mean something. I recommend to anyone
who has never done it, to visit one of your schools and have a Type
A lunch.

You will have to believe that the main reason kids eat lunch is
because it's nutrition, because there is very little else about that
lunch to commend it to them, except the day that they serve pizza.
My schools all tell me that the kids like Type A the day that pizza
is there. The work that our people in the schools have done to keep
this program alive is remarkable.

Just a few years ago, the Gramm-Latta Budget was adopted, and
it was our first exposure to a new phenomena called reconciliation.
Mr. Perkins was the chairman of this committee. In the first year
after the passage of that budget, we dropped 4 million kids out of
the school lunch program in this country, and we have not caught
up yet with that great loss.

We have a lot of running to do to get to where we would have
been if we hadn't cut the program. We have got a lot of catching
up to do for the mistakes we made in the early 980s that set us
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back. I know under your leadership, Mr. Chairman, and with the
new Department of Agriculture over there, we are going to do a lot
of catching up.

Secretary Espy, you don't have any idea how pleasant it is. Some
people who have sat there with your title have been friends on a
social basis, but they were not people I knew to be as committed to
America's schoolchildren as you are. I feel much more comfortable
after all of my years on this committee, knowing we are going to be
working with you and people like you.

I am absolutely convinced that if the President were to slip a
little hit on what he talked to us about during the campaign with
regard to child nutrition and children's issues, he is going to sure
hear about it before he gets to put his head on the pillow at night.

Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Mr. FORD. I am very confident that we are in good hands, and

you are where the rubber meets the road on these issues. We may
be able to actually see them treated with the respect that they are
entitled to for the first time in a long, long time. I came here espe-
cially to be able to tell you thatand to tell you, Mr. Chairman,
that I am very grateful that you are going to put this committee,
the full committee, on the map with your subcommittee this year.

Mr. Good ling and I have been working for a long time in a pet
kind of approach we have that may be timely with the cutbacks in
subsidies for various products produced in agriculture. You are not
going to be able to give the subsidized purchases to the schools the
way you were before.

I am sure Mr. Good ling will get into this with you. With some
risk of harming both him and me in the eyes of our partisan col-
leagues, I want to tell you that when he speaks about this issue, he
has been speaking with me and for me for a good many years, and
I hope you will give what he has to sayand I trust he is going to
bring it upyour attention. I think we can work together and im-
prove these programs without new money necessarily being thrown
into them as the only way to improve them.

Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary and Mr. Chairman.
Chairman KILDEE. Thank you very much.
Mr. Good ling?
Mr. GOODLING. I was thinking you were going next, and I wasn't

quite ready.
First of all, if the Secretary and you are glad to be off the Budget

Committee, what do you think about this poor minority person, sit-
ting there for 6 years trying to figure out what was my purpose for
being there? I never saw the budget until the day that you wanted
us to vote on it, and it never amounted to anything anyway so
but we did do some good things.

Mr. ESPY. That's a blessing, though. Don't look at that as a prob-
lem.

Mr. GOODLING. We did do some good things because we forced
them on the school lunch and child nutrition issues, and we forced
them on some of the other programs that were near and dear to us
in getting commitments for special education, et cetera, that prob-
ably we wouldn't have gotten otherwise because there were more of
us representing this committee than representing any other com-
mittee.
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I am glad that you are not up here representing OMB, telling us
that we have to get the paying customer to pay more. I fought that
for so many years that finally the last 3 years, my administration
never brought that issue up anymore. They finally realized they
had lost. As I have always tried to tell everyone, we do not subsi-
dize the paying customer, we subsidize the program to keep it
going, to make sure that free and reduced price meals are available
for all youngsters.

One question, Mr. Secretary. At the end of last year, we had
some ongoin; dialogue, and I think we were making some progress.
My question would be: Would you support some additional discus-
sions to further refine the coordinated review effort to reduce the
administrative burden at the school level? I think if we can do that
and we can ever accomplish that, all of these fOrs sitting out here
will say, "Amen, thank you," et cetera, et cetera. et cetera.

[Applause.]
Mr. ESPY. The answer is, yes, in a word. We are interested in

providing programs with great accountability and programs that
reduce the paperwork component and the burden on the users. The
CRE Program is something that has been beneficial, and we will
continue that.

By the way, let me introduce Mr. George Braley. I've been over
there 31/2 weeks, and Mr. Braley has been providing the interim
service there as the acting administrator for the division. I have
asked him to join me in anticipation of any questions that might be
asked.

Mr. GOODLING. Good to have you back.
Mr. BRALEY. Thank you, sir.
Mr. GOODLING. My Chairman, apparently, set me up for this one,

the full committee Chairman. You just heard that applause, you
won't hear an applause when I say the next thing that he put me
up to. Although it's changing, so maybe you will hear some. Where
did the hamburger come from that was tainted and everybody got
sick?

Mr. ESPY. Well, Mr. Good ling, it came from a very popular fast-
food restaurant throughout California, Washington State, and
Oregon. That meat was purchased from a federally-certified meat
processing plant. Of course, tracing it back, it came from a particu-
lar lot of cows. We were fast on the track to find out which particu-
lar lot from which particular farm, and we are not quite there yet.
We have at least identified the middle process from the processing
plant to the distributor, to the fast-food outlet.

The great thing about this tragedyand it is a tragedy, we have
had three children to have died so faris that this particular certi-
fied warehouse kept very good records so we could identify the
meat by lot and retrieve from the distribution system every other
retailer and wholesaler that had purchased the meat from this lot.
At least to our knowledge, we have been able to identify the end
point, and we have done that.

Mr. GOODLING. That was a sneaky question because, as I said, the
Chairman of the full committee set me up. I was just going to say
if the school food service people had bought that from their local
butcher, they wouldn't have had that problem. You will get the sig-
nificance of that after Chairman Ford talks to you later.
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Mr. ESPY. I understand. I would like to think that the school food
service people also recognize proper cooking temperatures.

[Applause.]
Mr. ESPY. Had that happened, we would not have had a problem

in the first place.
Mr. GOODLING. That is exactly what they would have done had

they had to buy it locally and prepare it themselves and not
depend on someone else.

I have no other questions, but just wish you well. We are here to
do whatever we can to help, and I look forward to our working to-
gether on what I think are probably the most important programs,
which are the School Lunch and Child Nutrition Programs.

Mr. ESPY. Thank you. Thank you, sir.
Chairman KILDEE. Mrs. Unsoeld?
Mrs. UNSOELD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Secretary, for your concern and the effort you

have put in on the problem that we have had on the West Coast
with that.

Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Mrs. UNSOELD. Your tender care has been very, very much ap-

preciated out there.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Mrs. UNSOELD. I also look forward to working with you on a

whole variety of issues related to your new job, all the way from
meat inspection to solving the Spotted Owl issue this year.

Mr. ESPY. I sure hope so.
Mrs. UNSOELD. Yes. I am looking forward to working with you.

Thanks.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Chairman KILDEE. Mr. Gunderson?
Mr. GUNDERSON. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. It's hard

not to call you Mike. I'll call you Mr. Secretary when I'm mad at
you, how's that? Until then, you can be my friend.

Mr. ESPY. Mike sounds better.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Okay. Mike, do you anticipate any additional

funding in your March budget numbers beyond the $56 million in
child care feeding?

Mr. ESPY. Well, again, other than knowing that there have been
aggregate increases the range of all food and nutrition programs, I
could not specify, Steve, any increase to any specific program.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Okay. You include in the budget document re-
leased last week $23 million in TFAP. The reason I bring that up
in this context is because every school lunch administrator in my
district has hounded me f)r the last few years about the significant
reduction in commodities. I am a little surprised with a $23 million
increase in TFAPI'm not against the concepts hereI don't know
where you got the commodities to give for $23 million. Can you
give all of us in this room some insight on the commodities that
you anticipate are going to be available, whether it be for school
lunch or TFAP or any of these nutrition distribution programs?

Mr. ESPY. Yes. George?
Mr. BRALEY. Congressman Gunderson, the TFAP increase would

be purchased off of the open market, just as the entitlement com-
modities for school lunch are purchased off the open market.
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Where we have seen a decline in recent years is in the availability
of bonus commodities like the dairy products that we had in sur-
plus a number of years ago.

The increase for TFAP that was part of the stimulus package
was to help tide the program over in the fall when we have a re-
quirement to purchase and distribute foods by the end of the fiscal
year. When we get a new appropriation, there is a time lag and
often foods aren't available in December and November; this will
give us some resources to go ahead and make advance purchases so
we l ve a continuous flow of commodities through the fall.

Mr. GUNDERSON. It is simply going to be purchasing additional
things out in the private sector?

Mr. BRALEY. In essence, yes, sir.
Mr. GUNDERSON. You indicated in your report, or your testimony,

Mike that your universal school lunch study won't be released
until October of this year. That really gets us, obviously as you
well know, into fiscal year 1994 before you release the study, which
means that even if we wait for your study and we do anything,
that means before fiscal year 1995 there is no potential of moving
in that particular direction. I don't know when we intend to do the
school lunch reauthorization, per se. Is there any chance of acceler-
ating that date, or no?

Mr. ESPY. Steve, we hope that even though the final report won't
be due until October, we will know well before that time of the
trends. I am personally willing to come here or to invite you up to
discuss the trends, and so perhaps we can get ahead of the final
report and lock in the solutions that we know will be reported in
October.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Can we anticipate a comprehensive proposal
from the Department or the administration on child nutrition pro-
grams, that you will deliver to us your recommendation for reau-
thorization and revision and reform; is that likely?

Mr. ESPY. That's the way I would like to do it. Again, I've got to
turn to George. I've been there 3 weeks.

What do you think?
Mr. BRALEY. Mr. Secretary, I think it's part of the President's

budget proposals and so on, and there will be proposals for child
nutrition, but then there will be a dialogue as usually occurs
among the interested constituencies, the committee and its staff,
and the like. Whether there will be a comprehensive administra-
tion proposal on reauthorization, I don't know at this point, sir.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Okay. Can you give me an indication of the cost
of the 160 new meat inspectors that are a part of this proposal?

Mr. ESPY. About $4 million, roughly.
Mr. GUNDERSON. About $4 million. I suppose this is the harshest

question I'm asking here: You've clearly said, and I think properly
so, that the problem with Jack in the Box was the production of
theor processing of the meat, preparation of the meat, not the in-
spection. Recognizing that, wouldn't we be better served to spend
that $4 million perhaps, frankly, on increased nutrition in other
areas rather than the PR of 160 inspectors that we don't really
need?

Mr. ESPY. No. I can appreciate the question, but it's far more
than just a PR deal. I met with whistleblowers as well. These gen-
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tlemen on the line every day, reviewing carcasses that sometimes
are moving down the line at much too rapid a rate. I have talked
with them, I have talked to industry reps and consumer reps, and I
am satisfied that $4 million here to hire additional meat inspectors
is a great investment for this reason.

You can blame whomever, but the situation is that we have
about 550 vacancies in the meat inspection at our federally-certi-
fied meat plants. These vacancies occurred in the last 12 years,
Steve, along with what they call an SIS, a "streamlined inspection
system," which is meant totally to move that meat down the proc-
ess line as quickly as possible, which of course enhances productivi-
ty and profits to certain meat companies.

I believe, to a certain degree, that the public's interest has not
been served thereby. Now we have come to a point where we have
reduced the streamlined inspection system, but there are many
other problems which can be detected visually that still, even
though the line speed has been reduced, we don't have enough
labor. We don't have enough manpower at the point of visual con-
tact. That's why I believe we need at least 160, and possibly even
more.

We know that that still will not remedy the ultimate problem. If
you are trying to get at food-borne pathogens, if you are trying to
detect germs, we know that germs aren't visual. We base our meat
inspection on an organoleptic system. We have to also ensure the
public that at least we can see everything that can be seen.

Since my discussion with these whistleblowers, I know that we
don't. At least when it comes toand I don't want to be very spe-
cificbut exterior feces, when it comes to lumps and things that
can be felt, there must be time to slow down the line, enough man-
power to feel for damaged carcasses. I don't believe at this point
that we have it.

I encourage this increased investment in 160 new meat inspec-
tors at these federally-certified plants as something we can do right
away that will aid our quest for increased food safety, but will also
assure the public that we are doing everything that can be done.

There are many other things that we can do. We are talking
about acid washes, so at least we can wash the outside of the car-
cass so at least we can eliminate the germs on the outside to the
best degree possible. We can require care and warning and harm
labels to aid the public in preparing food. We can certify or encour-
age or mandate these Federal plants to keep better records. Again,
I remind you that the great part in all of this is that we were able
to discover that this particular plant kept very good records.

Then, lastly, we have a long-term process where we met with ex-
perts and scientists from recognized universities, who tell me,
Steve, that we can reduce the problem to a point where we can pos-
sibly screen cows and cattle for disease before they are slaughtered.
That's the ultimate solution to me: one, making sure that meat and
meat products are cooked at adequate temperatures on the con-
sumer side; but on the producer side, that they will never be pur-
chased if there is any sense of a disease. We are not quite there
yet, but I would say we are within one year of getting to that point.

Mr. GUNDERSON. That's an Agriculture Committee issue, so I
didn't want to elaborate it here.

2 4
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Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Mr. GUNDERSON, We may want to spend that money on technolo-

gy advancement in meat inspection. We will focus on tha, else-
where. I'm out of time. Thank you.

Mr. ESPY. Yes. But in the meantime, we should do everything
that can be done. Hiring these 160 new meat inspecbrs is some-
thing that we can do.

Chairman KILDEE. The gentleman's time has expired. The Chair
would like to give you a commendation for bringing Mr. Braley
with you. This committee has worked with George Braley for a
number of years and has always been benefitted by his wisdom and
knowledge in this field.

Mr. Green?
Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Secretary Espy, I haven't served with you because I'm one of the

new freshmen on the committee, but I was involved with the school
breakfast program as a legislator in Texas. I've never seen the Na-
tional numbers until, you know, just recently on the availability of
the school lunch program and the shortfall, it seems like that you
mentioned in your testimony, concerning the breakfast program. I
know you make some suggestions on granting grants that would
enable 6,000 more schools to join the school breakfast program.

I know in Texas, back 7 or 8 years ago, there was the hesitancy
from some school administrators, at least even in an urban area
where I represent in Houston, to the school breakfast program
That has dissipated and that is no longer there. Is there still some
hesitancy from school administrators on the breakfast program, in
rural areas or other parts of the country, or is it just a function of
money?

Mr, ESPY. I don't know of any hesitancy. Again, I don't have any
experience as Secretary to draw from, to be honest. As a Member
of Congress from a rural area, from a very poor area as well, I
never saw anything but the greatest sense from the users to en-
courage participation in school breakfast. The resources have
always been the problem.

Do you know of any?
Mr. BRALEY. There have been. I think as you indicated, Congress-

man Green, some of those barriers have been broken down by edu-
cation and outreach efforts by our State cooperators in local school
districts, as well as some advocacy groups. I think there probably
are some school districts out there that are still reluctant to start a
breakfast program, and so there is still quite a bit of work to be
done.

Mr. GREEN. Is it the $23 million, the grants, will that be in the
request to expand that to

Mr. BRALEY. That's money that, since the last reauthorization,
we have been giving grants to States to help local school districts
begin breakfast programs. We will be awarding the final year of
those grants, leading up to the next reauthorization, this year.
There will be $5 million in additional grants. That has been a big
factor in educating local school boards and similar organizations
about the benefits of the breakfast program and actually helping
schools with start-up costs to get going. That has been a big factor
in this recent increase in the breakfast program.
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Mr. GREEN. I thinkand particularly since you are before the
Education Committeeand as our Chairman said, it is hard to
teach a child who is hungry when they come to school and during
the day, if they don't have the breakfast program or the lunch pro-
gram, but also I know we are going to look at also providing addi-
tional health services. You can't teach a child if they are hurting
or if there is a problem that they have.

Thank you, Mr. Secretary
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Chairman KILDEE. Ms. Molinari.
Ms. MOLINARI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to welcome our friend. It makes us very proud to see you

sitting over there, and I join with the accolades brought on from
both sides to say that we feel very secure in the future of the
common interests with the you sitting at the helm as Secretary.

I also want to just acknowledge, if I may, Mr. Chairman, because
I have another hearing and I will not be able to be here when he
testifies, but I want to welcome and thank Charlie Hughes, who is
president of Local 372 and brings with him also the tremendous re-
spect of Democrats and Republicans from New York City.

Thank you for coming here, Charlie.
Mike, I just have one quick question that is somewhat related to

the food program, but it is that which takes place a little earlier
than when the children get to school, and you made reference to it
in your testimony.

Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Ms. MOLINARI. Last year, we passed a breastfeeding bill that en-

couraged the Department of Agriculture to go out and solicit pri-
vate funds to embark on a nationwide educational program so that
lower-income women would start to realize the benefits, and then
therefore engage in increased breastfeeding activity. I don't know if
you are aware or if you can fill me in, or maybe Mr. Braley can, as
to any advancement the Department has made in that direction9

Mr. ESPY. Yes. Susan, we talked about this, this morning. I want
to also commend you for sponsoring this legislation. We think that
it is an integral part of what we do there in the food and nutrition
programs, and significant planning is well on the way to expand
the breastfeeding program.

The planning has been undertaken jointly with the Department
of Health and Human Services, as well as many other health pro-
fessionals around the country. The next step will be to secure pri-
vate sector support for the campaign, and this will begin as soon as
we have filled some of the other Department positions we have
over at USDA.

Ms. MOLINARI. Okay. Thank you. I appreciate that.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Chairman KILDEE. MS. English?
MS. ENGLISH. I just want you to know, it's a pleasure to have you

here this morning as our new Secretary of Agriculture. I don't
have any questions right now, but I am looking forward to working
with you and the President's office on this issue. I am really en-
couraged by the leadership of the new administration in the area
of nutrition and preventive health issues.

Thank you very much for being here.

.2 6
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Mr. ESPY. Thank you, thank you.
Chairman KILDEE. All right. Mr. Romero-Barcelo?
Mr. ROMERO-BARCELO. It's a pleasure to have you with us.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Mr. RWERO-BARCELO. I am happy to see also that you are from

Mississippi, the poorest State in the Union, and that has great si-
milarities with Puerto Rico.

Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Mr. ROMERO-BARCELO. I know and feel confident that you prob-

ably understand many of our farm problems in Puerto Rico. I
wanted just to congratulate you and say how happy we are that
the President has made such an emphasis on children during his
administration. I don't remember ever having heard a President so
early in his administration bring forward so much, as the Presi-
dent has been, respecting children, and this is very encouraging.
Anybody who loves my children, I love them, so I am sure that
America feels the same way about the President at this moment.

One of the things I would like to mention is how important the
WIC Program is, particularly in poor areas. I remember when I
went to school, if you were 5'10" or 5'11", you were tall in Puerto
Rico. Now it is not uncommon to see students who are 6'2", 6'3";
and the basketball team, it's 6'7" or 6'8".

Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Mr. ROMERO-BARCELO. That is basically because of the school pro-

gram, the lunch and the breakfast program. I think it has definite-
ly had an impact on the health of the people at home. Anything
that we see increasing in this program, we see it as a great oppor-
tunity. Please, I want you to know that I will be working on every-
thing I can do. I don't have a vote on the floor, but at least now we
have one in the committee of the whole.

I want to ask one question: How much increase in the WIC Pro-
gram is to be expected across the Nation, and what percentage in-
crease? Will that be distributed evenly throughout the Nation, or
will it depend on how aggressive the local governments are in put-
ting forth their programs?

Mr. ESPY. That's a good question. We talked earlier about our
service on the Budget Committee. I served there with Mr. Good ling
and Mr. Kildee for a number of years, and we sat through many,
many hearings over many, many months over a period of 6 years.
The committee meeting that impressed me the most, frankly, was a
committee meeting that took place when we got to that part of the
budget where we talked about education and human infrastruc-
ture.

We had as witnesses five CEOs of major American companies, all
gathered at the witness table, all there to support an increase in
the WIC Program. I thought, this is an incredible testimony. They
all talked about things really that we already knew, but the fact
that they were saying it made it very unusual to me and very posi-
tive.

They said that, as CEOs, they recognized that they had an invest-
ment in the future and that an investment in the WIC Program of
$1 would allow for $3 in savings later on in the life of that child in
prevention of health care costs. We talked about the head circurn-
ference size increasing merely as of being the recipient of WIC over
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a period of months, and you talk about the stature increase in chil-
dren in Puerto Rico.

Well, we think it is just an incredibly good investment, and ev-
eryone realizes that. I think there will be a $75 million supplemen-
tal appropriation for the WIC Program. I'm not exactly sure how
that will be distributed. Maybe George would know.

A $75 million supplemental appropriation request going toward
full funding by 1996, could you elaborate?

Mr. BRALEY. Yes. There is a regulatory funding formula that
would be the starting point for distributing that so that jurisdic-
tions that haven't had an opportunity to grow as fast as some
others get the first opportunity for that money. It is possible that
some of them may not be able to use the full amount, in which
case, other States would be allowed to participate. Some of the de-
tails of the allocation are still to be worked out as part of the sup-
plemental appropriation.

Mr. ROMERO-BARCELO. Thank you very much. That's all.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Chairman KILDEE. The Chair reluctantly has to make an an-

nouncement. The Capitol Police have contacted us, and I am very
gratified at the turnout here, but they would like to keep the aisles
cleared, and they are really enforcing that now in all the commit-
tees. If you could clear the aisles. I will have someone at the door
to admit you as a space develops here. If you would clear the aisle,
and then close the door. That is at the request of the Capitol
Police. Being a lawmaker, I don't want to be a lawbreaker here, so
I have to enforce that. I really appreciate your presence very much,
very sincerely.

Let's see. Mr. Strickland?
Mr. STRICKLAND. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, I have a question that I would like to ask about

the WIC Program. Before I do that, as I was sitting here listening
to your comments about hiring the new meat inspectors and refer-
ences to feces and damaged carcasses, I just wanted to ask you, are
you confident that at this point in time the meat supply is safe and
that we can be confident in that fact?

Mr. ESPY. Yes, sir, I am. Our meat supply is the safest in the
world, bar none, but one must admit that certain improvements
could be made. Our meat inspection system is based on the visual
detection: things you can see, smell, taste, and feel. Now, that takes
care of a lot of the problem. However, when you get into a situa-
tion such as we experienced with this outbreak of this virulent
strain of E. coli bacteria, we realize that we are at a severe disad-
vantage because you just simply can't see these pathogens. They
exist in warm-blooded animals, so therefore they exist in red meat.
You can't see germs. We need, therefore, to move to a point where
we could improve our inspection system to be based on sound sci-
ence, and we are transitioning toward that.

Once we get to thatbefore we get to that point, there are cer-
tain things that we must do to assure the public that we can make
the situation even more safe, if you will. We are doing that by
hiring more meat inspectors at federally-certified plants where we
know that we have had a reduction in workforce over the last 12
years; we know that. We know that we have 550 vacancies, and
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that's where we intend to put these new 160 after they have been
trained. We know that if you cook meat to a certain temperature,
you will take care of this problem.

We have never said it as USDA, so we need to do a better job of
encouraging and even mandating warning labels and care labels
and instructions to the retailing and the consuming public, and we
will do that. We need to mandate better recordkeeping at these
plants.

A short answer to your question is, yes, everything is relative.
Yes, we have the safest food supply in the world. It is very safe,
and no American really need have any anxiety about eating a
hamburger, if it is cooked properly.

Mr. STRICKLAND. I appreciated what the President said the other
night about not assigning blame or going beyond blame, but a ques-
tion that comes to my mind: Are these 500-and-some vacancies ex-
isting because people with appropriate skills are not available to
fill them, or were they not filled for some other less responsible
reason?

Mr. ESPY. Again, a very good question. I, like the President, wish
not to assign blame, but it is all a result of resource and lack of
priorities towards certain areas. I wasn't here when we voted on
Gramm-Rudman. However, if I could just offer an assessment to
say that the problem we have is not because we don't have a pool
of talent, once trained, that could be assigned to these important
tasks. The problem is, and has always been, resource dedication.

When you review what has happened, I would fit it into the area
of deregulation. You know, how can you speed up the inspection
system through an SIS and at the same time reduce the workforce
to see what is seeable? To me that is a contradiction, but, in fact, it
happened because of our lack of dedication to this area.

Mr. STRICKLAND. I would now like to ask you a question about
the WIC Program. My district is a large geographical area that is
quite poor. Many of the children in my district participate in these
nutrition programs, school-based programs. I am thankful for
them. I suppose if I were to put a label on myself when it comes to
things like these kinds of programs, I would probably be termed a
liberal.

What I would like to ask you is to give me some cover, if you
can. I can support the full funding of Head Start because it's cost-
effective, and I can with enthusiasm support immunizing our kids
because it's cost-effective. Could you say something about the cost-
effectiveness of fully funding the WIC Program, to assist me as I
try to protect myself from those who would call me an irresponsi-
ble spender?

Mr. ESPY. Yes, sir, I can say that not only could I give you cover
as Secretary of Agriculture, but the gentlemen that I mentioned
earlier, the CEOs of the five Fortune 500 companies who appeared
before the Budget Committee a year-and-a-half ago could you give
the best cover possible when they realized that from now to the
year 2000, into the next century, we have to nourish, educate, and
train a workforce to compete against those in other countries who
realize the benefit of nutrition and education.

We have to train them to compete against the best that these
other countries have to offer. They turn to the WIC Program as a
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perfect example of the most cost-effective way to improve the qual-
ity of our workforce in later years. For every dollar you spend, you
save $3, usually in Federal outlays, in the form of prevention and
the reduction of health care costs later on.

As one on the Budget Committee, as you already know, I'm sure,
that when you look at these incredible outlays and this incredible,
looming debt and deficit that we have, $350 billion, $4.1 trillion,
you can cut spending all you care to, but it is not going to do any-
thing unless you get a hold on health care costs.

The Chairman can tell you, as we struggle in that committee for
elbow room, just for elbow room, we are being pushed from each
side by these larger and larger mandatory entitlement payments,
most of which have gone towards increased health care costs: 12
percent of our gross national product on health care and 30 million
Americans without insurance and many more uninsured. I just say
that we should do everything that we can do to prevent these costs
on the front side, and WIC is a perfect example of that.

Mr. STRICKLAND. Thank you.
Chairman KILDEE. Ms. Woolsey?
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Welcome, Secretary. During my election campaign, I often said

that every child should go to school nourished, healthy, and ready
to learn. It really pains me that over the past decade we have cut
our Federal funding for school lunch and breakfast programs. Our
Federal assistance has really dried up.

The link between hunger and the ability to learn is very real.
Study after study reveals that kids simply do not have the capacity
to learn as well when they are hungry as they can when they are
healthy. This is a fundamental issue, and it is one that I am so
pleased that you are addressing because, once we do solve the prob-
lem, we will be competitive among all nations of this world.

I am pleased that this committee is taking a look at this critical
issue, and I thank the Chairman for his leadership and attention to
child hunger. I would like to also commend my distinguished Cali-
fornia colleague, Mr. Miller, who has always been a leader on chil-
dren's issues, and I look forward to hearing about his bill, H.R. 11.

I also look forward to supporting you, Mr. Secretary, in fully
funding the WIC Program, and working with 3 JU in your role of
helping to shape agriculture policy.

Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Ms. WOOLSEY. Because I am from the 6th District in California,

and agriculture is very important to us.
Now I have a comment. I encourage the universal school lunch

program, and I would like to see it expanded.
[Applause.]
Ms. WOOLSEY. I would like to see it expanded to include break-

fast, because a youngster who is hungry in the morning has a hard
time learning while waiting for lunch.

Now I have a question. I am originally from Washington State.
My father was a veterinarian and he was also a meat inspector for
the State of Washington. He always questioned why a meat inspec-
tor needed to be a veterinarian. It would seem to me that we
should train technicians to inspect meat. Is it still a veterinarian
that has to be a meat inspector?
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Mr. ESPY. No, no, no.
Ms. WOOLSEY. Oh, good.
Mr. ESPY. Every meat inspector doesn't have to be a veterinari-

an, but there ought to be veterinarian services available to every
meat inspection plant, on call or rotating.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Right.
Mr. ESPY. We have that system enforced right now. I think the

ultimate solution, as long as we are going to inspect visually, is to
improve and increase the workforce and make sure that it is better
trained, and as we move to this science-based system, that we can
train the meat inspectors, to educate them to accommodate this
new system that we hope to install.

As I have said, I have talked with certain scientists over the last
few weeks, and you talk about how things got to this point, this
pathogen is nothing new, honestly. We have known about this
since 1982. We have had several deaths from this particular strain
of E. coli. We have known this, and it is incredible to me why we
have not moved faster.

I talked to a gentleman from a certain university who told me
that a year-and-a-half ago he presented a proposal to the Food
Safety and Inspection Service to acculturate, within a 24-hour
period, this E. coli bacteria. The proposal was rejected by USDA be-
cause it was not based on sound science. He returned to his univer-
sity, and with the resources made available to him locally, he de-
veloped it to a 24-hour period. We have that now, we have that.

Certain retail outlets are testing the meat patties before they are
served to the public based on the test already available. The prob-
lem comes in that, can you slow down these carcasses as they rush
by to test and to wait for a day? I don't think it is very practical to
do that. Plus, you have the problem of, which part of the carcass do
you test? You know, what part do you test for this bazteria? It is
an incredible problem of a very practical nature.

I told him to go back and to present to me the results of his work
so far, so that we might fund it to speed up the process where we
could cause it to culture within a few hours. He tells me even that
we are at the point where we are able to test the live cow before
slaughtering, to take a blood sample and see whether or not there
might be these pathogens around.

We are very close. I am disappointed that we have known it
since 1982 and really have not done much about it. But this is a
new day, and we've got a new team, and we are on the case, and I
hope that we are able to make some great announcements about
this in very short order.

Chairman KILDEE. Mr. Roemer?
Mr. ROEMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Welcome back to Congress, Mike.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Mr. ROEMER. Having served with you during my freshman term

for the last 2 years, I feel very, very confident with you at the
helm. I can tell you, Mike, that in my 2 years on this committee,
never have I heard the thunderous applause for anybody's opening
statement as we heard for you. I congratulate and wish you well
and look forward to working with you on WIC and a number of
other programs.
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I have a couple of quick questions, the first one dealing with
WIC. We are going to move to full funding of WIC, which I certain-
ly applaud and support. It is not enough these days, with the prob-
lems that we have with our children and health care and with the
public's skepticism about government spending, just to go toward
full funding on some of these programs. Some of the programs,
even as good as they are and effective as they are, such as WIC,
also need to be improved from the bottom up.

I have been to a number of the WIC services in my district in
northern Indiana, and recommend improvements in accessibility
and proactivity in preventing health care problems, as well as
being located near transportation sources. I am especially interest-
ed in some of the changes that we are seeing in integration of serv-
ices. Some of the hospitals are building new care units in urban
settings and inner cities in my district, trying to coordinate WIC
services and nutrition services with other services for primary care
for poor people, indigent people, inner-city people that rarely get
preventive and proactive treatment.

I guess my first question would be: What are we looking at to
reorganize WIC to continue to make it one of the best government
programs that Democrats and Republicans alike can support?
What kind of fundamental changes are we looking at? As you said
in your opening statement, which I highly applaud, "The massive
constructive changes that we need to see in government."

Mr. ESPY. Thank you, Tim.
Everything you mentioned with regard to making it more effec-

tive and more efficient are things that we are considering. As you
know, I am from a very rural district. Although I am complimenta-
ry of WIC, I also realize that when you have a program that is uni-
versally lauded like this but yet only 60-or-so percent of the eligible
client base can participate, you have first got a problem with edu-
cation and information.

I have always wondered, driving home through my very rural
district, why I didn't hear more PSA announcements about this
WIC Program and the availability of it. I think that is the first
thing that we can do. Over at USDA, many people think that we
are archaic and antiquated. I want to disabuse you of that notion
right now.

There are certain things that we can do better, but I am going to
tell you, communications and the technology of communications is
an area where we will stand second to none. We have such a capa-
bility to communicate with every farm in America and every agri-
cultural outlet from the basement of USDA through our satellite
network, it is amazing.

I would offer that to anyone here, to come down to the USDA, to
sit with out PR specialists and let's create a PSA commercial or
some mechanism so that we can tell all those who are unaware of
WIC of the benefits of it and where to go get it. We will do that for
free. I am saying to all those herefood school service workers,
WIC workers, whomevercome on down and let's help you commu-
nicate with the eligible clients.

Secondly, the fact that my district is rural means that we have
to fashion transportation networks. The people out there, some-
times they know but they can't get to the distribution point, and so
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we have to find a way to remedy that problem. Mobile vans or
whatever is something that we can talk about.

Then, thirdly, you get very frustrated when you come to the
point and you only have but so much time, and you have to go here
to get this and there to get that and over here to get this. I think
that we can create a system of one-stop shopping, that we can inte-
grate the WIC Program into the other service, available service at
one point. Then anything we can do to reduce the cost, the admin-
istrative cost, is something we need to review.

Mr. ROEMER. Thank you, Mike. Let me ask you one final ques-
tion. You have been very articulate about your concerns for the
food tainting problem in Washington State. You have put your
finger right on the problem of the paucity in the number of inspec-
tors, which would take money and some time to address. You
talked about the education of cooking the meat to a certain tem-
perature and making sure that that information gets out there and
that you are working with some of the fast-food chains and other
fast-food organizations that might eventually run into this prob-
lem.

From my reading of the newspaper accounts of the recent death
of the 17-month-old, they point to yet another bottleneck. Those are
the first two bottlenecks. The third bottleneck being the child alleg-
edly, or reportedly, died without eating the meat but was in con-
tact with a person at a day-care center who had been exposed to
the bacteria.

Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Mr. ROEMER. What specifically can we do to solve this part of the

bottleneck in relation to the existing problem in Washington State
and in future cases. in addition to trying to solve the problem in
the first two ways that I mentioned?

Mr. ESPY. That is the great irony to this tragedy. Of the three
children so farand hopefully that is all that will diebut of the
three who died so far, only one, to my knowledge, ate at this par-
ticular fast-food outletonly one. The other two had been exposed
to a child or someone else who had been exposed to a child. In
other words, it has a hepatitis feature to it.

Tim, beyond stopping it in the first place, either at the cow or
the cattle at the slaughter point, or every critical control point,
making sure that we can test to get it out of the supply, I would
say that we have to do more to educate, to inform all of the users
of the problem inherent in dealing with this germ: washing your
hands, cooking to 155 degrees, not allowing the meat to sit unrefri-
gerated for a period of time.

You know, all of these things we are doing, certain industry
groups are doing. We have to do a better job. Just in that day care
center situationjust washing your hands, being very careful, as
careful as you can bebut beyond that, I'm not sure what else we
can do.

Mr. ROEMER. Great to see you again, Mike, and best of luck.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Chairman KILDEE. Mr. Becerra?
Mr. BECERRA. Thank you, Mr. Chair.
I would like to congratulate Secretary Espy and welcome him

here as a new member. Let me ask you, because I know we all
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have a "full plate," if I can use the term, with some, I think, very
good, prudent, and healthy programs. I applaud your statement
right now about the initiative to hold PSAs and try to get the word
out regarding the WIC Program. I would like to, first of all, take
you up on that offer as someone who speaks Spanish in trying to
reach that population which oftentimes is missed.

Mr. ESPY. Sure.
Mr. BECERRA. What could the agency, or USDA, do to try to

reach this particular segment of the population that doesn't always
get information because it is not translated into a language other
than English?

Mr. ESPY. Thank you for the question. You know, I criticize our
operation in the sense that it is too largeit is incredibly large. We
have 124,000 employees, 42 agencies, and we are spread outand
we touch and concern everybody, because everyone eats. As proud
as I am of what we do, I realize that we can do certain things a
little bit better.

I was somewhat surprised to learn that within our PR function
we have a thousand employees, a thousand. Now, some of them are
forest ranger information officers, okay, but we have about 500-or-
so in Washington. We have got 500 PR officials. Every agency, each
one of these 42 agencies, has a cadre of PR folks, a spokesperson
for the administrator, a press secretary for this person.

I am just not sure that we need that many, frankly. I don't think
we need a thousand people teli.ng the public what a good job we
do. I believe in the old school: let the work we do speak for us. We
are downsizing this already. We have created one department of
communications with a desk system, a desk for meat inspection; a
desk for food services; a desk for this. We are in the process of
doing that now.

We will certainly have, and I'm sure we already doif you have
got a thousand people, I'm sure that we have many with the idea
of providing services to Spanish-speaking clientele. I am sure that
we do. If we don't, I would be surprised. If we don't, we will hire
some and develop this capacity.

It is a serious offer. We need these PSA announcements done
and put on the radio. We have the capability of creating this in the
Department. It won't cost you anything, so I would say to you or
whomever, come on down and let's get to work.

Mr. BECERRA. Okay. As I said, I most definitely will take you up
on the offer.

Mr. ESPY. Yes.
Mr. BECERRA. I will make sure that I contact people that I know

that try to service individuals who would qualify for WIC to make
sure that they know of the offer as well.

I would also like to ask if you might accept the offer of my assist-
ance to make sure that, in fact, you do have those people who can
reach out to those who are Spanish-speaking, but not only Spanish-
speaking. I have a district that has a lot of individuals who are
from China and South Korea. Many of the Asian immigrants that
are in my district also need that assistance as well.

Let me also now turn to the whole issue of immunization under
WIC. I am not real familiar with the scope of WIC, but I see from
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your testimony that WIC will have some role in the whole scope of
immunizing children. Can you tell me more about that?

Mr. ESPY. Let me turn to George.
If you will?
Mr. BRALEY. Yes, sir. We have done a lot to promote immuniza-

tion historically through WIC, because, as the Secretary mentioned
in his testimony, WIC is a gateway program into the health service
network so there is a natural referral activity there. We want to do
more, and I think we can. As the details of the President's efforts
to immunize the preschool population, more of them are available
and announced, I think WIC will play a vital role in making sure
that children are referred for immunizations.

I think WIC, especially as it moves towards full funding, will
probably be the best single program to identify the pool of children
who are under-immunized now, the low-income population. I think
WIC will be a very important part of that.

Mr. BECERRA. I would encourage the Department to take up that
task, especially under this Secretary. I know that that means the
Department will do a very good job.

Two quick final questioe.s. I notice that under the lunch, break-
fast, and other programs where we provide food and those that are
subsidized, we also subsidize the full-priced meals. I did some quick
math, and perhaps I'm wrong, but it seems that it is not all that
much. We still subsidize 11.7 million lunches at about 16.25 cents
per lunch, and breakfasts into the amount of 595,000 at 18.5 cents
apiece.

Whatever that amount comes to, let me ask, when I see that full-
priced meals that we are subsidizing, are these meals that go to in-
dividuals or to families that can afford to pay the full price?

Mr. BRALEY. Yes, sir. Those subsidies are available to all chil-
dren, regardless of the family income, so, yes, they are made avail-
able to everyone. The argument in favor of that has been that this
was a program for all children and that it was to provide a basic
subsidy structure so that a program could exist. The children from
lower-income families, of course, receive larger subsidies than that,
but that is part of the subsidy package for everyone.

Mr. GOODLING. Would the gentleman yield?
Mr. BECERRA. Yes.
Mr. GoomiNG. You weren't here earlier when I made my re-

marks. This is a battle that I have always had to fight my adminis-
tration on. The whole purpose for this is to make sure that every
child has a free or a reduced-price lunch. With the exception of a
couple of States, they do not have to serve the National School
Lunch Program. If they don't, and with the exception of a couple of
States, they don't have to serve free and reduced-price people. In
order to make sure that the program continues, it is not a subsidy
to the paying customer, it is a subsidy to make sure that the pro-
gram continues so that we do feed free and reduced-price people.

Mr. BECERRA. It sounds like what government does, yes.
[Applause.]
Mr. BECERRA. One last question.
Chairman KILDEE. On that, I can recall 1981, was it, we started

this struggle? Whenever you do drop those students or drop the
support for the paying students, under the principle of economy of
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scale, you find schools dropping the program, and therefore the
free and reduced-price students are usually hurt by that. It is
really a subsidy to the program, rather than a subsidy to those stu-
dents. The experience has been in the real world, is that when you
drop those students or don't provide some funds for those, schools
will drop the program, and the poor students, therefore, suffer as a
result.

Mr. BECERRA. I see.
Chairman KILDEE. That has been the experience regularly when-

ever that happens.
Mr. BECERRA. I see. I thank the two gentlemen for their com-

ments and clarification.
A final question, Mr. Secretary. We all heard about the fuss

made over the nutritional content of the food that children receive
and whether or not one thing is a vegetable and one thing is not. I
am wondering if you can tell me if there are any plans underway
within the Department to re-examine the actual nutritional con-
tent of the various foods that are served through these different
programs that you have?

Mr. ESPY. Well, my take on it is that nutritional content is very
important, and we need to make sure that we can improve the con-
tent. As one who served here for 6 years and had a chance to criti-
cizeand usually we did--this whole effort, it was pretty much
from a budgetary side of thinking.

You know, to review the nutritional content of ketchup so that
ketchup could be included in the basic diet so that you would not
have to provide as many other things which cost the government
money, I thought that that was a bunch of bull, and I said, "So
what?" I hope that this type of thought will no longer be, at least,
our thinking at this point.

George, I turn to you for the other.
Sure, we need to have a nutritious diet. It needs to be very bene-

ficial from that point of view, and we will be promoting that.
Mr. BRALEY. The Chhd Nutrition Programs, the studies have

shown, do an excellent job in terms of providing levels of vitamins
and minerals that are much better than alternative meals. The
area that is a challenge not just for school lunch, but for diets of
Americans, in general, is to deal with issues of too much fat and
saturated fat and sodium, and that sort of thing. That really is a
challenge that lies ahead.

We are looking at ways to adjust our meal patterns and other
things to try to attack that problem but, at the same time, make
the meals attractive and appealing to kids and also maintain the
good record of having all the vitamins and minerals that kids need,
which is why the programs were begun in the first place. There is
a lot of work to do, and a lot of the people in this room are working
hard on those issues with us right now.

Mr. BECERRA. Thank you, Mr. Secretary, and thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman KILDEE. Mr. Reed?
Mr. REED. Welcome, Mr. Secretary, and congratulations.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Mr. REED. We are all delighted that you are there, and confident

that you will meet this challenge. I would like to follow up on some
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of the questions regarding paperwork reduction and the adminis-
trative overhead associated with the school-based programs. Are
you actively pursuing either legislative changes or administrative
changes to reduce the amount of paperwork, and is there any
thought of perhaps even trying to eliminate in total the school-
based administrative program, move it to someplace else that is
more efficient?

Mr. ESPY. Let me turn to George for that one.
Mr. BRALEY. Yes, sir. We are always interested in ways to try to

make the program less of a burden for the people who administer
it locally and to make sure that nutrition gets the emphasis and
that paperwork is kept to a minimum. We have a responsibility in
a program with $4 billion in Federal subsidies to maintain some ac-
countability, so there is always going to be a balance between those
two competing concerns.

We have worked with folks on a very controversial issue, coordi-
nated review system, to try to come up with ways to reduce the pa-
perwork there but maintain a degree of oversight and accountabil-
ity. There may be more we need to do as we move down the road
on that.

One area that holds some promise is having people who already
have information on the income of families of schoolchildren pro-
vide direct certification to the schools that these children are eligi-
ble, through their participation in the Food Stamp Program or Aid
to Families with Dependent Children.

A lot of school districts have tried that and found that it reduces
the amount of paperwork they have to do associated with process-
ing applications. That was an opportunity that was made available
through legislative changes that came through this committee, and
ultimately became law. We think that is an area where some pa-
perwork can be reduced and shift some of that responsibility to the
welfare office and out of the school district.

Mr. REED. Do you have any studies that look at this problem in
terms of the cost, the administrative costs, associated? My context
is, not only are we responsible for having children ready to learn,
we also have a responsibility in the committee to ensure that
teachers and administrators have time to teach and time to devel-
op curriculum. It seems there is sometimes a tension between these
two things.

I was wondering if, first, you had the studies, and, second, if
based on those studies, you could think about ways in which the
system might be with the same integrity, removed to a site away
from the school?

Mr. BRALEY. I am reminded that we do have some studies that
were mandated in earlier legislation that will be out this summer
on paperwork reduction issue, and so I think that will help inform
us as we move into reauthorizing these programs over the next
year.

Mr. REED. Thank you very much. Thank you.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you.
Chairman KILDEE. The Chair is very grateful to Secretary Espy

for being here this morning and bringing Mr. Braley with him.
Mike, the Department of Agriculture needs someone leading it, as
they have right now, who has both a good head and a good heart.
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You have both of those. You have intelligence to run the Depart-
ment, and you have the heart for people. I am very pleased with
the President's choice in selecting you.

Mr. ESPY. Thank you, Dale.
Chairman KILDEE. I want to thank you for this testimony this

morning, too, and I look forward to working with you.
Mr. ESPY. Thank you, sir.
Chairman KILDEE. Thank you very much.
[Applause.]
Chairman KILDEE. Our next witnesses will sit as a panel, consist-

ing of: Elizabeth McPherson, president of the American School
Food Service Association; Mary Kass ler, president of the National
Association of WIC Directors; and Charles Hughes, president of
AFSCME, Local 372, in New York City. Mr. Hughes wears two
hats; he is also my spiritual director.

All right. McPherson, okay, you may begin.

STATEMENTS OF ELIZABETH M. McPHERSON, PRESIDENT, AMER-
ICAN SCHOOL FOOD SERVICE ASSOCIATION, ALEXANDRIA,
VIRGINIA; MARY K. KASSLER, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL ASSOCIA-
TION OF WIC DIRECTORS, WASHINGTON, DC; AND CHARLES
HUGHES, PRESIDENT, AFSCME, LOCAL 372, DISTRICT COUNCIL
37, NEW YORK, NEW YORK

MS. MCPHERSON. Yes, I am ready.
Chairman Kildee, it is a delight to be here this morning and ex-

citing to follow Secretary Espy's testimony and to hear the answers
that he gave to questions. It is refreshing to have a Secretary who
has considered so carefully the things that have gone before his
coming into the position, and to know that he is beginning to act
on S. 303 and that he is looking at ways to make the technology
that USDA has available to our programs. ASFSA is looking for-
ward to being a part of that partnership that he talked about be-
tween your committee and between the Department of Agriculture
and the public.

With me this morning, I have Dorothy Caldwell who is president-
elect of the American School Food Service Association; Marilyn
Hurt who is chair of our Public Policy and Legislative Committee;
and Marshall Matz, our counsel. We want you to know that we are
supportive not only of what Secretary Espy has said about Child
Nutrition and the Programs that we administrate, but we support
what he is promoting in the area of sanitation and safety. We re-
quire that as a part of our professional development and certifica-
tion program in ASFSA. I would like for it be a matter of record
that we have 50,000 of our 65,000 members who are certified and
who have acquired the technical training to provide food properly
prepared as a voluntary effort in our association. We are proud to
offer that to the American public. We are very pleased to be able to
talk to you today about the National School Lunch and School
Breakfast Program.

Recent years have beer. hard on the National School Lunch and
Breakfast Program. Federal support has been reduced; the regula-
tory burdens that have been placed on schools have increased; the
local school districts have steadily increased the amount of the cost
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of indirect cost of operating the program that child nutrition pro-
grams have to pay; and Federal "bonus" commodities have nearly
disappeared.

Let me note that we know that we are better off than we would
have been if we had not had the strong bipartisan support that the
leadership and the members of your committee have given to us
through the years.

In 1981, the school lunch general assistance was cut by one-third.
Three million children, including one million low-income children,
were forced from the school lunch program. Current school lunch
participation, 25 million children per day, is still 2 million lower
than the number who were served at the time that we endured
those cuts.

In the last few years, approximately 200 schools have withdrawn
from participating in the National School Lunch Program because
of the effect of those cuts. When a school drops out of the program,
all students in the school, including the low-income children in
that community, are denied access to this important Federal pro-
gram.

In response to this trend, in 1992 the Senate passed S. Res. 303,
introduced by Senator Mitchell, from Maine, requesting the Secre-
tary of Agriculture to undertake a study on the various options for
implementing and funding a universal-type school lunch and
breakfast program. We are very pleased, I want to repeat, that Sec-
retary Espy is already working on that.

In the House of Representatives, Representative George Miller,
from California, has introduced H.R. 11, the Universal Student Nu-
trition Act of 1993, to give every school in America the option of
implementing a universal school lunch and breakfast program by
the year 2000.

We are here today to express our strong support for H.R. 11. At-
tachment B to my statement which you have received is a list of
other national organizations that have endorsed the concepts in
H.R. 11.

The overriding goal of the legislaticn is tia make school lunch and
breakfast an education and health promotion program integrating
into the school day. Participation in the current school lunch and
breakfast programs requires that every school determine the
family income of every child in the school who applies for a free or
reduced-price meal and then to document and to verify that infor-
mation.

This requirement has created a significant stigma for children
participating in the school lunch program, both poor and nonpoor
children alike, and this stigma has resulted in 4.2 million eligible
low-income children failing to apply for that reason. We see them
moving out of the program as they move to adolescence and are
very aware of stigmas.

The current approach has drained scarce resources needed for
nutrition education and for the additional food needed to imple-
ment the dietary guidelines. It has created an overwhelming paper-
work burden that requires schools to replicate tasks that have al-
ready been performed by both the Internal Revenue Service and
the various State Departments of Welfare.
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The Miller legislation would eliminate any requirement for solic-
iting and verifying household income data. It would treat all chil-
dren alike, regardless of their family income; it would ask the
schools to adhere to the "Dietary Guidelines for Americans" and
strengthen the nutrition education component of the school lunch
and breakfast program.

A universal school lunch and breakfast program would benefit
the child, the family, the school, the community, and the Nation.
Such a program would prepare children for learning every day; it
would fight childhood hunger; it would reallocate resources from
paperwork to implementing the "Dietary Guidelines for Ameri-
cans."

No matter how good our schools are, no matter how good our
teachers are, our education system will only work effectively if
children come to school ready to learn every day. H.R. 11 has an
implementation date of July 1, 2000. The cost of the legislation as
introduced would be significant. Exactly how significant is still un-
clear. ASFSA is talking to 030 about their assumptions, and we
are talking to USDA about how the program would be structured.

Our hope is two-fold: first, that the deficit will decline during the
1990s, and, second, that H.R. 11 would be viewed in the context of
the larger education and health care reform initiatives. Recent
polls indicate that most Americans are willing to invest more in
education.

There are also less costly ways to approach this proposal, if nec-
essary. We could begin with initiating the proposal in elementary
and middle schools, or we could initiate the proposal in high
schools and middle schools where students are leaving the pro-
gram. We could initiate the concept in high poverty areas. We
could combine the middle program with a unique funding mecha-
nism that could lower or eliminate the cost of a universal initia-
tive.

In a nutshell, we could use the IRS to collect the school lunch
and breakfast fees on an annual basis, thereby eliminating the re-
quirement that schools throughout the country would have to col-
lect the money on a daily basis after first documenting the family
income. Students would no longer be identified by income category.
The focus at the local school level could then be on feeding chil-
dren and preparing them to learn every day.

Further, the feeding of the children and preparing them to learn
would make more effective use of our teachers' time. The IRS
knows the family's income. They know whether there are children
in the family and the age of the children. We appreciate that this
suggestion may be an unprecedented use of the IRS, and we don't
expect them to be excited about it. However, if we are going to ad-
dress the social needs and a significant deficit simultaneously, we
need to be ready to get out of our "boxes" and open ourselves to
new approaches.

The National School Lunch Program has been one of the Federal
Government's most successful programs, yet the program is at a
crossroads, and it faces a difficult challenge. It needs to be restruc-
tured. Current policy treats the school lunch and the breakfast pro-
grams as income-security-type programs.
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Congressman Ford reminded us this morning that that is not the
way that the school lunch program began. It began because of the
concern for the nutritional status of our Nation's children, and we
would like to see it return to what it was meant to be. We believe
that a policy decision must be made to treat the programs as an
education and health care program where all children are treated
alike.

Japan, which views child nutrition programs as an integral part
of the education day, serves 98.2 percent of its elementary school-
children a school lunch. The United States serves 60 percent of our
students. We are moving in the wrong direction when we treat the
school lunch and breakfast program as an income-security pro-
gram.

If we are to compete effectively in the world, we must, along
with our other initiatives, change our thinking about child nutri-
tion programs. Hungry children don't learn, and illiterate adults do
not function and cannot compete.

It is time to reset our priorities to help shape a healthy future
for our Nation's children. With a universal program we will inte-
grate school nutrition into the total educational process. Feeding
children at school is not icing on the cake, but the very staff of life
that will enable us to achieve our vision: healthy children, ready to
learn every day.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Elizabeth M. McPherson follows:]
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TISTIKONY

OF

TAN ANZRICAN SCHOOL FOOD SSRVICZ ASSOCIATION

SIMMS TRH

COMMITWE ON IDUCATION AND LASOR

U.S. ROUSH OF SZPASSENTATIVIS

February 23, 1993

Mr. Kildee, Mr. Goodling, members of the Committee, I am

Elizabeth McPherson, President of the American School Food Service

Association (ASFSA). With me is Dorothy Caldwell, our President-

elect, who is also the Director of Child Nutrition for the great

State oi Arkansas ... (it's just a coincidence, Dorothy was elected

first). Also with me is Marilyn Hurt, the Chairperson of our

Legislative Committee, and the Director of Child Nutrition in

LaCrosse, Wisconsin, and Marshall Matz, our Counsel. We are

delighted to be here with you this morning and appreciate your

scheduling this hearing to coincide with our Conference.

SCHOOL LUNCH AND BRIAKFABT MOURNS HISTORY

Mr. Chairman, the National School Lunch Act, dedicated to the

health and well-being of all children, was enacted as a grant-in-

aid program in 1946. Its enactment was one of the first actions

taken by Congress after World War II because of the large number of

military recruits who failed physicals due to nutrition-related

problems.
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The 1969 White House Conference on Food, Nutrition and Health

led to the expansion of child nutrition programs and enactment of

the free and reduced-price school lunch program for low-income

students. In 1975 Congress permanently authorized the School

Breakfast Program.

Recent years, however, have been hard on the National School

Lunch and Breakfast Programs. Federal support has been reduced;

the regulatory burden placed on local schools has increased;

federal "bonus" commodities worth hundreds of millions of dollars

have vanished; and local school districts are charging school food

service authorities a higher and higher percentage of the indirect

expenses associated with the operation of the school.

In 1981, school lunch general assistance (Section 4 of the

National School Lunch Act) was cut by one-third. Three million

children, including one million low-income children, were forced

from the school lunch program. Current school lunch participation

(25 million children/day) is still 2 million lower than it was in

1979 when 27.1 million children were served, while school

enrollment has remained constant at 41 million. Let me note, Mr.

Chairman, that we would have seen even deeper cuts in the 1980,s,

were it not for the strong bipartisan support we received from this

Committee.

In the last few years approximately two hundred schools have

chosen to terminate their participation in the National School

Lunch and Breakfast Programs. When a school drops out of the

program all students in the school, including low-income children,
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are denied access to these important federal programs.

Attachment A.)
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In response to this trend, in 1992 the Senate passed

S. Res. 303, introduced by Senator Mitchell (D-Maine), requesting

the Secretary of Agriculture to undertake a study on the various

options for implementing and funding a universal-type school lunch

and breakfast program. In the House of Representatives,

Rep. George Miller (D-Calif.), has introduced H.R. 11, the

Universal Student Nutrition Act of 1993, to give every school in

America the option of implementing a universal school lunch and

breakfast program by the year 2000.

We are here today to express our strong support for H.R. 11.

Attachment B to this statement is a list of other national

organizations that also support H.R. 11.

The overriding goal of the legislation is to make school lunch

and breakfast an education and health promotion program integrated

into the school day. Participation in the current school lunch and

breakfast programs requires each school to determine the family

income of every child in the school who applies for a free or

reduced-price meal and then to document and verify that

information. This requirement has created a significant stigma for

children participating in the school lunch program (both poor and

non-poor children alike). According to a USDA study 4 2 milli=

eligible low-income children fail to apply for the program

14
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The current approach has drained scarce resources needed for

nutrition education and for additional food to meet the Dietary

Guidelires for Ameri ans. It has created an overwhelming paperwork

burden that requires schools to replicate tasks already being

performed by both the Internal Revenue Service and the various

state departments of welfare.

The Miller legislation would eliminate any requirement for

soliciting and verifying household income data. It would treat all

children alike regardless of family income; ask the school to

adhere to the Dietary Guidelines for Americans; and strengthen the

nutrition education component of the school lunch and breakfast

program.

Ms. Sharon Kagan of the Yale University, Bush Center in Child

Development and Social Policy, writing in the Fall/Winter 1992

issue of the GAO Journal ("The Readiness Goal," pp. 12, 16)

concluded: "(t)he nation needs to consider whether a universal

breakfast and lunch program might be a more effective strategy to

ensure that the nation's children are adequately nourished."

BINWITS

A universal school lunch and breakfast program would benefit

the child, the family, the school and the nation. Such a program

would --

I Prepare children for learning.

111 Fight childhood hunger.

II Reallocate resources from paperwork to implementing the
Dietary Guidelines for Americans.
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Promote program quality and increase student participation.

Enhance the long-term health of Americans.

I Provide an incentive for children to go and to stay in school.

II Eliminate the identification of low-income students as well
as the welfare stigma of the program.

Enhance service to children with special needs.

Use the school nutrition program as a laboratory for nutrition
education.

Increase the consumption of domestic agricultural products.

XXVIMUNTATION

No matter how good our schools are, no matter how good our

teachers are, our education system will only work effectively if

students are ready to learn. This Committee, after an exhaustive

study, concluded in a 1989 Committee print that:

(Nunger does affect learning by decreasing
the child's receptivity to, and ability to
profit from, new activities. A lack of food
interferes with a child's ability to
discriminate between relevant and irrelevant
features of any kind of stimuli, including
those associated with education. Children who
receive food supplements are better able to
handle complex tasks, are more attentive in
school, participate more in class, and are
more likely to ask questions. . . . Children
who do not eat properly miss more school, are
more likely to drop out of school, and will be
less productive in the future.

H.R. 11 has an implementation date of July 1, 2000. The cost

of the legislation, as introduced, would be significant. Exactly

how significant, however, is still unclear. We are talking to CHO

about their assumptions and we are talking to USDA about how the

program would be structured. Our hope is twofold: first, that the
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deficit will come down during the 1990's, and second, that H.R. 11

would be viewed in the context of larger education and healthcare

reform initiatives. Recent polls indicate that most Asericans are

willing to "invest" more in education.

There are also less costly ways to approach this r- -vosal, if

necessary:

III Initiate the proposal in elementary and middle schools.

Initiate the proposal in high schools and middle schools.

II Initiate the concept in high poverty areas.

Combine the Miller bill with a unique funding mechanism that
could lower or eliminate the cost of a universal initiative.
In a nutshell: use the IRS to collect the school lunch and
breakfast fees on an annual basis, thereby eliminating the
requirement that the schools throughout the country collect
the money on a daily basis after first documenting family
income. Students would no longer be identified by income
category. The focus at the local school level would be on
feeding children and preparing them to learn. Further, the
IRS knows your family's income, whether you have children, and
the age of the children. We do appreciate that this
suggestion may be an unprecedented use of the IRS. However,
if we are to address social needs and a significant deficit
simultaneously, we need to be open to new approaches.

CONCLUSION

The National School Lunch Program has been one of the federal

government's most successful programs. Yet, the Program is at a

crossroads and faces a difficult challenge. Current policy treats

the school lunch and breakfast programs as income security-type

programs. We believe that a policy decision must be made to treat

the programs as an education and healthcare program where all

Children are treated alike.

.4 7
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Japan, which views child nutrition programs as an integral

part of the education day, serves 98.2 percent of its elementary

school children a school lunch; the United States serves 60 percent

of our students. We are moving in the wrong direction treating

school lunch and breakfast as "income security" (function 600)

welfare programs. If we are to compete effectively in the world,

we must (along with other initiatives) change our thinking about

school nutrition programs.

HUngry children don't learn, and illiterate adults can't

compete. It is time to reset our priorities to help shape a

healthy future for our nation's children. With a universal

program, we will integrate school nutrition into the total

educational process. Only then will we achieve our vision --

healthy children, ready to learn.

Thank you.

4 8
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ATTACHMENT "A"

SCHOOLS THAT HAVE DROPPED THE NATIONAL SCHOOL LUNCH PROGRAM* 1989-93

NIWIC of School(a) EfiLL11181011

Einrated Number of Student,
Qualifying for Free aral
ResiLISZEELialttsals

&Asia
Homer High School

rifiggill

Horner 457 42

Cactus High School Peoria 1.569 65
Centennial High School Peoria 327 22

Peoria 1,700 65Ironwood High School
Peoria High School Peoria 1.583 261
Yarnell Elernearaly 63 ea
Comm del Sol High School 2.175 26

California
Knights Ferry School District Stanislaus Cty. 63 16

Evangelical Metbodist Quinlan School San Joaquin Cry. 93 4

Children's Garden MOUttSiOri School imperial Cry. 110 14

Prurodale Christian School Monterey Cty. 108
First Lutheran Christian School San Bernardino Cry. 173 5
Mt. Zion arisdan School San Bernardino Cry. 35 29
Hermosa Beach aty School District Loa Angeles Cry. 35 29
Santa Clara Cry. Office of Education -

Outdoor Education Sara Clara Cty. 382
Equinox School District Humboldt Cty. 56 7

Nevada County Sup. of Schools Nevada Cry. N/A N/A
St. Joachim School Orange Cry. 238 26
State Special Schools (2) Sacramento Cry. 49 25
Bennett Valley Union School Dist. Sonoma Cry. 990 45

ColorKin
Cberry Creek Nigh School Englewocd 2,919 60
Cheyenne Men. High School Colorado Springs 603 38
Brighton High School Brighton 1,141 150
Mahon Springs High School Manitou 388 13
Fairview High School Boulder '1,282 80
Arapaho High School Uttleton 1,853 24
Boulder High School Boulder 1,552 142
Widefield High School Widefield 1,514 120
Bear Creek High School Lakewood 1,853 156
Lake County High School Leadvifie 291 83
Aspen High School Aspen 309 N/A
Steamboat Springs High School Sreamboat Springs 443 18

*Not a complete list. None of the listed 'oboe& closed or merged with other schooh.
N/A = Not available

fiFST rif 4 9
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titYLLUSGX
Northern Highlands Reg. HS Allendale 713

Bordentown Reg. H.S. Bordentown 431 41

1. Mitchell/Spruce Run Annandale 411 10

Patrick Me Daher= Annandale 400 9

Round Valley Annandale 451 3

Central E. Hanover 301 10

Frank J. Smith E. Hanover 265 3

East Hanover Middle School E. Hanover 370 8

Deane Pon= Rumson 306 5

Forrestdale Rwnson 375 II
Wesonils Woodbury 200 6

Ramsey High School Ramsey 743 4

0,nnt Plairs/Fanwood Scotch Plias 1,115 16

Levingston High School Essex Co. 1,283 3

Heritage Middle School Essex Co. 502 10

Mt. Pleasant Middle School Essex Co. 344 5

Burnet Hill Essex Co. 243 0

Collins Elementary Essex Co. 244 5

Harrison Elementary Essex Co. 360 5

Hillside Elementary Essex Co. 314 8

Mt. Pleasam Elementary Essex Co. 331 1

Riker Hill Mammy Essex Co. 265 5

Ne21.1"Afaii.52
Los Alamos High School Los Alamos 1,077 10

Xmases
Port Jefferson CSD Port Jefferson 1,393 33

Bay Point/Blue Point CSD Bayport 2,050 166

S1JNY Campus Wrst Buffalo 700 290

St. Anthony Padua Endicott 101 5

Yeshiva Samuel Hirschs Brooklyn 481 57

Bras Israel Brooklyn 469 61

SthiQ
Notre Dame Toledo 736 12

Adrian Elemenaary South Euclid 278 23

Ridgebury Lyrdburt 195 9

Rowland South Euclid 337 30

Southlyn South Euclid 248 19

Sun View Lyndhurst 180 5

QteflQ11
Canby Union High School Canby 1,128 86

Drewsey ES 13 Drewsey 15

St. Stephen's School Portland 120 51

St. Mary of the Valley High School Beaverton 164 8

Reedsport High School Reedsport 454 81

Rhode Wand
Blessed Sacrament Ekmentary Providence 175 15

*Not complete Ilst. Nom or the listed schools closed or merged with other schools.
N/A = Not avallable
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le EIS
Richardson ISD Dallas 7.268 150

Hurst-Euless-Bedford ISD Fon Worth 3,751 60

Pflugereille 1SD Austin 1,451 64

Vietoria ISD Victoria 155 IS

Round Rock ISE) Austin 1,875 75

Malt
Park City }Ugh School Park City 536 13

Dixie High Scholl St. George 903 83

Hurricane High School Hunk= 450 as

Pine View School Pine View 1,128 94

a

AM=
Vershire Elementary Vershire 57 25

Sunderland Elementary

Vir 'till'
Lafayette High School

Sunderland

Williamsburg

84

1,597

34

134 a

Albemarle High School Albemarle Cty. 1,590 38

Culpeper High School Culpeper Cty. 975 61

Chesterfield Cty. High Schools Chester 11,995 N/A

ninepin. High School Wartenton 1,569 NIA

Washiuto
Puyallup Valley Christian Tacoma 234 16

People's Christian Tacoma 495 17

Longview Christian liztodview 118 4

Seattle Country Day School Searde 260

Stein School Edmomls 210

Lamb of God Christian Madison 100 7

St. Paul Lutheran Luxemburg 60 4

St. Edwards Appleton 60 1

Blessed Sacrament LaCrosse 283

St. John Lutheran Wausau 73 5

St. lobo Grade School Little Chute 462 20

Arcadia Catholic Upper Arcadia 381 55

New Hope Christian Crandon 23 23

Skeets Millard Valley Boacobel 27 n
Bethlehem Lutheran Milwaukee 101 49

Hillel Academy Milwaukee 167 44

Lutheran H.S. Greater Sheboygan Sheboygan 130 3

Siloah Lutheran School Milwaukee 151 64

Holy Trinity Evangelical Lutheran
Elementary School Okauchoe 55 5

St. Hubertus Grade School Hubertus 110 2

Nvonliug
Jackson Hole High School Jackson Hole 507 50

*Not a complete ilst. None of the listed schools closed or merged with other schools.

N/A = Not available
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Attsc !uncut B

Endorsees of Universal Child Nutrition Concept/H.R. 11 (As of Feb. 16, 1993)

American Association of School Administrators
American Commodity Distribution Association
American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees
American School Food Service Association
Bread for the World
Campaign to End Hunger
Child Care, Inc.
Church Women United
Community Food Resource Center (N.Y.)
End Hunger Network
Food Research and Action Center
National Association of Elementary School Principals
National Association of Secondary School Principals
National Association of Social Workers
National Farmers' Union
National Milk Producers Federation
New York City Coalition Against Hunger
Nutrition Education Resources Project
Society for Nutrition Education
United Church of Christ--Hunger Action
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Chairman KILDEE. Thank you very much.
I serve on three committees, the Budget Committee, as Mr. Espy

pointed out this morning, and this committee, but I also serve on
the House Administration Committee. Right now, Mr. Good ling has
left to go over there and testify before the House Administration
Committee, and I want to receive him well because we are trying
to get the budget for this committee established.

I hate to do this, but I am going to turn the chair over to some-
one, however, who will make it less unpleasant because she is such
a fine member of this committee. I am going to ask Mrs. Unsoeld
to come up here and take the chair while I go over there and make
sure that we have enough dollars to do our job and go out and have
some hearings to see how you operate out there in the field, and I
want to have hearings on the school lunch program and on the pro-
posals you have made here today to improve that program.

Mrs. Unsoeld, if you will come up and take the chair, I will ap-
preciate it.

I'm going to talk to you, Charles.
Mr. HUGHES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mrs. UNSOELD. [presiding] Ms. Kass ler, I believe you are next.
Ms. KASSLER. Thank you.
I am Mary Kelligrew Kass ler, and I am president of the National

Association of WIC Directors. I am also the State WIC Director for
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. I am very pleased today to
have the opportunity to discuss legislation that would extend the
Special Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants, and Chil-
dren, known as WIC.

I would also like to say up front that the association is very ap-
preciative of Secretary Espy's offer and interest in a public rela-
tions outreach campaign to inform needy families about WIC bene-
fits. The association stands ready to work with him and members
of Congress on such a campaign. We consider it critical to a full
funding effort, which I will discuss later in my testimony.

I would also like to say, even though the congressman has left
who was particularly interested in multilanguages, that in Massa-
chusetts we do our basic outreach each campaign in three lan-
guages, and we do all of our educational materials in nine lan-
guages. The WIC Program nationally is committed to bicultural,
multicultural, and multilingual efforts. We feel that is very impor-
tant, since the majority of our participants do speak languages
other than English.

I want to commend you and the committee members for your
continuing support for the WIC Program, and your active interest
and strong bipartisan support in the health and welfare of our Na-
tion's women, infants, and children. The National Association of
WIC Directors is a nonprofit, voluntary organization of State and
local WIC Program directors and nutrition coordinators. Our mem-
bers are dedicated to maximizing WIC services to families in need
through effective management of resources.

NAWD is committed to making the WIC Program more respon-
sive to the nutrition and health needs of the women, infants, and
children in this country. Currently, the program is estimated to
serve some 5.6 million participants a month across the Nation and
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in our Territories and Native American States. WIC reaches out to
over one-third of the Nation's infants.

Eligibility for WIC benefits requires that health professionals
document potential participants' health or nutritional risks. Potei t-
tial participants must demonstrate that their family income does
not exceed 185 percent of Federal poverty guidelines. Among nutri-
tional risk problems which can qualify participants for eligibility
are abnormal weight gain during pregnancy, a history of high-risk
pregnancies, growth problems in children and infants such as fail-
ure to thrive, underweight or obesity, anemia, or an inadequate di-
etary pattern. That means they are not getting enough food.

Services are delivered through approximately 8,200 local social
service agencies or health clinics which have access to health care
providers. In sum, WIC provides eligible participants with supple
mental foods, but more importantly, nutrition education, breast-
feeding information, and improved access to health care delivery
systems.

Because the program is a nutritionally-based education program,
local agencies offer WIC participants at least two nutrition educa-
tion sessions in their certification period. Participants learn about
their specific nutritional needs, as well as the nutritional necds of
their infants and children. They are taught how to shop for nutri-
tious foods and how to prepare economical and well-balanced
meals. They are counseled on the importance of regular medical
care, including immunizations, referred to that medical care.

They are also counseled on the advantages of breastfeeding in-
fants and the dangers of drug and alcohol use during pregnancy.
We provide supplemental foods through monthly food packages
which are tailored to meet the specific dietary needs of the women,
infants, and children on the program.

Numerous private and public-sponsored studies of the WIC Pro-
gram have demonstrated that WIC is a highly successful and cost-
effective program that has achieved significant positive health con-
sequences. According to a USDA study, each dollar spen t on a
pregnant woman in the WIC Program saves from $1.92 to $4.21 in
medicaid costs for mothers and infants in the first 60 days after
birth. That is just in the first 60 days.

Other studies have indicated that pregnant women on medicaid
who have received assistance through WIC are less likely to deliver
premature or low birth weight babies. They are more likely to have
healthier babies. These benefits result in enormous medicaid sav-
ings and, therefore, reduce Federal and State health care spending.

In a May 1992 General Accounting Office report, GAO estimated
that in 1990, the Federal Government spent $296 million on prena-
tal WIC benefits. This resulted in a savings of $853 million in
health-related expenditures for WIC infants during their first year
of life. On this initial investment, the estimated total savings in the
health- and education-related expenditures over a child's first 18
years of life amounted to $1 billion.

Another study demonstrated the efficacy of WIC in significantly
reducing the prevalence of anemia and in reducing rates of high
abnormalities among children.

Clearly, these studies and others suggest that failure to enroll all
eligible participants in the WIC Program actually costs the Federal
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Government far more money than is saved. WIC is a sound invest-
ment in the future: The WIC program is essential to ensuring that
all of our Nation's children are physically, emotionally, and devel-
opmentally ready for the challenge they will face as this Nation
moves to place itself in a competitive position in the 21st century.
But WIC is not currently available to the majority of the Nation's
eligible one- to five-year-olds.

Last week, in this economic message to the Nation, President
Clinton proposed funding increases for WIC which reflect his fun-
damental commitment to the welfare of women, infants, and chil-
dren whose economic conditions do not provide the kind of nutri-
tion needed for good health and normal growth. I commend the
President for his commitment to phasing in full funding for the
WIC program by fiscal year 1996, and I am excited about this com-
mitment to a special appropriation of $75 million for this fiscal
year and his plan to provide subsequent increases through 1996.

I urge every Member of Congress to support this proposal and
help to place all of America's children on an even footing to face
the future. The National Association of WIC Directors recommend-
ed in 1991 that the Executive and Congress adopt a five-year plan
to move the WIC program incrementally towards funding full par-
ticipation by fiscal year 1996. I am delighted at that the Clinton
administration supports this recommendation and has chosen to
move forward aggressively with this message in its economic plan.

As you, the Congress, consider full funding for the WIC program,
I urge you to maintain our focus on nutrition to maintain our repu-
tation for providing quality services by allowing States to incre-
mentally add caseload, thereby ensuring quality services and pre-
venting undue hardship for participants, to maintain the program's
targeting and tailoring capabilities, and exempt WIC from all
budget-balancing legislation or agreements.

In addition to our full funding proposal and the association's sup-
port for the plan to fully fund the WIC program, NAWD has other
legislative proposals which are outlined in our written testimony. I
would urge you to look at them. These initiatives comprise in-
creased carry-forward and spend-back capability in order to stabi-
lize the WIC caseload and ensure that people receive stable serv-
ices. They are not taken off and put back on, having to be put back
on the program at a later date. Alsc, use of food money for breast
pumps, this is part of our overall support for breastfeeding promo-
tion activities.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, the National Association of WIC
Directors looks forward to working with you and the members of
the subcommittee and full committee as you consider this legisla-
tion to extend the WIC program. I want to thank you for the oppor-
tunity to speak to you today, and we are ready to answer any ques-
tions and meet with you at any time.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mary K. Kass ler follows:]
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NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF WIC DIRECTORS

NAWD

Statement of Wary K. Kessler
President

National Association of WIC Directors

before the
SUboommittee on Elementary, Secondary and Vocational Education of
the Mouse Education and Labor Committee

Tuesday, February 23, 1993

Br Chairman and Members of the Committee:

I Am Mary Kassler President of the National Association of WIC
Directors (NAWD). I am also the State WIC Director for
Massachusetts. I am Pleased to have the opportunity today to
.ascuss legislation (HR 8) that would extend the Special
1.1pplemental Food Program for Women Infants and Children, known as
WIC, under the administrative jurisdiction of the Food and
Nutrition Service (FNs) of the United States Department of
Agriculture (USDA), through 1998, under the Child Nutrition Act of
1966.

I commend you, Mr. Chairman and the Committee for your continuing
support for the WIC Program and your intense interest in the health
and welfare of our nation's women, infants and children.

NAWD Experience and Organizational Goals

Founded in 1983, and headquartered in Washington, DC, the National
Association of WIC Directors (NAND) is a non-profit voluntary
organization of state and local WIC Program directors and nutrition
coordinators, NAWD has a unique perspective on the operation of the
WIC Program. Our members are dedicated to maximizing WIC PrograM
resources th ough effective management practices. NAWD is committed
to making the WIC Program more responsive to the nutrition and
health needs of women. infants (defined by WIC as 12 months of age
and under) and children (defined by WIC as ages 1 to 5 years).

Among NAWD's goals are: effective national resource networking to
facilitate the communication of ideas, materials and procedures to
individuals working in the WIC community; the promotion of good
management practices; peer assistance to WIC Program directors at
the state and local level; the promotion of improved health, well-
being and nutrition status for women, infants and children; and to
act as a resource to government on issues relevant to the WIC
Program and to the health and nutrition of women, infants and
children.
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Wic Program Background

In fis al year 1992 the WIC Program sPrved approximately 5.3
million parti i ants per month Currently, the Proaram is estimated
to serve approximately 5 6 million participants per month in the 50
Geographic States, the District of Columbia, Virgin Islands, Puerto
Rico, Guam and in 32 Native American States. It reaches out to over
one-third of the nation's infants.

§ligibility for WIC benefits reauires that WIc health professionals
do ument potential participants' health or nutrition risk.
Potential participants must demonstrate that their family income
slaaa_Alszt...excgad-111,51_121tkeasiag
Preference for service is generally given to pregnant women and
infants with at risk nutrition or health conditions. A lower
priority is assigned to children and postpartum mothers at risk of
nutrition or health consequences.

Among nutritional risk problems which can qualify parti irents for
eligibility are: abnormal weight gain during pregnancy: a history
of high-risk pregnancies: growth Problems in children and infants
guch as stunting. underweight, or obesity; anemia: or an inadeouate
dietary pattern.

Services are delivered through a variety of local social servi e
agencies or health clinics which have access to health care
providers. Today, there are over 8.200 clinics providing WIC
gervices nation-wide.

wic's Benefits

WIC provides eligible participants with supplemental foods
nutrition education, breast-feeding promotion information and
improved access to the health care delivery systems

Because the Proaram is a nutritionally based education program
local agencies offer WIC participants at least two nutrition
education sessions, conducted on either an individual or group
basis, within each six month certification period. Through these
sessions, particiPants learn about their specific nutritional needs
as well as the nutritional needs of their infants and children.
Participants are taught how to shop for nutritious foods and how to
prepare economical, well-balanced meals. Thev are also counseled on
the importance of regular medical care, the advantages of
Preastfeeding infants and the dangers of drug and alcohol use
during pregnancy.

The WIC Program also provides supplemental foods through monthly
food packages which are tailored to meet the special dietary needs
of the infants children pregnant, postpartum and breastfeeding
women in the program. Foods in the packages are selected to provide
protein, iron, calcium, and vitamins A and C. These nutrients have
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been selected as they have been found to be missing from the diets
of many low-income women, infants and children. Among the
authorized foods provided in the supplemental food packages are:
iron-fortified infant formula, infant cereal, milk, eggs, cheese,
iron-fortified breakfast cereal, Vitamin C-rich juice, beans and
peanut butter.

WIC's Success Record

Recent evidence of the WIC Program's successes in improving
pregnancy outcomes has contributed significantly to its popularity.
WIC has generated enthusiastic supporters in the nation's corporate
board rooms and vigorous bipartisan support in both houses of the
Congress.

Numerous Private and public eponsored studies of the W/C Program
have demonstrated that WIC is a highlv successful program that has
achieved significant positive health consequences in a cost-
effective manner.

Accordi g to a USDA study conducted in five states -- Florida,
Minnesota, North Carolina, South Carolina and Texas -- and released
late in 1990, each dollar spent on Pregnant women in the WIC
program saves from $1,77 to $3,13 in Medicaid costs for mothers and
infants in the first sixty days after birth. A later study
calculating the medicaid savings used the full cost of an illness
that started within 60 days after birth. regardless of length.
revealed an even greater savings of between $1 92 and $4 21 for
each prenatal dollar spent by WIc.

Still other studies have indicated that pregnant women on Medi aid
who receive assistan e through WIC are less likely to deliver
premature or low birth we' ht babies They are more likely to have
healthier babies. These benefits result in enormous Medicaid
savings and reduced federal and state health care spending

In a May 1992 release of a General Accounting Office (GAO) report,
GAO estimated that in 1990, the federal government spent $296
pillion on prenatal WIC benefits resulting in a savings of $853
pillion in health-related expenditures for WIC infants during their
first year of life. On this initial investment. GAO estimated, the
total savings in health and education related expenditures over a
child's 18 years of life amounted to over $1 billion.

Another study published in the "Journal of The American Medical
Association" (September, 1987) demonstrated the efficacy of WIC in
significantly reducing the prevalence of anemia and in reducing
rates of height and weight abnormalities among children. While a
study published in "The New England Journal of Medicine" (November,
1985) indicated a marked reduction in the levels of iron deficiency
among children who had participated in the WIC Program.

3
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Clearly, these studies and others suggest that failure to enroll
all eligible participants in the WIC program actually costs the
federal government far more money than is saved. The WIC Program is
essential to ensuring that all our nation's children are

physically, emotionally and developmentally ready for the
challenges they will face as this nation moves to place itself in
a more competitive position in the 21st century. The WIC Program is
essential to meeting this goal. But WIC is not currently available
to the majority of the nation's eligible one to five year old
children.

Corporate America Commits to WIC

In re ent testimony before the House Budget Committee the Chief
executive Offi ers of Prudential Insurance Company of America AT

T. Honeywell Inc.. BellSouth Corporation and Sky Chefs. Inc
were unanimous in their suPPort of WIC full funding by 1996. As Sky
Chefs, Inc., CEO William S. Woodside put it:

terIC is a prevention program that works extremely
well. Row can we justify failing to proceed
expeditiously to extend WIC to all women and
children who qualify for it? Children born today and
in coming years will make up an increasingly large
part of the workforce that will sustain our economy
... for much of the first half of the 21st century.
Our neglect of these children not only damages them
- it is counterproductive for our society.fl

current funding levels allow roughly sixty percent of the nation's
8.7 million eligible women and children to participate in the WIC
program. States have made every effort to maximize the use of WIC
funds to increase participation levels. Further adjustments in food
benefits could jeopardize the quality of services. Clearly, the
need for full funding of the WIC program can be demonstrated.

Funding Issues

Inspite of a nearly three fold increase in funding for the program
over the Past ten years and an almost 150% increase in the number
of parti inants served WIC still falls far short of rea hing all
of those mothers infants and children who are at nUtritional or
health risk and eligible for the program

Administration Request

Last week in his E onomic Message to the Nation President Clinton
proposed funding increases for WIC which refle ts a fundamental
commitment to the welfare of women infants and children whose
economic conditions may not provide the kind of nutrition needed
for good health and normal growth I commend the President for his
commitment to phasing in full funding for the WIC Program by fiscal
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Year 1996. I am excited about his commitment to a special
appropriation of $71 million for this fiscal year and his plan to
provide subsequent increases in appropriations of $318 million in
FY 1994, $532 million in FY 1995 and $800 million in FY 1996.
urae every member of Congress to support this proposal and hely to
place all of America's children on an even footing to face the
future.

HAWD Full Funding Proposal

The National Association of WIC Directors recommended in 1991. that
the Executive and the Congress adopt a five year Plan to move the
WIC Program incrementally toward funding ufull participation*, by
fiscal year 1996. I am delighted that this Administration supports
our view and has chosen to move forward aggressively with this
messaae in its economic plan As the Congress considers full
funding for the WIC Program I urge You to: maintain the Program's
focus on nutrition:maintain the program's reputation for providing
auality services by allowing states to incrementally add caseload
thereby Preventing undue burdens on WIC clinics, undue hardship for
partici ants. avoiding service delays and potentially long waiting
eriods: maintain the Program's targeting and tailoring
apabilities' and exempt WIC from all budget balancing legislation

or agreements.

Other Legislative Proposals

In addition to NAWD's Full Funding Proposal and the Association's
support for the Administration's Plan to Fully Fund the WIC
Program, NAWD proposes that states be permitted to carry-forward or
spend-back three (3) percent of the total federal grant payment
versus the current allowable limit of 1 percent. The current carry-
forward/spend-back provision does not include rebates. The NAWD
proposal also does not include rebates.

This proposed change to tnree (3) percent would serve as aR
excellent management tool enhancing states' abilities to more
effe tively manage and stabilize caseload at maximum levels. This.
in turn. would reduce the possibility of drastic caseload increases
or redu tions. When drastic changes occur,participants may have to
pe removed from the program in the summer only to be put back on
the program in October when more funds are available. This is a
disservice to the women, infants and children we serve.

often, young children are removed from the program mid-way through
their certification to satisfy budgetary constraints. A more
flexible carry-forward/spend-back provision would not force WIC
managers to use children as pawns to balance program budgets.
Because inflation is erratic, the current one (1) percent carry-
forward/spend-back provision does not provide sufficient management
flexibility to effectively and efficiently manage the program. The
carry-forward/spend back provision anplies to federal funds only.

5
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Because States may receive as much as one-third of WIC funds from
infant formula rebates, the effective result is a carry-forward of
less than one percent of the total vac funding in any given year.
This leaves WIC managers with an ineffective tool with which to
manage the program.

Host federal programs have a multi-year grant expenditure. This
proposal would place the WIC program more in line with other grant
programs managed by state agencies.

NAWD also proposes to allow states the option to arrv-
forward/spend-be k five (5) Per ent of the total federal food grant
during the first Year if there is a significant reduction in the

AMOUDt of rebate revenues. Current language allows only for
increases in rebate revenues. The current United States Department
of Agriculture working definition of significant increase is
fifteen (15) percent or more .in rebate revenues. This definition
should also apply to a decrease in rebate revenues.

VAWD_pr000ses that iat least $2 million of those funds whi h ate
available to the Secretary for the PurPose of program evaluation
( urrentiv one half of one Per ent not to exceed 65 million) be
made available to states in the form of special proje ts grants
These grants would be available on a competitive basis to all
states for special projects of up to two years in duration.
Oualifving projects would have regional or national significance
and be directed toward improving the services of the WIC Program.
Under this proposal states should have a minimum of two years to
expend grant resources and complete approved projects.

In keeping with a recommendation from the WIC National Advisory
Committee. NAWD urges congress and the Administration to authorize
states the option to use food dollars to buy manual or electric
(with disposable accessories) breast pumps.

Breast pumps are a clear benefit for participants. They assist
breast-feeding mothers to continue providing healthy mother's milk
for their infants in spite of timing constraints or logistical

considerations caused by employment, school or other
considerations. Breast milk is considered the healthiest and best
source of nutrition for infants.

This proposal would exclude the purchase of shells, pads, or
similar devices. Electric pumps would be loaned to participants.

Conclusion

In conclusion Mr Chairman the NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF WIC
DIRECTORS NAWD looks forward to working with you and the members
of the Subcommittee and Full Committee as you consider this
legislation to extend the Wic Program. NAWD's Executive Dire tor,
Douglas Greenaway the members of the Board of Directors and I
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ptand ready to assist You in any w.ar Doss b e during this proDess.
Again, thank you for the opportunity to come before you today. I
will gladly respond to any questions you may wish to address to me
or provide you with supplemental information as you require.

7
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MrS. UNSOELD. Mr. Hughes?
Mr. HUGHES. Thank you. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.
My name is Charles Hughes, and I am the chairperson of the

International Union of the American Federation of State, County,
and Municipal Employees, the School Advisory Committee. Many
of our members are here with us this midday for their first time. I
am also president of Local 372 of the New York City Board of Edu-
cation Employees. We serve about 700,000 school lunches and
breakfasts every day.

Madam chairperson, I am not going to bore you will all of this
written material that we have. It has been entered into the record,
in terms of our former position, on the good work that all of you
have done.

Now, two of my best friends have just left this room, but I do
want to say that when I first appeared before this committee I
asked a simple question: Could God's name be used in these great
chambers? Chairman Kildee said yes, and so did Chairman Per-
kins.

As I hear the wind whistling in these big windows, it sort of re-
minded me that Chairman Perkins must be looking down here
today, saying what a well job that you are doing.

To my other friend who is a good Republican from the great
State of Pennsylvania, Mr. Goodling, I just want to let you know
and being that you are sitting in for them, I want you to convey
this message to them. Tell them that I stood on the banks of the
Sea of Galilee. After 21 years, being in Israel in 1992, I stood on the
very site on the west side of the Sea of Galilee where there is a
Catholic Church that faces the west, the only one in all of Israel
that does that.

As I stood there I remembered the scripture that said that there
was a man who stood there and took a child's lunch and fed a mul-
titude. So when I look at the Chairman and Mr. Goodling, I have to
say that they are just like that man who stood on the banks of the
Sea of Galileeto feed the children of this Nation.

I also want to state to you that as I looked upon this committee
this morning, and now this afternoon, that we see a lot of females
here. I am glad to see that, because as I went through the trail of
Moses in terms of his need to lead his people to freedomsome
people don't talk about Miriam who was a great advisor to him.
There are so many women on this committee now, I know that
these strong men who held the fort for us will continue to do the
right thing for these children. I welcome all of you.

Let me just say that joining me today in this presentation, if
there are any formal questions, is Tom Jennings, Veronica Costa,
Ed Jayne, and Lorraine, who is here from our International Union
and District Council 37 to assist me.

Let me say to all of you, that in terms of coming here after 12
long years of trying to bring justice and fairness to our people, that
we finally have arrived to the Promised Land. To be able to hear
the Secretary come before this committee and to receive the kind
of applause that he did, in terms of saying that we are going to
give you a few more dollars, made our hearts feel very good be-
cause we knew then that the work that we have done is speaking
for us.
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I think that the work that you have done has spoken. I do be-
lieve that you will make the difference in terms of the kind of qual-
ity education, the kind of quality meals that our childrenthe next
generation, the lifeblood of all of uswill have a fair chance to
maximize their potential.

I know that the hour is getting late, and I know that Chairman
Kildee said that I was his spiritual leader, but you know when the
man who did stand on the banks of the Sea of Galilee started, he
only started with 12 disciples. I would certainly like to say that the
men who really lead this fight along with them, Chairman Ford, is
like the three wise men who came to make sure that they brought
the gifts for the Prince of Peace.

Today, I join my colleagues at the American School Food Service
Association who have been with us, been there speaking for the
children, and whose leadership has brought to these chambers the
kind of information, the kind of support, and the kind of creativity
that makes this program work, I want to thank them for caring
not only about the children, but the workers who every day after
getting into those hot kitchens, when the sweat is running down
their legs, to make sure that our children get the nutrition that
they deserve.

I hope that this H.R. 11 that is sponsored by our great Congress-
man George Miller, from California, will be the one that we will be
able to say to the world that we care about our children, and that
no child, irrespective of his or her economical background, will be
denied the opportunity to participate fully in the school lunch pro-
gram.

In conclusion, let me say that this Congress has always seen fit
to allow a child to get on a school bus, irrespective of whether they
were a millionaire's son or daughter or a poor farmer's daughter or
son, to ride that bus, irrespective of where they come from. Why
can't we do it for the Food Service Program of this great country?

When we talk about the books in our school system, they don't
say, "We are only going to give the books to the kids who are
poor." They say "We are going to give the books to everybody." I
do believe that this nutritional act, H.R. 11, attempts to do that. I
would hope, though, that they would push it up a little bit. The
reason I ask you to push it up a little bit is because we are going to
lose somebody.

I remember the man who was in that boat, you know, and every-
body was a little bit doubtful about the fishing. He told them,
"Throw your net on this side of the boat," and they caught a lot of
fish. I am hoping that you will listen today. Please throw the net
out a little earlier than the year 2000. I don't know whether our
children can afford it.

I love you. May God bless you. Thank you for listening to my
presentation. I will answer any questions you may have.

[Applause.]
[The prepared statement of Charles Hughes follows:]
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STATEMENT OF CHARLES HUGHES, CHAIRPERSON, AFSCME SCHOOIS ADVISORY COM-
MITTEE, PRESIDENT, LOCAL 372, NEW YORK CITY, BOARD OF EDUCATION EMPLOYEES,
DISTRICT COUNCIL 37, NEW YORK, NEW YORK

GOOd morning Mr. Chairman and distinguished Members of the committee. My
name is Charles Hughes. I am the Chairperson of the American Federation of State,
County, and Municipal Employees' [AFSCME] School Advisory Committee, which
represents 150,000 members.

I am also President of Local 372, Board of Education Employees, District Council
37, in New York City. Our members staff the Nation's largest school feeding pro-
grams in terms of both student participation and employees. On an average day, our
members serve about 700,000 breakfasts and lunches.

It is a privilege for me to testify once again before this committee. During the
many years that I have advocated improved child nutrition programs, I have been
moved by the committee's sensitivity and commitment to our Nation's children, and
more particularly, by your steadfast support of child nutrition and the National
School Lunch and Breakfast Programs.

It is now almost half a century since the interrelationship between America's na-
tional security and the nutritional well-being of its youth was recognized. After sig-
nificant numbers of World War II recruits failed their physical due to dietary defi-
ciencies, lawmakers enacted the National School Lunch Program which specified
the congressional policy intent as being "... a measure of national security, to safe-
guard the health and well-being of the Nation's children."

Fifty years later, America's national economic security is threatened by nations
whose workforces outperform ours and whose schoolchildren outachieve ours. While
parents and educators have always known that hungry children do not learn, the
interrelationship between good nutrition and a child's ability to achieve in the edu-
cational setting has been well documented only recently. At a time when child pov-
erty is on the risebetween 1979 and 1990 child poverty in the United States grew
by 26 percentand educational achievement is declining, the child nutrition pro-
grams become more crucial than ever before.

In just three years, we will celebrate the 50th anniversary of the National School
Lunch Act. However, I am here to tell you, Mr. Chairman, that we are continuing
to lose ground in our efforts to safeguard the health and well-being of the Nation's
children. Recently, the USDA reported that there are 4.2 million eligible poor stu-
dents who are not applying for free or reduced-price meals.

Although much has been done to rebuild the National School Lunch and Break-
fast Programs after the Reagan administration's draconian cuts, the participation
rates are far lower than their peak in 1979. Two million more children and 2,700
more schools participated in the school lunch program in 1980 than did in 1990.
And, while 200,000 more students are enrolled in the School Breakfast Program
today than were in 1981, only one-sixth of the children who eat school lunch also
eat a school breakfast and less than 40 percent of the schools that offer the lunch
program also offer the breakfast program. Currently, 24 million children are served
by the school lunch program. This represents less than 60 percent of the children
who attend schools participating in the program. Far fewer children, only 4 million,
participate in the breakfast program. Other countries do a far better job of feeding
their schoolchildren. For example, Japan serves 98.2 percent of its elementary
schoolchildren a school lunch.

The programs that we have worked to build are threatened. Federal subsidies
have declined while costs, including indirect expenses and cost of administrating the
program, have increased. USDA "bonus" commodities have disappeared. And, the
administrative procedures have become vastly more complex. These are all contrib-
uting to the steady decline in participation by both schools and students in the feed-
ing programs. Approximately 90 schools dropped out of the program in the 1989-
1990 school year and more did so in the past two years.

This comes at a time when local and State governments, still mired in a mul-
tiyear financial crisis made deeper by the recent recession, have also been forced to
reduce their support. In the fiscal year, 1991-1992, States and local governments,
faced with a combined deficit of over $50 billion, eliminated programs, froze payrolls
or laid off workers and raised taxes, fees, and tuition at public educational institu-
tions. In 1980, the last time that data was collected, Federal contributions to the
school lunch program covered approximately 50 percent of the program's total cost.
The remaining 50 percent was shared equally by State and local contributions
[about 25 percent] and children's meal payments.

Mr. Chairman, I am here today to tell you that unless we take hold action there is
a risk that the National School Lunch and Breakfast Programs will ultimately be
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available only in the schools with a very high proportion of low-income students,
probably less than 15 percent of all the schools who now participate. This would
deny access to many low and moderate income children who are enrolled in the
other 85 percent of all schools.

In previous appearances before congressional committees, I have proposed that
the Congress consider enacting a universal school lunch and breakfast program in
order to insure that the school feeding program remains as a broad-based nutrition-
al support program available to all schoolchildren. I have been heartened by the
progress which has been made in bringing attention to that proposal. I especially
wish to commend Congressman George Miller for introducing legislation, the Uni-
versal Student Nutrition Act, H.R. 11, to give every school in the country the option
of providing a universal school lunch and school breakfast program to each child in
the school by the year 2000.

A universal program has obvious benefits. It would remove the welfare stigma
which is now associated with the program for students who receive free or reduced-
price meals. It would help State and local governments who are laboring to comply
with the many Federal mandates which were passed in the 1980s without accompa-
nying Federal dollars. It would guarantee that all hungry children are provided
with the nutritional tools for learning. It would relieve school personnel from focus-
ing on income verification and accountability. In sum, it would remove the adminis-
trative barriers which now impede both students and schools from participating in
the program.

Mr. Chairman, my union and its dedicated school workers stand ready to work
with you to develop a universal school feeding program. Serious problems challenge
the continued success of the school lunch and breakfast programs. However, by
working together I am confident that when we celebrate the 50th birthday of the
National School Lunch Act in 1996, we will truly be proud that the American
schoolchildren are getting the nutritious meals that they need to learn.

I would be happy to answer any questions that the committee may have.
Thank you.

Mrs. UNSOELD. I will express on behalf of the committee our
thanks for your being here and to tell you that you are down to the
hard core, the staff, but they are probably in many ways the most
important people in the room. I think I am going to miss the oppor-
tunity to vote on the Journal today, this being a little more impor-
tant.

I do have a couple of questions. What are some of the causes of
the schools to drop out of the program? I am dismayed to notice in
the statistics that my own State is in the bottom 10. What goes into
that decisionmaking when they decide to drop out?

Ms. MCPHERSON. I think there are primarily four factors that
have brought schools to this decision. The first is the loss of the
financial support, on the loss of the bonus commodities which had
underwritten a lot of the pressures, the payment of indirect costs,
and that has had a major increase in the last few years as school
districts have looked wherever they could to find additional income
for other costs in the school system, and more paperwork.

One of the things that has made child nutrition particularly vul-
nerable in this area is that as the laws and regulations are now,
child nutrition programs have an unrestricted, indirect cost factor.
We are the only federally supported program support for education
that has an unrestricted factor in that. Usually, this means that we
pay five times as much as the restricted rate that is paid for pro-
grams such as Chapter 1 and those in the Elementary and Second-
ary Education Act.

Mrs. UNSOELD. Do you other two want to answer?
Mr. HUGHES. Well, I think that one of the reasons we have

dropped out is because we don't encourage kids to participate in
the menu planning. I mean, they are the consumers. I know that
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our union has developed incentives for children who participate in
poster contest drawings not only because it teaches them communi-
cations, but it also teaches them the importance of nutrition. We
give them Kodak cameras or some little gift to show that your
doing this is appreciated.

I think the scheduling of the hours is one problem that we have
in terms of having full participation. I think in many areas you
have groups that will come in and begin to kill the program for
many reasons, that either they don't like the person who is run-
ning it, or some school board members they don't like. That is why
I am so strong on the Universal Nutrition Act, because what it will
do, it will encourage schools to open its facilities earlier than it
normally does. I do believe strongly that the school systems
shouldn't just be for educational purposes as we traditionally know
educational curricula.

To me, education is the whole community. You can have after-
school programs, snacks. We have talked about the one to five chil-
dren, the WIC program, Women, Infants, and Children, which I
think is a fabulous program. We have also got to protect those kids
who didn't get that, and there are millions who did not get that. I
think tne grants and the speed-up of those grants that's going to
take place is going to encourage many administrators to come in
and open those schools to make sure that our children have some
hot food, nutritious food.

My wife is in the room, Shirley Hughes, and she can tell you
that when she cooked for Martin and Cherise, that she didn't cook
scientifically on a nutritional level. That is no reflection of her
good cooking now, because I've got to eat next week.

[Laughter.]
Mr. HUGHES. The fact is, she didn't. If you've got working moth-

ers todayand there are a lotthen we ought to make sure, tied
to that, that their children are going to be safe, have proper nutri-
tion, and in an atmosphere that is conducive to maximize their
learning capabilities.

I think, again, I feel so humbled this morning, or this afternoon,
knowing that I am speaking to people who care. You have got a
different presentation when people don't care, and God knows you
care. I think that if we can work in small groups, as we have, with
the Agriculture Department and some of your staff people in a
forum maybe a little different than this, that we can present to you
a program that will not only make you proud, but make the chil-
dren of this great Nation proud.

Mrs. UNSOEI D. Thank you. Do any of you have any experience
with pilot programs for the universal school lunch program, and do
you know whether there is an offset in overhead costs or paper-
work costs that help to reduce the overall expenditure?

MS. MCPHERSON. I can speak to you about some of the things
that have gone on in pilots. I don't have with me the statistics that
I can quote to you to tell you exactly what has happened. We have
had the universal pilots that USDA authorized that have had very
good results.

Just this week, we have learned that in a special opportunity, be-
cause of Hurricane Andrew, that some schools in the Florida area
had universal meals during a period of time, and their participa-
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tion increased very dramatically. At the end of that time when
they had to go back to all of the collection procedures and all of
that, the participation went back to where it was before.

We have learned of a number of school systems that are institut-
ing universal pilots on their own at the local level because they are
so convinced of the need. They are able to do this only where they
have high participation now of free and reduced-price students, but
they are getting very good results. All of the results that we are
getting indicate that it really could make a significant difference,
especially for the stigma that is there and the paperwork and all
that is involved in administrative time.

Mrs. UNSOELD. Mr. Hughes?
Mr. HUGHES. Yes. In New York, we have experimented in Dis-

trict 1 and District 9, that's approximately 2 years. While we can't
accurately give you all the figures today, we can say that the
stigma that used to exist between the haves and the have-nots is
gone. You can't put a price tag on that, Madam Chairperson, be-
cause as we see our country try to unfold for its greatness, we have
some very dark spots, too. Those dark spots, many of them start
when we differentiate between the kids who can afford to eat and
the kids who cannot.

I think one of the great things that I like about coming here
and I don't use the Lord's name in vain, I just don't do thatis
that you have attempted to eradicate in a very short time some of
the ugliness that exists in our society. We sort of sometimes, know-
ingly or unknowingly, teach our children the bad things about
other people. Just because Johnny or Jane does not have a blouse
or a pair of jeans as nice as someone else has, it creates a class
problem.

We believe that the experiments that we have done in District 1
and in District 9 in New York City have been very positive. We
know that the attendance is up, which brings money itself. If we
are going to talk about a cost situation, I think, one will balance it
out, balance out the other, based upon its financial piece, but the
social and the moral piece is the piece that makes those children
all feel equal while attending the public or parochial school system
in which this program exists.

On that, I would hope that we would increase the awareness of
the Summer Feeding Program for our children. If you do that, you
are going to find that crime is going to be less during the summer
because children will be engaged in an institution and a program
that will keep their minds and hands busy. It is at a time when
schools normally are closed, but usually in New York City we get
the schools open for that summer program. Again, impact on work-
ing mothers, impact on other children who may be out of school.

God knows, if we can get that one- to five-year-old in the WIC
program and Head Start, put it all together, I can assure you,
unlike General Motors or Ford, we can't guarantee you a car for
1993 and 1994, a Mark, a Victoria, or whatever they call them, but
we can say to you that if you invest in these children and give
them these tools that they need, I believe that you will have a
Rolls Royce of children within the next 10 years, if these programs
are implemented the way that we are suggesting.
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That is why I love Mr. Good ling. I really do. People don't think I
say that to be true, but I do. Because they stood when no one else
would stand, to say that we are going to do something about nutri-
tion and the impact that it will have on quality education.

We believe that the universal experiments that we have had in
District 1 and District 9 are very positive, the results have been
very good, and the participation has been excellent.

Ms. UNSOELD. On behalf of Chairman Kildee, I want to thank all
of our witnesses for joining us this morning. Your participation
will be very helpful to us as we begin to put together the 1994
Child Nutrition Reauthorization. I appreciate the dedication that
you all have in ensuring that our Nation's children are adequately
fed.

The hearing record will remain open for 2 weeks to allow for ad-
ditional submissions. Thank you very, very much for coming today.

The meeting is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 12:30 the subcommittee was adjourned subject to

the call of the Chair.]
[Additional material submitted for the record follows.]
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The Society for Nutrition Education ISNE) and the National Association of State

Nutrition Education and Training (NASNET) Program Coordinators, ask your subcommittee

to support the inclusion of nutrition education and the National School Lunch and Breakfast

Programs as vital components of elementary and secondary education throughout the natton.

It is well documented that students who eat breakfast perform better on tests, have better

attendance and fewer disciplinary problems. School breakfast and lunch make good sense. We

all know that any child who is not well nourished cannot be attentive or learn.

The Nutrition Education and Training (NET) Program educates young children, their

parents, and all school personnel. including food service employees. NET focuses on the school

food service and classroom as a laboratory for nutrition education. Our professional societies,

SNE and NASNET. believe in integrated nutrition services for all children regardless of family

income, and we strongly support efforts to increase school and student participation in the

National School Lunch and Breakfast Programs.

From the White House Conference on Nutrition twenty five years ago, policy makers

learned that a lack of nutrition knowledge can contribute to a child's rejection of highly

nutritious foods. This conference identified the need to create opportunities for children to

learn about the importance of the principles of good nutrition in their daily lives and how

these principles are applied in the school cafeteria. In 1977. Congress authorized the NET

Program and made proper nutrition of the nation's children a matter of highest prionty.

These findings persist today. In fact, the current philosophy statement for NET restates this

commitment. The Nutrition Education and Training Program WED, through its local. state

and federal partnerships, provides leadership in promoting healthy eating habits to improve

the health and well-being of our nation's children. NET integrates mealtime and learning

experiences to help children make informed food choices as part of a healthy l(festyle.

Two goals from the Department of Health and Human Service's Healthy People 2000

also emphasize the importance of healthy eating among our nation's children: 1) increase to

at least 75 percent the proportion of the nation's schools that provide nutrition education from

preschool through 12th grade. preferably as part ofquality school health education. and 21

increase to at least 90% the proportion of school lunch and breakfast services and child care

food services with menus that are consistent with nutrition principles in the Dietary

Guidelines for Americans

NET has trained thousands of teachers, school food service personnel, and other

educators, and provided opportunities for children to learn about good food habits in the

classroom and through the school food service. However, these efforts to encourage sound

nutrition habits at an early age are handicapped by the current situation. Many school meals

72



69

do not meet the Dietary Cuidelines for Americans. financial administrative resources needed

for nutntion education are scarce. and participation in the school meal programs is declining

Programs throughout the country have achieved remarkably impressive

accomplishments. Each state develops nutrition education pro;ects that meet their separate

and diverse needs. identified in a state needs assessment. This flexibility allows nutrition

education messages to reach the greatest number of children in each program. NET services

may include lending libraries, production of video tapes. integrated teaching teams, train-the-

trainer programs and in-service training for educators and food service personnel. Other

emphasis has been placed on children with disabilities and special nutritional needs, pregnant

teens, and student athletes. NET continues to concentrate on those health entities that iniolve

all children from child care through twelfth grade. The following are but a few examples of NET

funded activities.
Wisconsin sponsored a statewide satellite conference titled Healthy School Lunches

Your Choice in the 90s. identifying the role of key school personnel as well as discussing the

challenges faced by the school in meeting the nutritional needs of children. A task force of

agencies offering nutrition education materials to schools was established to look for ways to

more effectively provide nutrition resources to school personnel. Leadership is provided by the

NET Program.

In Ohio a universal breakfast program was piloted with NET funds and remarkable

results have occurred. By making the pilot program available to all students, student

participation also increased in the school lunch program. Student participation in the

breakfast program continues to be strong even at the end of the pilot program. A "Nutra Buddy

activity funded by NET in West Alexandria. Ohio. matched second graders and high school

nutrition students for class activities promoting healthy eating practices. This program was

recognized as an Excellence in Nutrition Education Award at the 1992 annual meeting of the

Society of Nutrition Education.
California undertook a major campaign entitled Child Nutritioru Shaping Healthy

Choices in 1989. This campaign was designed to introduce children to dietary practices that

promote health, reduce risk of chronic disease, and provide for optimal learning. growth and

development. Additional marketing plans have been an outcome of this initiative. As part of

the campaign the California Department of Education conducted an Implementation of the

Dietary Guidelines for Americans survey of all school nutrition programs.

The highly acclaimed elementary program. Nutrition Comes Alive. developed in New

York, integrates nutntion into other subject areas such as math, language arts, science, fitness

and music. A year ago, the secondary program. Nutrition for LTe. developed jointly by Cornell

University arid the New York State Departments of Healthand Education, received the
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National Nutrition Education Award from the American Home Economics Association.

Supplementing these programs. NET will soon be releasing new materials reaching preschool,

special education, school feeding and after school audiences. These are but a few examples of

successful NET funded activities.

These projects are some of NETs successes, the following are some obstacles tr.. success.

The current funding procedure for the NET Program weakens on-going program planning.

Allowing states to carry-over up to 20 percent of their funds into a succeeding fiscal year would

make for more efficient use of funds. This practice is currently allowed in the Women, Infants.

and Children Program and the National School Lunch Program. It is often three months into

the federal year before NET appropriation amounts are available to states. This delay Is

complicated by individual state fiscal years. and tight time-frames for obligating funds and

establishing programs. Carry-over of funds would allow minimum funded states, as well as

other states, to combine funds for developing much needed training resources and curricula

and other projects not otherwise possible under the present authorization schedule. Effective

programming requires planning and involvement to ensure success.

A requirement for adequate state staffing is recommended to strengthen the services

provided by the NET Program. To meet the nutrition educational needs of children, minimum

levels of staffing are required. To be eligible for NET funding, it is recommended that a state

appoint a full-time nutrition education specialist to serve as a state coordinator. However, for

those states receiving minimum level funding, it is recommended that no less than one-half of

a full-time equivalent be appointed. Any state receiving double the minimum funding shall

appoint no less than one full-time equivalent. NET programs need full-time staffing for

planning, and providing quality nutrition education activities and services to diverse

audiences throughout a state.

Schools form the heart of a communtty. Perhaps no other segment of the educational

system has more possibilities for community service than child feeding and nutrition education

programs. Although there are many influences on children's eating habits, there are few

opportunities to learn about food and nutrition than from school. School lunches and

breakfasts that meet dietary guidelines reinforce the nutrition messages learned tn the

classroom. Through providing nutritiodinformatton to parents, food offered at home improves.

The Society for Nutrition Education and the National Association of State Nutrition Education

and Training Program Coordinators believe that schools invest in our future when children

learn through knowledge arid experience how to make healthy food choices.
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R NUTRITION EDUCATION

HEALTHY EATING FOR OUR NATION'S CHILDREN
SUPPORT NUTRITION EDUCATION AND TRAINING

The Society for Nutrition Education, National Association of State Nutrition Education and
Training (NET) Coordinators, California NET Coordinator, American School Food Service
Association, Food Service Management Institute, and American Dietetic Association ask you
to be a part of the leadership in promoting healthy eating habits of our nation's children.
This goal can be achieved by supporting nutrition education and service of nutritious meals
and snacks in schools and child care institutions. Through the Child Nutrition Programs, the
NET program integrates mealtime and learning experiences to help children make informed
food choices as part of a healthy lifestyle.

The Nutrition Education and Training Program was first authorized November 10,
1977 for $26 million for Fiscal Year 1979. Funding dropped to $5 million in early 1980 and
built up to $10 million for FY 1993. Over the past fifteen years, NET has produced
significant accomplishments: millions of school children now can choose healthier diets,
thousands of teachers regularly include nutrition lessons in the classroom, and thousands of
school food service personnel offer children more nutritious meals. But we can do better.

To enable more children to eat healthfully and more schools and child care
institutions to offer meals that meet the Dietary Guidelines, we recommend the following
changes to NET:

Include child care institutions as recipients of NET services,

Create a more efficient funding system for NET,

Provide a minimum of 50 cents per child enrolled in schools and child care
institutions,

Cover some direct federal expenditures for federal evaluation and technical
assistance,

Establish minimum state staffing requirements based on the funding level for each
state, and

Coordinate comprehensive health education programs with NET.

Additional groups that support the Nutrition Education and Training Program include:
Association of State and Territorial Public Health Nutrition Directors
Bread for the World
Children's Foundation
Food Research and Action Center
National Consumers League
Public Voice
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H.R. 8, TO AMEND THE CHILD NUTRITION ACT
OF 1966 AND THE NATIONAL SCHOOL LUNCH
PROGRAM, AND RELATED CHILD NUTRITION
MATTERS

WEDNESDAY, JULY 21, 1993

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON ELEMENTARY, SECONDARY,

AND VOCATIONAL EDUCATION,
COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR,

Washington, DC
The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10 a.m., Room 2175,

Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Dale E. Kildee, Chairman,
presiding.

Members present: Representatives Kildee, Sawyer, Reed, Be-
cerra, Green, Woolsey, English, Strickland, Payne, Good ling, Gun-
derson, McKeon, and Petri.

Also present: Representative Manoli.
Staff present: Susan Wilhelm, staff director; Dennis Fargas,

budget analyst/professional staff member; Margaret Kajeckas, leg-
islative associate; June Harris, legislative specialist; and Lynn
Selmser, professional staff member.

Chairman KILDEE. The Subcommittee on Elementary, Sacondary
and Vocational Education convenes this morning to discuss H.R. 8,
the bill to reauthorize expiring programs under the National
School Lunch and Child Nutrition Acts and related matters.

Undernourished children are less physically active, less attentive
and less independent and curious; they are more anxious and less
responsive socially and cannot concentrate as well. As a result,
their reading ability, their verbal skills and their motor skills
suffer.

The child nutrition programs play a vital role in combating
childhood hunger and ensuring that children are able to take ad-
vantage of the lessons offered them in the classroom. As a former
classroom teacher, I know that very, very well.

Many have heard me tell a story about that, which I will not
repeat this morning, but I directly saw the relationship between
good nourishment and learning.

Today's hearing will focus on three programs authorized under
these Acts which have proven themselves effective tools in the
fight against hunger and undernutrition in our young people, the
Summer Food Service Program, School Breakfast Program, and the

(73)
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Child and Adult Care Food Program. We will also hear about the
important issue of milk bid-rigging in the child nutrition programs.

Before I introduce our witnesses, I would like to recognize my
good friend and the ranking Republican member of both the full
committee and of this subcommittee, his credentials in this area,
again, are golden, Mr. Good ling.

Mr. GOODLING. We used to say that Chairman Perkins was the
father of school lunch and I was the son of it. I don't know what
that means, but that is what I used to hear.

I am pleased that the subcommittee is beginning, I would imag-
ine, an extensive series of hearings on the Child Nutrition Act of
1966. I have been very close to that for a long, long time.

In fact, as you know, was it last week, we had that interesting
debate on the floor where some child nutritionist was upset be-
cause we say you must offer whole milk, we don't say you have to
drink it, an4 he thought that was terrible and I said, oh, boy,
coming from the Agriculture Committee, that is interesting. You
have sent us cheese until it has come out of our ears. You have
sent us hamburger that is full of fat until it has come out of our"
ears, and you have sent us peanut butter as fat as anything there
is until it is coming out, not only our ears but every other area,
and you would talk about a little bit of milk that some kid might
drink, unbelievable.

But nevertheless, the issue today is one that really I suppose
caught me by surprise. I always assumed that the 12 years I was
drinking school milk that it was watered down because it always
tasted like the skimmest, skimmest milk there was, but I didn't
know anybody was rigging any bids or anything of that nature to
provide us with that.

So I am looking forward to the hearings. Unfortunately we have
a markup in foreign affairs at the same time, which is not across
the hall today. For some reason or other it is over in H-139, so I
will be in and out, and thank you, again, Mr. Chairman, for hold-
ing these hearings.

[The prepared statement of Hon. F. William Good ling follows:1

STATEMENT OF HON. WILLIAM F. GOODLING. A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM
THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA

Mr. Chairman, I'm very pleased that our subcommittee is today initiating what
I'm sure will be an extensive series of hearings leading to the reauthorization of the
National School Lunch Act and the Child Nutrition Act of 1966.

I see that we are being timely in that our subcommittee will hear recommenda-
tions on how we may improve the conduct of the Summer Food Service Program as
well as that of the School Breakfast and Child and Adult Care Food Programs. I
understand that we owe a debt of gratitude to the Food Research and Action Center
for the assistance they provided our staffs as ,hey sought to bring us a cadre of wit-
nesses with considerable expertise in the condLct of those programs.

I also want to thank you, Mr. Chairman, for giving us an initial opportunity to
learn more about a subject which has in recent months attracted the interest of the
media and gained considerable exposure: the presence of a wide range of anticom-
petitive activities in the sale of milk and other foods to be used by schools in the
conduct of our school-based meal programs. I understand from our staff that while
the antitrust division of the Justice Department was unable because of time con-
straints to join our witness from the General Accounting Office this morning, the
division has offered to brief us at a later date on the role it has played in prosecut-
ing milk bid rigging and price fixing cases in the last few years. I look forward to
both presentations.
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Chairman KILDEE. Thank you, Mr. Good ling, and I do know you
have other responsibilities in your position and it may be a secret
meeting over in H-139. They usually do some mysterious things
when there is an H before the number there.

So bring us back the news that is happening in the world today
on that.

STATEMENT OF HON. DONALD M. PAYNE, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE
STATE OF NEW JERSEY

Mr. Chairman, thank you for calling this hearing today to discuss the Child Nu-
trition Act and the National School Lunch Act.

This hearing is very important because we need to assess our priorities to help
shape a healthy future for our country's children.

The historical basis for these programs exemplifies its dedication to the health
and well-being of all children. The National School Lunch and the Child Nutrition
Acts were developed to serve a broad range of social welfare interestsagriculture,
health, education, and income support.

For example, more lower income children receive free or reduced price meals
under child nutrition programs than receive food stamp benefits, and aid to the
school breakfast and lunch programs is the second single source of Federal aid to
the Nation's elementary and secondary schools.

School lunch and breakfast programs benefit the child, school and the entire
country. These programs prepare children for learning; fight childhood hunger; en-
hance long-term health for Americans; provides an incentive for children to go and
STAY in school; and uses the school nutrition program as a basis for nutrition edu-
cation.

It is interesting to note that in Japan, which views child nutrition programs as an
integral part of the education day, serves 98.2 percent of its elementary schoolchil-
dren a school lunch every day. However, the United States only serves 60 percent of
our students.

I believe that we could integrate school nutrition into the total educational proc-
ess. Hungry children do not learn. I would like to thank our panelists in advance
for their participation, and I look forward to hearing all of their testimony.

Chairman KILDEE. I have been involved with the school lunch
program since 1954 when I became a teacher. That was a long time
ago, wasn't it? When I came to Congress in 1976, I came to this
committee and tried to expand the school lunch program. I worked
with Chairman Perkins and with Mr. Good ling. I remember that
Winter of Discontent starting back in 1981well, actually it start-
ed even before then, but in 1981 it was exacerbated by a proposal
to make some cuts in this school lunch program, and redefining
certain things in school lunch, such as the famous definition of
ketchup as a vegetable. We all used that as a great weapon to try
to defend the school lunch program. The history is very interesting.

But I think nutrition is just essential. Mankind, humanity, is a
mixture of body and spirit and unless we nourish the body, the
unique characteristic of mankind, humanity, cannot flourish. The
ability of humanity to think, to resolve, to seek solutions for prob-
lems, to progress, to build a better society, that unique characteris-
tic of humanity to change one's environment, to build a more
moral society, cannot take place unless the body is nourished, and
that is why the school lunch program is so important.

Our witnesses today are Nancy H. Ford, Specialist in Nutrition
Education, Summer Food Service Program, Delaware Department
of Public Instruction; Lisa Hamler-Podolski, Coordinator, Commu-
nity Food and Nutrition Programs, Ohio Hunger Task Force; Linda
Locke, Assistant Director, Community Coordinated Child Care,
Louisville, Kentucky, where we had a hearing notseveral years
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ago really, have to go back again some time; and Robert A. Robin-
son, Associate Director, Food and Agricultural Issues, Resources,
Community and Economic Development Division, the General Ac-
counting Office.

If they want to come forward to the table, we can begin the testi-
mony.

Before we begin the testimony, I have to make this announce-
ment: I serve on several subcommittees. At some point, I will have
to go upstairs, to room 2261, and give testimony on my own bill.

I have worked my testimony down to about 3 minutes so I won't
be missing here very long, so hopefully under the courtesy of the
House, they won't ask me any questions on my bill, just take my
testimony. I will be right back and at some point someone else will
take the Chair.

So we will begin our testimony then with Nancy H. Ford from
Delaware, whose State I hope to visit soon.

Nancy.

STATEMENTS OF NANCY H. FORD, SPECIALIST, NUTRITION EDU-
CATION, SUMMER FOOD SERVICE PROGRAM, DELAWARE DE-
PARTMENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION; LISA HAMLER-PO-
DOLSKI, COORDINATOR, COMMUNITY FOOD AND NUTRITION
PROGRAMS, OHIO HUNGER TASK FORCE; LINDA LOCKE, AS-
SISTANT DIRECTOR, COMMUNITY COORDINATED CHILD CARE;
AND ROBERT A. ROBINSON, ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR. FOOD AND
AGRICULTURAL ISSUES, RESOURCES, COMMUNITY AND ECO-
NOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIVISION, GENERAL ACCOUNTING
OFFICE, ACCOMPANIED BY JIM FOWLER AND DALE WOLDEN
MS. FORD. Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Representatives.
My name is Nancy Ford and I work for the Department of Public

Instruction. I am the education specialist for the Summer Food
Service Program and I also am the nutrition education specialist
for the children of Delaware.

I am very pleased this morning to be able to assist you in effect-
ing the Summer Food Service Program regulations so that we can
reach more of our needy children here in our Nation. The Summer
Food Service Program is a very important program. It is designed
to feed needy children high quality, nutritious meals during the
summer when school is closed. It follows children wherever they
are in the summer. It goes to parks, recreation centers, play-
grounds, enrichment programs, such as the Upward Bound Pro-
gram held on college campuses, and the National Youth Sports
Program, also held on college campuses.

It even follows needy children into their communities, be they
urban or rural areas.

There are 13.2 million children who, during the school year, par-
ticipate in the school lunch program. However, unfortunately, the
summer lunch program has only reached a national average of 15
percent of our Nation's children.

I am very proud of our record in the State of Delaware, for we
have reached over 70 percent of our needy children and our largest
program is indeed in the rural area where children are hard to
reach.
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We have incorporated in Delaware what I have recently called
the Delaware Plan. The Delaware Plan seeks to incorporate al-
ready working government structures and entities to enhance the
summer lunch program. We currently have working with us the
Division of the Visually Impaired Business Enterprise Program
which has trained many visually, mentally and physically handi-
capped persons to do various skills.

We have found those skills available to be incorporated in our
summer lunch program because among those skills they have de-
veloped a staff of food specialists who we have now incorporated to
prepare the lunches for the children. With this plan in place, we
have employed 157 visually, mentally and physically handicapped
persons. We have employed an additional 62 community persons
who are now meal preparation assembly line persons. We have
trained them and given them that skill in a food plant that is lo-
cated in Delaware, and we indeed invite you, Representative Kildee
and Representative Good ling, to visit these places this summer, for
I think it is very important that you see the work that this
summer lunch program budget has put together in the State of
Delaware.

We have also made, for your interest, a 10-minute video that
gives you a picture of rural poverty in Delaware and how we as a
State have managed to reach the children in the rural part of our
State.

One of the major areas of the regulation that I feel would help to
increase the participation of children in the rural program is to
reduce the necessary, the now 50 percent to 40 percent, the crite-
rion for establishing sites in the Summer Food Service Program.
There are two ways to document a feeding site eligible for the
summer food program.

One is an enrolled site, which is an enclosed program, usually
with a roster. 50 percent of those children individually must be de-
termined needy children in order that we feed the whole group.

Then we have our open site, one in which 50 percent of the chil-
dren in the area are eligible. The documentation of an open site is
much more accommodating for a sponsor, especially if the sponsor
is in an urban area. However, if a sponsor is documenting a rural
area, 50 percent is indeed a task and povertypockets of poverty
are generally not 50 percent of a given area. They are usually very
much a percentage on an area basis.

Therefore, it would help greatly if we could amend the regula-
tions to reduce the percentage of need to 40 percent. This also
would coordinate with the school lunch regulations which feed the
severe needs in the School Breakfast Program. Any school program
feeding 40 percent of their children in the program are eligible for
the severe rate, which is an additional rate for the breakfast pro-
gram.

So in trying to bring the summer lunch more closely related to
the school lunch program, I have suggested a figure of 40 percent
so that we can get our school programs more interested in the
summer lunch program.

Another area that would be helpful in promoting the summer
lunch program would be to eliminate the special restrictions on the
private nonprofit sponsors so that they may operate Summer Food
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Service Program sites and assist in reaching children in remote
areas.

Nonprofits were restored in the Summer Food Service Program
in 1989, but there are so many restrictions that handicap their par-
ticipation. Those handicaps are: Limits on the number of sites a
nonprofit sponsor may operate, a limit to the number of children at
each site a nonprofit may operate, a nonprofit cannot contract for
food from a commercial vendor, and nonprofits receive more moni-
toring than other sponsors in the program.

Also there is a 1-year wait required before a private nonprofit
sponsor can pick up a feeding site dropped by another sponsor.
Also private nonprofits are least on the list of priorities when a de-
cision is to be made on which type of sponsor will operate a feeding
site. In my somewhat limited experience in Delaware, private non-
profits have performed about the same as other sponsors.

A Government Accounting Office study issued in 1991 has con-
firmed my own observations. I don't see any reason that private
nonprofits should receive any different treatment than other spon-
sors of the same size and experience.

In order to encourage sponsors to set up more feeding sites, a
start-up grant is suggested, that $1,000 per new site be made avail-
able to sponsors who are developing sites to assist them in putting
in place the required supervision for meals to children, the trans-
portation to the site, children to the site or food to the children,
and also activities that are necessary whenever you are bringing
children together for any reason.

This $1,000 per new site grant would be available to a sponsor,
up to $2,500. This is the same format that assisted in expanding
the School Breakfast Program. I would like to see this incorporated
in the summer lunch program regulation so that we can encourage
more site development among the summer lunch potential spon-
sors.

Another area that handicaps our sponsors is the use of budget
moneys that come in two different areas. One, the operating cost,
secondly, the administrative cost. The operating cost today are $2
and 41/4 cents for every lunch served to a child, and 19-191/2 cents
for administrative cost for every lunch served to a child.

Blending these two rates and allowing the sponsors to use their
moneys for the various expenses of the program and allowing up to
15 percent of that money to go into administrative salaries and
other administrative expenses would be helpful for sponsors who
are constantly laboring over do I have enough money to do what I
need to do to create sites in the summer lunch program.

Combining the rates would give sponsors more flexibility in allo-
cating costs and a better chance to break even financially while
maintaining protection against too much money going to adminis-
trative cost.

The cost of transportation has been a burden to many sponsors
and also has been a reason why many sites in the rural area have
not been served. In order to assist this problem, I am suggesting
that 75 cents per child be allowed for rural transportation. One ex-
ample of rural transportation in the State of Delaware that has
caused our program to be successful in serving children in remote
areas is that we have incorporated what we call a mobile site.
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The mobile site is simply a bus that drives up to communities
that are difficult to serve for one of many reasons. One reason,
septic tanks are not put in the community and the community is so
very unsanitary that it is not safe for children to eat in the area
where their houses are placed.

We therefore bring a mobile site into the community, have the
children board the site. They eat lunch right there in a safe envi-
ronment, a clean environment. After they have eaten lunch, they
are allowed to return to their communities. We currently have, are
able to operate just one of these mobile sites. It is costing that pro-
gram $70 per day to feed 400 children breakfast and lunch.

Many times we need our mobile site because the same problems
that have hit the urban environment are now touching upon our
rural communities, the problems of drugs, fighting, all of those
things that occur in some of our low income communities are also
occurring in rural communities.

Mobile sites have assisted in helping children to eat in a safe en-
vironment away from those endangering forces that children may
meet that would be detrimental to their health.

I would also like to suggest an increase in the State administra-
tive budget by guaranteeing each State $35,000 and by increasing
to three the percentage of program money above $400,000 allocated
for State administration. In many States there is not enough ad-
ministrative money to hire a full-time summer food specialist. I
myself am a specialist who is in a State who has divided my time,
50 percent for the Summer Food Service Program, 50 percent for
the Nutrition Education Training Program.

It is a very, very difficult task to get everything done. Many
people feel that because the summer lunch program operates in
June, July and August, that the specialists need only do program
matters in June, July and August. Many of our State organizations
see my job as only a part-year job.

I am here to tell you today that summer lunch never, ever, ever
stops and many times goes into the next year. I have outlined here
some of the things that must be done by month for the summer
lunch program.

In the fall, reports on the summer's activities in assisting spon-
sors with the closeout of the financial and program reports. In De-
cember, a State plan is made, is written and prepared for the gov-
ernor and submitted to the USDA. In January, an outreach process
is put in place with the presentations, advertisements and news re-
leases necessary.

In February, notification to the food service management compa-
nies go out, and so the training for those companies begin and a
very long and arduous application process to ensure that they are
indeed reputable vendors that we will be referring to our sponsors.

February to April, the approval process for vendors, including in-
spections and licensing, to develop a list of approved vendors for
sponsors. For this process, I incorporate the services by law at 1
percent cost of the total program, the Delaware Health Depart-
ment, and we meet several times to make sure vendors are updat-
ed, that sanitary inspections are intact.
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We coordinate with the out-of-State health departments to make
sure that our vendors have all of their deficiencies intact before we
are able to approve them to operate in the State of Delaware.

In April it is time for training of all sponsors and vendors. There
is no time to plan your training. You just go ahead and train. It is
an all-day training session and after being in the program for
many, many years, many of these things become magic.

I am very happy that I have 16 years of experience in this pro-
gram and can roll through these processes very readily, however,
there are many, many things that I wish to do in the program as
developing more activities for sites, developing more nutrition edu-
cation programming for sites.

This is an excellent opportunity, the Summer Lunch Program is
an excellent opportunity to reach children in many, many ways be-
sides bringing nutrition assistance, and sometimes with the
amount of time that we have available, we are not able to do as
much as we hope, and we say that we are going to do each year.
We do incorporate our bookmobile. We do incorporate the coopera-
tive extension services.

We do incorporate the Expanded Food and Nutrition Program,
another program of the USDA, and all of these programs are will-
ing to come out to the sites and present to our children. By May 6
the sponsor applications are due with review and notification of ap-
proval no later than June, and by May and June, sponsors are
hiring and training part-year staff to help supervise and monitor
the summer program. And because we are such a fast-paced pro-
gram, we have to do continual training to the part-year staff that
we bring in to operate our programs, to man our sites, to learn the
rules and regulations of the program. In short, it is a great pro-
gram, but it needs the full annual attention of at least one full-
time person.

There are many other legislative and regulatory recommenda-
tions that I would like to make, and as I have said before, I have
brought with me today a 10-minute video documenting hunger in
the State of Delaware and I do hope that each of you will take an
opportunity to see this 10-minute presentation. I think it will give
a picture of poverty and let you realize that it is very necessary to
have a summer lunch program.

Another thing that makes you know it is very necessary and
very appreciated is the smiles and the looks of the children when
they receive the lunch.

Thank you very much.
Mr. GREEN. [presiding] Thank you, Ms. Ford.
[The prepared statement of Nancy Ford follows:]

STATEMENT OF NANCY FORD, EDUCATION SPECIALIST, SUMMER FOOD SERVICE
PROGRAM FOR CHILDREN, DELAWARE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION

Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Representatives. My name is Nancy Ford and I
work with the Delaware Department of Public Instruction. I am very pleased to be
here this morning to talk about the Summer Food Service Program for Children,
and some of the changes I think should be made to better serve the Nation's chil-
dren.

The Summer Food Service Program for Children is a very important program It
is designed to feed needy children a high quality, nutritious meal while school is
closed. It follows children wherever they are in the summer .. to parks, recreation
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programs, playgrounds, enrichment programs such as the Upward Bound Program
or the National Youth Sports Program. It even follows needy children into their
communities, be they urban or rural for the purpose of providing them nutritious
aasistance.

There are 13.2 million children who, during the school year, depend upon the free
and reduced price Lunch and Breakfast Programs. It is necessary that they continue
to receive this nutritional assistance throughout the summer. Many of these chil-
dren would go hungry without the Summer Food Program.

I'm proud of our record in Delaware. Our participation record is almost five times
the national average. But I'm sorry to have to tell you that last year only 15 percent
of our Nation's children participating in the free and reduced School Lunch Pro-
gram participated in the Summer Food Program.

We can do better as a Nation. We have to do much more to recruit sponsors to
operate feeding sites. I have several suggestions that I'm submitting to you in writ-
ing on how to expand participation while maintaining accountability in the Summer
Food Program. For now I would like to specifically address six or seven of those rec-
ommendations.

1. CHANGE THE CRITERION TO OPEN A FEEDING SITE BY REDUCING
FROM 50 TO 40 THE REQUIRED PERCENTAGE OF FREE AND REDUCED
PRICE SCHOOL LUNCH CHILDREN IN THE AREA.

There are two ways to document a feeding site eligible for the Summer Food Pro-
gram. An enrolled site, an enclosed program with a roster, is one in which 50 per-
cent of the children have been individually documented to be eligible for a summer
lunch using free and reduced price school information.

An open site is one in which 50 percent of the children in an area are eligible. The
documentation for an open site is obviously much easier. In fact about 90 percent of
all participating children are in open sites. Any effort to expand Summer Food par-
ticipation must be focused on area documentation for open site eligibility.

Initially, 33% percent was the criterion, but that percentage was increased to 50
percent in 1981. As a result of that change many poor children are denied the op-
portunity to participate in Summer Food because they do not live in large pockets of
poverty. This is especially true in rural areas and newer cities whose neighborhoods
are not as economically segregated as they are in older cities. Also, a school district
may be serving many low income children that don't comprise half of the school's
population.

Many people want to restore the 33V3 percent criteria, because it would make
more children eligible. I certainly do not oppose restoring the 331/2 criteria. I chose
40 percent primarily because it is the criteria for severe need in the School Break-
fast Program. I want us to standardize regulations for school nutrition programs
and Summer Food as much as possible to encourage the participation of schools as
Summer Food sponsors.

We have only a rough estimate of how many children would be affected by this
change, but there is little doubt that we could do nothing else that would have as
much impact as this change on expanding to reach more of our hungry children. El
understand that USDA has asked the Census Bureau for a cost estimate for doing a
tabulation that would tell us precisely how many children could be brought into the
program as a result of lowering the criterion from 50 to 40 percent. If USDA does
order the tabulation the data would be available by September].
2. ELIMINATE THE SPECIAL RESTRICTIONS ON PRIVATE NONPROFIT
SPONSORS

As you know private nonprofit organizations were fully restored as potential
Summer Food Program sponsors in 1989 in order to increase the number of feeding
sites available to poor children. However, special restrictions were placed upon pri-
vate nonprofits at that time.

There are limits on the number of sites a nonprofit sponsor may operate, as well
as the number of children at each site. There is a prohibition against contracting
food services from commercial vendors. Heavier monitoring is required. There is a
one-year wait required before a private nonprofit sponsor can pick up a feeding site
dropped by another sponsor. And private nonprofits are last on the list of priorities
when a decision is being made on which type of sponsor will operate a feeding site.

These restrictions have served as barriers to participation by discouraging private
nonprofits from taking on sponsorship of Summer Food and have also encouraged a
bias against private nonprofits among some of my colleagues in other States. In my
own somewhat limited experience in Delaware, private nonprofits perform about
the same as other sponsors of the same size and experience. A Government Account-
ing Office study issued in 1991 has confirmed my own observations. I don't see any
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reason that private nonprofits should receive any different treatment than other
sponsors of the same size and experience.
3. ESTABLISH A STARTUP GRANT PROGRAM FOR DEVELOPMENT OF NEW
SITES

The proposal would be for USDA to make available to States money to provide
$1,000 for each net gain of one new site [total new sites minus lost sites), with a
maximum of $2,500/sponsor, to help a sponsor defray the developmental costs for
starting feeding sites after the sponsor has been approved by the State. The sponsor
would have to make a two-year commitment to operate the site to receive the grant.

The startup grant program has been very successful in expanding the School
Breakfast Program and could be a real incentive for sponsors to develop new sites
and expand participation of children.
4. COMBINE THE ADMINISTRATION AND OPERATION RATES WITH A MAX-
IMUM OF 15 PERCENT OF TOTAL EXPENDITURES GOING TO ADMINISTRA-
TION

Currently sponsors are reimbursed up to $2.0425/lunch for operating costs and up
to $0.195 for administrative costs. Operating costs are those incurred in the prepara-
tion and distribution of the food. Administrative costs are those incurred in the
management of the program such as office expenses, administrative salaries, and in-
surance.

The separate rates system was designed to prevent too large a portion of costs
going to administration and not enough going to the service of high quality meals to
the children. In calculating reimbursement, sponsors receive either the maximum
rate I just mentioned or actual costwhichever is less.

Currently for most sponsors the reimbursement is less than their actual costs. For
those who do spend less than the rate allowed it is almost always in the operational
costs category. Combining the rates would give sponsors more flexibility in allocat-
ing costs and a better chance to break even financially, while maintaining protec-
tion against too much money going to administrative costs.
5. ESTABLISH A SEPARATE RATE/CHILD FOR RURAL TRANSPORTATION
OF UP TO $0.75/CH1LD, OR ACITAL COST WHICHEVER IS LESS

Currently the two major barriers to increased participation in rural areas are: [1]
the 50 percent requirement for open area sites which I've already discussed and rec-
ommended lowering to at least 40 percent, and [2] the lack of money for transporta-
tion.

Obviously children are more scattered in rural areas. Getting to a feeding site is
problematic for low-income children in these areas. It is also expensive for sponsors
to get the food to and operate. In the State of Delaware we are using a "mobile" site
to serve some rural sites that do not have the sanitary conditions for meal consump-
tion. [This being no septic systems or no area where eating can take place.] The
"mobile" site, a bus that children board just to eat, is costing $70/day and services
400 children during the meal service hours.

While I'm sympathetic to the argument that we should not spend more on rural
children than urban childrenand make no mistake about it, providing rural trans-
portation is expensiveproviding no transportation means very little participation
in rural areas.
6. INCREASE THE STATE ADMINISTRATIVE BUDGET BY GUARANTEEING
EACH STATE $35,000 AND BY INCREASING TO 3 THE PERCENTAGE OF
PROGRAM MONEY ABOVE $400,000 ALLOCATED P9R STATE ADMINISTRA-
TION

In many States there is not enough administrative money to hire a full-time
Summer Food Specialist. To successfully expand the program we must have a full-
time person. Currently the formula for administrative money is based upon decreas-
ing the percentage of administrative funding as program money spent in the State
increases. [Program money means the money going to sponsors to feed the children.]
For all program money going to a State above $400,000, 21/2 percent is allocated for
administration. If we expanded that to 3 percent it would generate more administra-
tive money for a full-time specialist, while serving as an incentive for expansion.

The obvious question that this proposal raises is why w. need a full-time staff
person when the program only operates in the summer. It is true that the Summer
Food Program operates primarily in the months of June, July, and August. Howev-
er, this fast-paced program is governed by all of the USDA regulatory requirements
that apply to the other child nutrition programs, and then some. The Summer Food
Program must be geared up and put in place each year. Th,refore, there is no lull
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in our activities during the year. To illustrate this point, let me detail for you the
highlights of a year's schedule:
Summer monthsProgram in operation
FallReports on the summer's activities and assisting sponsors with the closeout of
the financial and program reports.
DecemberState work plan is prepared and submitted to USDA
JanuaryOutreach process is put in place, with the presentations, advertisements
and news releases
FebruaryNotification of food service management companies [the vendors] of
their application process
February-AprilApproval process for vendors, including inspections and licensing,
to develop list of approved vendors for sponsors
AprilTraining for all sponsors and vendors
May 6Sponsor applications due with review and notification of approval no later
than June
May-JuneHiring and training part-year staff to help supervise and monitor the
summer program.

In short, it's a great program, but it needs the full-time annual attention of at
least one full-time person.
7. OTHER LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY RECOMMENDATIONS

I have several other suggestions for legislative changes that I will submit to the
subcommittee in writing, as well as a number of regulatory and policy changes. I
am also aware of your time constraints and I will conclude my comments here. Just
let me say once again thank you for giving me this opportunity to speak with you
and I will be happy to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. GREEN. Our next witness is Lisa Hamler-Podolski.
Ms. HAMLER-PODOLSKL Podolski.
Mr. GREEN. I am okay with Hispanic names from Texas, it is the

ones from the north central
Ms. HAMLER-PODOLSKI. My name is Lisa Hamler-Podolski and I

serve in the capacity of the statewide community food and nutri-
tion outreach coordinator for the Ohio Hunger Task Force.

I would like to thank Chairman Kildee, Representative Good ling
and inambers of the Subcommittee on Elementary, Secondary and
Vocational Education of the Committee on Education and Labor
for the opportunity to come to you today and speak about the
School Breakfast Program.

The Ohio Hunger Task Force has been involved in numerous
child nutrition programs over the course of our 22-year history. We
have a mission which clearly states we are in place to eliminate
hunger in the State of Ohio. Unfortunately, our job has grown
much larger.

We are involved not only in direct feeding programs, but as well
education and outreach, expanding other child nutrition programs.
We currently feed over 10,000 children and in over half of the 88
counties in Ohio are in family daycare homes. This is a chi9 nutri-
tion program of the Child and Adult Care Food Program.

We also provide evening meals in the Outside School Hours Meal
Program, also another program of the child and adult food care
program, to over 500 low-income children up through age 12 in con-
junction with educational and recreational activities.

Much about the child nutrition reauthorization programs that
you will hear are very important to us and Linda will address
during her presentation cf the child and adult care food programs.

Two years ago, the Ohio Hunger Task Force embarked on a
statewide effort to expand the School Breakfast Program. We know
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that hungry children do not learn. Our efforts have resulted in the
new passage of legislation that will provide additional State dollars
to the breakfast program.

I am here today to share with you our experiences and offer sug-
gestions in four areas that could further facilitate expansion of the
School Breakfast Program on a nationwide basis.

The first area is funding of nationwide pilots for universal break-
fast programs in elementary schools where 60 percent or more of
the children are eligible to receive free or reduced priced meals.
The second area is reauthorization at a level of $5 million annually
of the Federal school breakfast start-up grants.

Our third area of concern is the elimination of the cost account-
ing regulations that are mandated for severe need reimbursements.
And the fourth is reinstatement of the School Food Service Equip-
ment Assistance Program that was eliminated in 1981.

I have supplied to you, along with copies of my testimony, an im-
plementation and expansion guide which we developed in the State
of Ohio to distribute to teachers, school food service personnel and
administrators who have the power to make the determination
about whether this program will be implemented or expanded in
your areain their areas.

I encourage you to refer to this implementation and expansion
guide if you have any questions about how the current program op-
erates. Numerous studies, as Chairman Kildee said, have docu-
mented the direct relationship between eating a nutritious break-
fast and the increased educational achievements.

The reverse is true as well, as Chairman Kildee pointed out
Children who begin the day without breakfast demonstrated a
steady decline in their attention during the late morning hours and
negative attitudes towards their schoolwork, also a drop in scholas-
tic achievement.

Many studies have come forth also further documenting that
participation by low-income students is associated with significant
improvements in standardized achievement test scores, reduced
tardiness rates, and tended toward improvement in absenteeism.

I would like to share with you one of the Ohio school district's
experiences in piloting a universal breakfast program. Hamilton
City school district is located in Butler County, a very rural, de-
pressed county. Currently about 75 percent of their students are el-
igible to receive free or reduced priced meals. Unfortunately, many
of the children are too embarrassed to participate.

The school food service director, feeling a need to further expand
the program and reduce the stigma that was attached to the pro-
gram, decided to implement a 1-month universal pilot breakfast
program. She felt. that the current breakfast program had been
cast as a welfare program and many administrators in the district
viewed the program only for the needy and neglected children

The fundamental goals behind implementing this universal
breakfast program was a desire to eliminate stigma of the program
and the determination to implement a fair and just program that
all students would feel good participating in.

Faced with overwhelming obstacles and barriers, the school food
service director applied for and received a nutrition education
training grant program. The elementary school, Van Buren, would
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provide a free meal to all students who chose to participate. Van
Buren had been operating a School Breakfast Program for many
years in compliance with Ohio's State school breakfast mandate,
but only around 100 of the 400 students were participating in the
program on an average day, although 67 percent of the students
enrolled were eligible.

Van Buren's principal of 14 years knew that nutritious meals
before classes by students had direct results on their performance.
They performed better and he welcomed the opportunity to imple-
ment the program.

At the end of the first week of operation, the results were star-
tling. Participation had increased by over 100 percent. The teach-
ers were seeing a big difference in their students. Students partici-
pating in the program were more alert and ready to learn than
those who were not participating.

As the cost of the program was evaluated, it was determined that
the program was not operating as aat a deficit as had been an-
ticipated. Participation, again, had increased within the first week
by over 100 percent. It eliminated the stigma, therefore many of
the children who were already eligible to participate free were now
involved in the program.

What we did find out is although the program was open to all
children, only about eight children a day who would have normally
paid were participating in the program. The remaining increase,
again, came from those who were already eligible to receive the
subsidized meals.

Why is this so important? That was in October of 1992. What we
have found after implementing this universal breakfast program,
which has now been expanded to eight of the other 13eight of the
other 13 elementary schools that achievement test scores have sky-
rocketed. Test scores for fourth graders noted that 57 percent of
the students ranked in the top 50 percent nationwide compared to
only 29 percent in the previous school year. This was in reading
comprehension.

In language arts, 59 percent of the students ranked in the top 50
percent nationwide compared to only 23 percent in the previous
year. I would say that alone is a reason to explore universal break-
fast programs.

School breakfast just makes good sense. Students that are happy
and content and are more prepared to learn. They aren't sitting in
their morning classes with their stomachs growling, waiting for
lunch. Response to their program has been favorable. Not only has
the community come forth and rallied around with support of the
program, but parents statedmany of them stated that they knew
that their children were already eligible to participate free or at a
reduced cost, but their children chose to go without a meal rather
than risk being seen in the cafeteria participating in the program.

Children don't want their friends and their teachers to know
that their families are receiving food stamps or on public assist-
ance. These are the hard choices that children are making, choos-
ing to go hungry in order to salvage their pride and their dignity.
Teachers reported a big difference in their students.

The children were more settled and ready to learn. They were no
longer sending children to the nurse's office because they were
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hungry. This caused a large disruption in the classrooms and also
further embarrassed the children. Principals stated that children
were less disruptive and there were fewer disciplinary problems
than before. Stomachaches and headaches were virtually eliminat-
ed as the program was implemented.

Again, the commitment of just one person brought this about.
Her name is Linda Vaupel. This effort has blossomed into a dis-
trictwide effort. If Linda were here today, she would say one thing
to you, as a Nation, we cannot afford to neglect a generation of
children and let them fall through the cracks and holes of govern-
ment regulations and rules that are antiquated and punitive.

These children are our future and they will be caring for us and
our grandchildren some day. Planning again is currently underway
to expand the program to the district's remaining elementary
schools, which brings me to my second subject, the Federal school
breakfast start-up grants.

Hamilton City schools will be able to expand this program be-
cause they received Federal school breakfast start-up grants. Un-
fortunately, tens of thousands of other schools across this Nation
will not be so fortunate. This authorization has expired. Without
this authorization, there will be limited growth of this program in
future years.

Federal school breakfast start-up grants have been available on a
competitive basis since its passage in 1989. Grants permit schools
to purchase critically needed equipment, to support preparation of
the additional meals service. It also allows local school food service
authorities to do local community outreach and promotion of the
special programsof the new program, all of which are critical to
maintaining a successful program.

In return, the school must agree to operate the progi am for a
period of 3 years. In Ohio, what has it meant to us? It has meant
$232,000 of Federal school breakfast start-up grants have been re-
ceived by schools in our State. During the fourth round, 14 new
programs were started.

What does it mean when the school doors open for the 1993-1994
school year? That children in 54 buildings in our State will now
have access to a breakfast program. Again, without Federal fund-
ing to support new breakfast programs, it is unlikely that school
districts or State legislatures will have additional revenues to con-
tinue this expansion effort.

The third area of concern that has restricted widespread growth
of the program are the cost accounting regulations mandated for
severe need reimbursements in the breakfast program. Currently
the national school lunch program operates on a different account-
ing principle and requirements, allowing schools that qualify for
severe need to receive the full reimbursement.

However, current breakfast program regulations require schools
to document through costlycost accounting procedures and prac-
tices what their actual per meal costs are. Reimbursements are
then paid at the actual per meal cost, not at the higher reimburse-
ment rate as with the National School Lunch Program.

Food service directors shy away from this program due to the
two-tier reimbursement system currently in place. Most school food
service directors will quickly add that unless the restrictions and
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requirements are changed, they aren't interested in implementing
this program. They won't take any chances that might jeopardize
their lunch programs by placing additional burdens on equipment
that is currently held together in many cases with tape and wire,
which brings me to my fourth point.

Again, numerous directors have stressed that the breakfast pro-
gram is desperately needed for children in their schools, but equip-
ment, much of it 30 to 40 years old, would not hold up under the
additional demands of the increased meal service. Directors report
that equipment is extremely expensive to repair because parts are
no longer available and replacement often requires very costly tool-
ing, manufacturing procedures, or modifying other parts to fit cur-
rent existing equipment.

Reinstatement of the School Food Service Equipment Assistance
Program would have an immediate impact on the expansion of the
School Breakfast Program by addressing this equipment shortage.

In closing, I would like to reiterate the following School Break-
fast Program recommendations for consideration in the 1994 Child
Nutrition Reauthorization Act: One, funding of a nationwide pilot
of universal breakfast programs in elementary schools where 60
percent or more of the children receive free or reduced price meals;
reauthorization of the Federal breakfast start-up grants at a level
of $5 million annually, elimination of the cost accounting regula-
tions mandated for severe need breakfast reimbursements, and re-
instatement of the School Food Service Equipment Assistance Pro-
gram.

Thank you for permitting me the opportunity to speak to you
concerning the breakfast program.

In concluding, the tools exist to preveni, childhood hunger. There
is no reason that we as a country should be mortgaging our chil-
dren's futures by allowing proven programs to go underutilized
and/or underfunded. The chi:i who cannot learn because he is
hungry, the child who cannot concentrate on her stomachexcuse
me, cannot concentrate on her studies because she is concentrating
on her stomach are waiting for the answer.

I hope the answer is one of hope. I would also like to conclude by
asking you to picture this: You have just left for school, your stom-
ach begins to growl, you feel a little weak, your stomach hurts, you
are overcome with nausea.

You arrive at school and sink down at your desk feeling sick and
scared. You lay your head on the desk. The cool surface against
your face has a soothing effect as you fali asleep. Lunchtime ar-
rives. Your hunger will at last be satisfied, or will it? You stop and
wonder, what will my friends say, what will they think? What will
they say about my family?

You are poor and everyone will know. Will you step to the cafe-
teria counter being forced to compromise your pride and dignity
when you present your lunch card? Your card is clearly different.
Other students are paying for their food. No, you decide no, I can't
go in there. I don't want others to see me use this card. Lunchtime
ends.

You head to your afternoon classes. You can't concentrate, you
have a headache. School is out, heading for home, all you can do is
think about food, Your stomach begins to growl. Reaching your
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house, you know that there isn't much in the refrigerator, no goo-
dies stashed away in the cupboard. Welcome to your world. Always
hungry in the morning, at lunchtime, after school, hoping to have
just something for dinner.

Your only hope of escape is your education. It is being compro-
mised. Unable to concentrate, your grades fall. Your education, the
foundation of your future, is slipping away. Millions of children are
waiting for an answer. We hope it is one of hope and justice.

Thank you.
Mr. GREEN. Thank you for your testimony.
[The prepared statement of Lisa Hamler-Podolski follows:]
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A participant at an anti-hunger conference told the story of a staff
member who tried to explain the problem of hunger to an elementary

school class, and who got a lesson in it himself.

To introduce the subject, the man asked the children how many had

eaten breakfast that morning. As he anticipated, only a few of them

raised their hands.

So he continued, "How many of you skipped breakfast this morning

because you don't like breakfast?" Lots of hands went up.

"And how many of you skipped breakfast because you didn't have time

for it?" Many other hands went up.

He was pretty sure by then why the remaining children hadn't eaten.

but he didn't want to ask them about poverty, so he asked, "How many

of you skipped breakfast because your family just doesn't usually eat

breakfast?" A few more hands were raised.

Then he noticed a small boy in the middle of the classroom, whose

hand had never gone up. Thinking the boy hadn't understood, he
asked, "Why didn't you eat breakfast this morning?"

The boy replied, his face serious: "It wasn't my turn."

-
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Testimony on 1994 Child Nutrition Reauthorization
School Breakfast Program

July 21, 1993

Chairman Kildee, Representative Goodling and members of the Elementary, Secondary and
Vocational Education Subcommittee, of the Education and Labor Committee. Thank you for inviting me here
today and providing the opportunity to shed light on the tra. of chidhood hunger. My name is Lisa Hamler-
Podolski, I serve in the capacity of Statewide Cornmunity and Nutrition Program Coordinator for the Ohio
Hunger Task Force (OHTF). Ohio Hunger Task Force is a private, not-for-profit, anti-hunger organization, with
the mission to eliminate hunger from the State of Ohio.

Ohio Hunger Task Force is proud to serve as the Ohio coordinator for the Campaign to End
Childhood Hunger, a national campaign launched in 1991 by the Food Research and Action Center of
Washington, DC. The Campaign to End Chikhood is the most ambitious, sustained and coordinated effod ever
undertaken to eliminate hunger in the United States. The fundamental premise of the Campaign is that
childhood hunger can be virtually eliminated in this country by strengthening an array of nutrition programs
already in place, including WIC, School Breakfast, Summer Food Service Program for Children, Child and
Adult Care Food Program and the Food Stamp Program.

Ohio Hunger Task Force is one of relatively few organizations nationally that provides both direct
feeding programs and hunger education and advocacy. Ohio Hunger Task Force is the states largest sponsors
of the Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) in Family Day Care homes. Each day in over half of
Ohio's 88 counties, about 3,000 family day care providers feed an average of 10,000 children, the majority of
whom are from low income families.

Our After School Meals Program, also a program of CACFP, serves nutritious meals to an average of
500 low-hcome children through age 12, in conjunction with approved educational and recreational program,
after school, on holidays, and during the surrmer months.

Two years ago, we embarked on expanding Ohio's School Breakfast Program, to ensure that more
low-income children start the school day ready to learn. Our efforts have resulted in passage of new legislation
that will provide additional state funding to the breakfast program.

I am here today to share with you our experiences and to offer suggestions in four areas that would
facilitate expansion of the School Breakfast Program nationwide.

The following recommendations for the 1994 Child Nutrition Reauthorization are as follows:

1. Funding of nationwide pilots of 'Universal School Breakfast Programs" in elementary
schools where 60% or more of the students receive free or reduced price school
meals.

2. Reauthorization of the Federal School Breakfast Start-up Grant Program at a level of
$5 million on an annual basis.

3. Elimination of cost accounting regulations mandated for 'severe need' breakfast
reimbursements.

4. Reinstatement of the School Food Service Equipment Assistance Program that was
eliminated in 1981.
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I have provided to you today along with my written testimony, Breakfast-Fundamental to a Good
Education, A Guide to Implementing and Expanding the School Breakfast Program in Ohio produced by the
Ohio Hunger Task Force. 'This guide will assist you in understanding why we as a nation must ensure that
children who arrive hungry at school each day, are fed.

Numerous studies have docixnented the positive relationship between eating a nutritious breakfast and
increased educational achievement. The reverse of this is true as well. Children who begin their school day
without breakfast demonirated a steady decline it attention during the late morning hours, a negative attitude
toward their school work, and a drop in scholastic achievement.

A recent study conducted in 1987 by reseamhers from the Boston University School of Medicine in
Lawrence, Massachusetts, showed that School Breakfast Program participation by low-income students is
associated with siglificant improvement in standardized achievement test scores, significant reduced tardiness,
and a trend toward improvement in absenteeism. The Lawrence study compared test scores of children in o
year when their school had no breakfast program to scores of the same students in the following year whin
they participated in the newly initiated breakfast program. The fndings of these studes are strong arguments to
support the tact that a nutritious breakfast would assist every student in their daily learning process.

I would like to share with you one Ohio school districts success story of providing a Pilot Universal
Breakfast Program and the direct resutts that were achieved.

Hamilton City Schools is the 15th largest district in our state. This district has a high percentage of
students who are eligible to receive free and reduced priced meals. School officials reported that about 75% of
the eligble students were bypassing the breakfast program, because they were too entarrassed to participate.

Linda Vaupel, Food Service Director for the Butler County district, saw that many children and their
parents felt stigmated by accepting free or reduced price meals available through the School Breakfast
Program. She felt that the program had become cast as a "welfare program, and many administrators
viewed the program as a service only for the needy and neglected children.

The foundation on which the districts Universal Breakfast Programs were started was;

the desire to eliminate the stigma associated with the program and;

the determhation to implement a fair and just program that all students would feel good participating in.

Lnda, faced with an overwhelming challenge, applied br a Nutrition Education Training Grant, to fund a
month long Universal Breakfast Program. This pilot project at Van Buren Elementary School would provide a
tree meal to all students who chose to participate, regardless of their eigibiky.

Van Buren had been operating a breakfast program for many years in compliance with Ohio's School
Breakfast Mandate, but less than 100 of the schools 400 students were particpating in the program each day,
although 67% of the students qualified for subsidized meals.

Van Buren's Principal knew that students who eat a nutritious meal before classes began, perforated
better in school and he welcomed the opportunity to get additional students invotved in the program. Cafeteria
personnel and teachers worked together to promote the program and encouraged students to participate.

At the end of the first week of operating the Universal Breakfast Program, the teachers were seeing a
big difference in their students. Students participating in the pibt project were more alert and ready to start the
day, than those who were not participating.
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As Vaupel evaluated the cost of the universal program, she found that the program was not operatng
at a deficit as she had anticipated. Van Buren's participation increased by 100% in the first week of operation.
Implementing the Universal Program eliminated the stigma that had kept many of the children eligble to receive
free and reduced priced meals from participating in the program, the increased paidpation reduced the schools
per meal cost allowing the program to operate more cost effectively. The program served only about 8 children
per day that would have normally paid, the remaking increase came from students who were already eligble to
receive subskized meals.

As the end of the month long project neared, Linda asked the principal 'how will I tell all the students
who have been participating, that the Universal Program will be ending?"You won't, was his reply, 'what ever
it takes to keep this program free to all students who choose to participate, can and will be done.'

That was in October of 1992, today this 'can do" attitude has expanded the Universal Breakfast
Program to eight of the districts thirteen elementary schools.

Why, you might ask, has this district chosen to undertake such a massive expansion effort without any
additional federal support or benefit of paper work reductions? One of the fundamental reasons, Van Buren
Elementary Standardized Achievement Test Scores skyrocketed after the school implemented ifs Universal
Breakfast Program. The percentage of the schools fourth and sbdh-grade students scoring n the top 50 percent
nationwide increased significantly.

Test scores of the fourth graders reported:
57% of the students ranked in the top 50% nationwide in reading compared to only 29% in the
previous school year, and

59% of the students ranked in the top 50% nationwide in Language Arts compared to only
23% in the previous school year.
(See attached test scores and newspaper article).

School Breakfast just makes good sense! Students that participate are happy, content and more
prepared to learn. They aren't sitting in their morning classes with stomachs growling waiting for lunch.
Feedback from parents to the Universal Breakfast Program has been favorable, many reported that their
children are now eager to get to school early to participate in the program with their peers. Many other parenia
stated that they knew their children were eligble to participate free or at a small cost, but remarked that their
children would rather go without the meal, than risk being seen in the cafeteria participating in the program.
Children just don't want their friends knowing that their famity is receiving food stamps or are on public
assistance. in addition, positive coverage by the local media has helped raise commily awareness about the
availabilly of the program and featured stories throushout the school year.

The benefits to the district have been numerous. Teachers report they have seen a big difference in
their classrooms, many say that the children are more settled and ready to learn. Other said they no longer
have to send children down to the cafeteria for a snack because they are hungry. Prior to the universal program
implementation, this was a common occurrence, which disrupted the class and embarrassed the children.
Principals were pleased with the results of the program, stating there are less discipline problems and fewer
children brought to the nurses office each morning blecause of stomachaches and headaches. Other benefits
included passage of an operating levy (the first one to pass in over seven attempts on the ballot).
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The commitment of one person, Linda Vaupel started this effort that has blossomed into a districtwide

effort. lf Linda were here today, she would proclaim to you 'as a nation we can't afford to neglect ageneration

of children and let them fall through the cracks and holes of government regulations and rules that are
antiquated and punitive. These children are our future and wit be caring for us and our grandchDdren some dar.

Planning is currently underway to eiqoand the breakfast program to the districts remainingelementary

schools. The district has recehred a Federal School Breakfast Start-up Grant to fund expansion effortsduring

the 1993-94 school year.

Unfortunately this authorization has expired, which relates to our second area of concern. Without this
reauthorization, tens of thousands of schools throughout this nation will not have the opportunity to initiate new
programs through utlization of this grant program in the comng years.

Federal School Breakfast Start-up Grants have been available on a competitive basis to schools sense
it's passage in 1989, (Public Law 101-147, the Child Nutrition and WIC Amendments of 1989). Grants permitted

schools to purchase critically needed equipment to support preparation of the addrtional meal, localcommunity

oatreach and promotion of the new programs - all of which are required to execute and maintain successful
prugrams. In return, schools must agree to operate the program for a period of three years.

Ohio's state agency (Ohio Department of Education, Division of School Food Service) submitted
proposals in both rounds four and five and received Federal School Breakfast Start-up Grants totaling
$232,000. Round four funding started 14 programs, round five will permit 54 new programs to begn starting with
the 93-94 school year. Reauthorization of the breakfast grant program is critical to any future growth and

expansion of the School Breakfast Program. Without federal funding to support new breakfast programs it is

unlikely that school districts or states legislatures will have additional revenues to continue the expansion
efforts.

The third problem area that has restricted widespread growth of the program are the cost accounting
regulations mandated for 'severe need breakfast program reimbursements. Currently the National School
Lunch Program operates on different accounting principals and requirements, allowing all schools that qualify
for 'severe need' reimbursements (60% or more of the participating students are eligible to receive tree or
reduced price meals) to receive the higher established rate. However current breakfast program regulations
require schools to document through burdensome cost accountng pracfices what are the actual per meal costs.
Reimbursements are then paid at that actual per meal cost, not at the higher established rate. Food service
directors shy away from the program due to this two tier reintursement system.

Most of these directors quickly add that unless the requirements are changed they aren't interested in
the program. They won't take any chances that might jeopardize their lunch programs by placing additional
burdens on equipment that is currently held together m some cases with wire and tape.

73-484 0 93 4
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This leads us to the fourth area of concern. Numerous directors have stressed that the breakfast
program is desperately needed by the children in their schools, but equipment, much of it 0 to 40 years old
wouid not hold up under the demand of increased meal services. Directors reported that equipment is extremely
expensio to repair because parts are no longer available and replacement often requires parts to be tooled
through costly manufacturing procedures or modifying others to fit Reinstatement of the School Food Service
Equipment Assistance Program would have a immediate impact on the expansion of the School Breakfast
Program by ackiressing this equipment shortage.

In closing, I would like to reiterated the following School Breakfast Program recommendations for
consideration in the 1994 Child Nutrition Reauthorization:

1. Funding of nationwide pilots of "Universal School Breakfast Programs" in
elementary schools where 60% or more of the students receive free or reduced
price school meals.

2. Reauthorization of the Federal School Breakfast Start-up Grant Program at a
level of $5 million on an annual basis.

3. Elimination of cost accounting regulations mandated for "severe need" breakfast
reimbursements.

4. Reinstatement of the School Food Service Equipment Assistance Program

Thank you for permitting me this opportunity to speak to you concerning the breakfast program In
concluding, the tools exist to prevent childhood hunger, there is no reason we should be mortgaging our
children's future by allowing proven programs to go under utilized and under funded. The child who cannot learn
because he is hungry, the child who cannot concentrate on her studies because she is concentrating on her
stomadi are waiting for an answer.

The answer should be one of hope.

When we as adults look back on our school years we, for the most part see happy memories and
pleasant times, the mystery of teaming, being accepted by teachers and classmates, and being supported at
home. If on each of these counts we know children are suffering and, we know we can do something about
elirninathg their pain, then it is our resporisbility to make the change.

Testimony provided by Lisa HamlerPodolski, Coondinator
Community Food and Nutntion Program

Ohio Hunger Task Force
181 East LMngston Ave,
Columbus, Oho 43215

614341.77C0
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Journal-News Bulls, County, Ohio Saturday, May 22, 1993

Food for thought

Resod St.rUeume...ows

war Boron Elementary stuoents (from WO Chris and Ryan Works, Michael Liver and Kevin Alberti:. 0,05 up thee breakfast in a new program
offers free Omaldest toe!' students Test scores at the school have skyrocketed since the program oegan in October

School breakfasts making sense
Students test scores increase after start of free meal program
By Michael J. Shearer
Jeemar.N.w.

HAMILTON

Anyone who doubts that breakfast is the
most important meal of the day may want
to rise nano:tun s Van Buren Elementary
School

.kchievement test SCOreS nt the East
Side elementary seyrocketed this year Elf.
ter Van Buren became the first Ohio
school to olTer a free hot breakfast to every
student Some fourth.grade test scores
amped 21. percent te 43 percent from one

LYae

year ago
Principal Michael Former credited the

free breakfasts with giving his students
enough fuel to work through the entire
school day.

In the past. eligible students Tefused
free breakfasts because of a stigma at.
tached to handouts When eveev child eats
for free. there's no stigma and almost ev.
eryone eats

'''Thnt insured that we don't have kids
sitting there with empty stomachs."
Farmer said -Thes go into class ready to
sit ond lenrn

With children more prepared for class,
Van Buren s teachers wem able to com.
plete more productive instruction with
students, he said

'Teachers looked at the areas we were
deficient Fernier said -They really
cenceet rated on what should be taught
we did no: have kids not ready tn. learn
hecausi of environmental factors

Although attendance figures are not yet
available. Farmer said he strongly sus.

1Plesse see BREAKFASTS,
Page AB)

Q.8
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Breakfasts
(Continued from Pogo One)

petits the breakfast program at-
tracted more children to show
up every day. Van Buren also
worked with parents to stress
the importance of attendance
and testing, Farmer said.

think all of these items
helped our test scores," he said.
"They went up considerably."

Van Buren's success this year
delighted Hamilton City School
District Superintendent Janet
Baker, who approved the pro-
gram after reviewing a proposal
Mst fall from Director of Food
Services Linda Vaupel.

"Van 13uren's growth was as
significant if not more
than any other school in the &s-
trict: Baker said. "I'm proud of
them efforts, their willingness
(to take a risk) and their inno-
vation."

After debuting at Van Buren
in October, Hamilton expanded
the universal breakfast pro-
gram in January to seven other
elementary schools, including
Adams. Buchanan, Harrison,
Jefferson, Lincoln, Madison and
Pierce. Vaupel plans to add
Grant Elementary this fall

along with offering low-cast
bresldists sit all four secondary
schools.

Students took achievement
tests in January so district offi-
cials cannot determine the im-
pact of ths breakfast programs
in the seven additional schools.
Test scores in nine of Hamil-
ton's 13 elementaries increased
this year. Director of Assess-
merit and Information Manage-
ment Lon Stealer said.

Van Buren's increases were
significant because they ex-
ceeded traditional year-to-year
score changes due to different
classes, he said.

"They really shot up," he said.
"It was a reel delight to eee
them go up."

Van Buren's story may help
other food service directors
across Ohio convince superin-
tendents to adopt a free break-
fast program. said Vaupel, who
recently testified in the Ohio
House of Representatives about
the program.

"They can't get a paid break-
fast program let alone a free
program," she said 'They can't
believe I was allowed to do

this."
At Van Buren, the percentage

of fourthtand sixth-grade stu-
dents scoring in the top 60 per-
cent nationwide increased sig-
nificantly.

In fourth grade. 67 percent of
students ranked in the top 50
percent in reading nomPared to
29 percent in 1991-92. In lan-
guage, the percentage in the top
50 percent increased from 60
percent to 29 percent In math,
the percentage dropped from 32
percent to 30 percent Overall,
the pertentage of fourth-grade
students scoring in the top 50
percent jumped from 28 percent
to 49 percent.

In Sixth grade, .12 percent of
students ranked In the top 60
percent in reading compared to
44 percent in 1991-92. In lan-
guage, however, the percentage
in the top 50 percent increased
from 39 percent to 56 percent.
In math, the percentage also in-
creased from 43 percent to 69
percent. Overall, the percentage
of sixth-grade students scoring
in the top 50 percent jumped
from 42 percent to 52 percent.
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Mr. GREEN. Congressman Mazzo li, before we introduce the next
witness, would you like to make a statement?

Mr. MAZZOLI. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much. I appreciate
your graciousness and the indulgence of the committee.

I would very much like to commend to your attention and that of
your colleagues on the committee the testimony that you will re-
ceive from this panel, but particularly from Linda Locke, who is
the Associate Director of the Community Coordinated Child Care
in Louisville, Kentucky, my home town and district. Linda, Daniel
Cleaver and others in the program and I worked very ardently 2 or
3 years ago on the bill that we call the ABC bill, the Act for Better
Childcare, and I think on that basis, Ms. Locke brings a very inter-
esting observation to your committee, Mr. Chairman, from her per-
spective of work really in the community and on the ground, and I
have scanned her testimony which will deal with increased access
to programs, broadening eligibility, reducing some of the adminis-
trative red tape.

So, Mr. Chairman, with that, I thank you for your recognizing
me and I wish Linda well and commend her testimony to you and
the committee.

Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Mazzo li.
Mr. GREEN. Our next witness is Linda Locke. Ms. Locke.
Ms. LOCKE. Thank you. Thank you very much and I appreciate

the kind words, and it certainly has been an honor to have worked
with you and with Mr. Kildee in the field hearing on the childon
the ABC bill several years ago.

Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, I am Linda Locke,
Assistant Director with Community Coordinated Child Care in Lou-
isville, Kentucky, and currently serve as Vice-President of the
Child and Adult Care Food Program Sponsors' Forum.

I want to thank you for the honor and privilege of appearing
today. This particular subcommittee and full committee has long
been a supporter and worked hard for children and child nutrition
programs. It has certainly been an honor over the years to work
with some of you and to see some of the successes in direct services
that we have had, and the children who have benefited from many
of the actions you have taken here on the subcommittee and within
Congress.

My testimony today is on behalf of the Child and Adult Care
Food Program Sponsors' Forum. There are approximately 10,000
CACFPs, as we are called, sponsors, serving 1.8 million children
every day.

The Child and Adult Care Food Program provides nutrition serv-
ices to two types of child care programs: Family child care and
center-based care. Head Start is considered part of the center-based
care program under the Child and Adult Care Food Program.

I would like to address four issues, two related to the family
child care portion of the program, two related to the center-based
program. Obviously there are more issues in my written testimony,
but I have chosen these to address.

First, I would like to address the family child care portion of the
nutrition program. Family child care is defined as the care of a
small group of children in the home of the caregiver. Nationally
those groups total six or fewer children. We are talking about very
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small groups of children. These are your neighborhood homes,
these are your relatives, these are you, friends who are providing .

care for children. These are residenu of public housing projects,
section 8, wherever they might be.

The Child and Adult Care Food Program has been a major factor
in establishing, developing and sustaining the Nation's family child
care system. The rason for this is that the CACFP requires homes
to meet State standards before the children in those homes may re-
ceive the benefits from the program.

Linked hand-in-hand, this has certainly facilitated the develop-
ment of family child care while at the same time assuring the chil-
dren receive the nutrition benefits they so need.

The issues that relate to family child care are as follows: The
first, we would allow family child care expansion funds in the
CACFP targeted for development of family child care in rural and
low-income areas to be used to assist homes with State licensure
requirements.

Currently expanding the program means that you are only able
to enroll a home that is eligible, i.e., has already met State stand-
ards. A recently released USDA study shows that use of these
funds to help eliminate barriers, i.e., State licensing, technical as-
sistance, so forth, brings in significant numbers of new low-income
and rural children.

We would suggest expanding the ability to use these grants for
up to 1 year and the funds for up to 100 homes, Our current statis-
tics show that 20 percent of the 4 million children in the Child and
Adult Care Food Program are participating. Eighty percent of the
children in family child care are not participating in this program,
so we suggest that this is a significant piece of getting more low-
income children into the program.

The second issue as related to family child care is to allow State-
approved foster care homes to participate in the Child and Adult
Care Food Program under the family child care portion of it. Chil-
dren in foster care are often at nutritional risk because of the
abuse, neglect they suffered.

However, a child living in a foster care home is only eligible for
Federal meal services if the child goes to school or if the child is in
child care. However, if the child were served in a residential child
caring institution, the child would receive federally-funded break-
fast and lunch year round.

We feel this is a significant area that needs to be looked at as we
look at reauthorization. We would be glad to explore this further
with you in further conversations as a State demonstration project.
Kentucky officials are very interested and we would be willing to
work with you in this area.

Moving on, I would like to address the issues that relate to
center-based programs. First is the issue of the for-profit sector. In
1989, two States were allowed demonstration projects to test allow-
ing for-profit centers to participate in the Child and Adult Care
Food Program if 25 percent of their enrolled children were low
income, i.e., qualified for free and reduced price lunch.
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The current statute allows for profit participation only if 25 per-
cent of the children are funded with Title XX funds. That statute
was written many years ago before the current flow of additional
Federal funds for child care and before the significant influx in
some States of local funds for child care.

For example, a for-profit center can have 80 percent of its chil-
dren eligible for free and reduced priced meals and not have the
ability for those children to receive child and adult food program
benefits because the children are not Title XX funded. Kentucky
and Iowa were the two State demonstration projects.

In Kentucky it has been very successful and in Iowa they have a
small number of homes, a small number of centers that are partici-
pating.

A couple of statistics for you: In April of this year there were
47,000 children in Kentucky in for-profit centers participating in
the Child and Adult Care Food Program, 57 percent of them eligi-
ble for free and reduced priced lunches.

The second issue I would like to address as related to the center-
based portion of the program is the continuation of the Homeless
Demonstration Project. This project is set to expire this year. We
would like to see it extended. There have been a number of find-
ings from this project which allowed children in homeless shelters
up to the age of 6 to participate in the Child and Adult Care Food
Program.

We have a demonstration project in Louisville and one in north-
ern Kentucky. Some of the first were in Pennsylvania and particu-
larly in rural Pennsylvania. A couple of problems have emerged
with the project. One is the limitation on the age of 6. Certainly
when children are there in the evening, weekends, summers, they
should be allowed certainly over the age of 6 to participate.

Secondly in discussions with USDA officials, they would like to
see the ability to test this under the family child care portion of
the Child and Adult Care Food Program. There are several reasons
for this.

One, there is significant paperwork associated with participating
under the center-based portion of the project. Two, there needs to
be significant local technical assistance provided to the shelters.
Three, in many shelters you see small numbers of children that are
participating. All of these combine and seem to point toward the
an ability of the family child care portion to serve it in a way that
the center-based portion cannot and, again, we would be glad to
discuss this with you further.

In doing this and expanding or extending the program, we need
to look at providing administrative moneys to do this. USDA has
been doing this out of the office here in Washington. There simply
is not the ability to connect with local technical assistance without
some overhead administrative funding.

I appreciate the opportunity of coming today. I would like to say
to you that there are sponsors of this program, both center-based
and home-based in every State in the country. We would welcome
your visits. Please call any of us at any time. We would love to
have you come and visit in Louisville. We can show you all of the
different portions, rural and urban, and center and home and
homeless shelter and center demonstration projects, and certainly I
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am sure Congressman Mazzo li would love to have you at Derby
time, wouldn't you.

Thank you very much. I will be pleased to answer any questions
you might have.

Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Ms. Locke, for your testimony.
[The prepared statement of Linda Locke followsd

1(17

late.
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Linda Locke
Assistant Director

Community Coordinated Child Care

Opportunities To Improve the Child and Adult Care Food Program

Through the 1994 Reauthorization of the Child Nutrition Programs

Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, I am Linda Locke, Assistant Director

of Community Coordinated Child Care (4-C) of Louisville-Jefferson County, Kentucky a

private, non-profit United Way child care resource and referral agency, dedicated to quality

care for children. I have been involved with the Community Coordinated Child Care's Child

and Adult Care Food Program Sponsorship for 13 years. I wish to thank Chairman Kildee

and the members of the Subcommittee for the honor and privilege of appearing before the

Subcommittee today. This Subcommittee's leadership and work on improving the nutritional

status of our nation's most vulnerable is both admired and deeply appreciated. Those of us

who are providing the direct services see everyday the benefits that children in particular are

deriving from their participation in the programs we administer and which this Subcommittee

oversees.

Today I am here to testify on behalf of the National Child and Adult Care Food

Program Sponsors Forum, of which, I am the Chair-Elect. These recommendations have

come from the Child and Adult Care Food Program Sponsors Forum, which is an

organization representing the 10,000 Child and Adult Care Food Program Sponsors. In

fiscal year 1992, the food program served an average of 1.8 million children each working

day.
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The Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) is a key source of support for day

care centers and family day care homes. Through the vital resources provided, including

training and technical assistance and reimbursement for food and meal preparation costs,

the program functions as an important tool in creating and maintaining accessible,

affordable, quality child care.

For many of the children in day care, the day care center or family day care home

they attend is their primary source of food; they spend 10-12 hours each day in care and

receive most of their meals while there. According to Congress's Select Panel for the

Promotion of Child Health, preschool children often receive 75-80 percent of their

nutritional intake from their day care providers. cAu-e makes a significant difference in

the ability of low-income providers to provide wholesome and nutritious meals. In an

evaluation of the program's effectiveness, USDA reported that children in day care settings

participating in CACFP ate more nutritious meals than did those who were in child care

sites that did not participate in the program.

The CACFP provides nutrition services to two types of child care programs: family

day care homes and child care centers/Head Start programs. I have provided with this

testimony a short summary of how family day care homes and child care centers participate

in the Child and Adult Care Food Program. I would be glad to answer any questions you

might have regarding these summaries.

It is important to provide young children with the necessary nutritional support

to have a healthy start in life. A poorly nourished child is unable to explore and learn from

his or her surroundirqp. There have been consistent reports on the high rate of poverty

among families with young children, a rate which has increased dramatically throughout the

9

2



107

1980's and into the 1990's. In addition, the Food Research and Action Center's Community

Childhood Hunger Identification Project revealed that approximately five million children

under 12 years of age suffer from hunger in America. Low-income families with young

children face a daunting challenge in trying to stretch limited resources to meet the

nutritional needs of their growing children. CACFP provides a much needed resource for

these families.

The Child and Adult Care Food Program Sponsors Forum believes strongly that it

is in the best interest of the children served by the program to maintain the current

reimbursement structure for family day care homes. Please see attached issue paper. We

have seen tremendous change in the program and the children it serves since 1990 as new

federal funding for child care subsidy has been received and implemented in the states.

We are seeing more homes serving children from mixed economic backgrounds;

sponsors are providing a higher degree of technical assistance to homes when we enroll them

in the CACFP as many of the newer providers are themselves low-income. Many sponsors

across the country are working in partnership with state welfare agencies to assist in the

development of new family day care homes which are providing jobs for those leaving the

welfare rolls.

I would like to give a personal example of this. The agency for which I work,

Community Coordinated Child Carc (4-C) in Louisville was fortunate in 1990-1991 to receive

funds both locally from thc City of Louisville and the Jefferson County Government, and

privately from Target Stores and the Dayton-Hudson Foundation, the National League of

Jewish Women, the Junior League of Louisville and the Fund for Women to implement a

3
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major area-wide recruitment project targeted at increasing the supply of family day care

homes.

One of our first efforts was concentrated in the Lang Homes Public Housing project

located in the West End of Louisville. We worked with the local board and with the director

of the Louisville Housing Authority to develop policies by which the Housing Authority

would grant permission for residents to operate family day care homes within their

residential units. We also worked with the local HUD office to assure that the provider's

income would be fairly treated in relation to her continued eligibility for public housing.

We assisted Nancy T. through the time-consuming process of meeting state standards

and were able to access a small grant so she could buy the needed equipment and fence

necessary to begin operation. We additionally worked with the state regulatory agency as

they had never had an application form, nor approved, a residential unit within a Housing

Project. This entire process took almost a year. It was not until the home met the state

regulatory standards that the home and the children in it were even eligible for the CACFP

benefits.

We are proud to say, however, that Nancy T., with assistance from her sister, is

serving children six days a week, on two shifts. Her only source of income is from her family

day care operation, and she is very proud of the progress she has made. In addition, the

parents she serves dre delighted with the care she is providing, and that she is able to meet

their job-related work schedules.

Nancy T. has become a leader in her area, working with other providers to develop

a neighborhood support group. In addition, she continues to participate in available training

4
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opportunit,cs, having obtained many more training hours than most child care staff.

Our recommendations cover four main categories: increasing access to CACFP

through broadening eligibility and facilitating outreach, broadening CACFP benefits,

coordinating CACFP with other important programs serving low-income preschool children

and administrative improvements. These recommendations were drawn from a nationwide

survey done by the Food Research and Action Center and the National Child and Adult

Care Food Program Sponsors Forum. In addition, the membership has met at regional and

national CACFP confelences, and through workshops, panels, and group sessions put

together, along with the survey results, the following positions and proposals. The California

Child and Adult Care Food Program Roundtable, an advocacy group comprised of CACFP

sponsors, child and anti-hunger advocates and USDA representatives, has also provided

extensive input For the sake of brevity, in my oral testimony I will cover only the

highlights of these recommendations.

I. Increasing Access So the Child and Adult Food Program

A. Broadening Eligibility

Proposal: Expand for-profit CACFP eligibility by allowing centers to
participate in CACFP that serve 25% or more bee or reduced
price eligible children.

Currently, the regulations allow for-profit centers to participate if they have 25% or more

of the children enrolled receiving Title XX funding. Unfortunately, because the vast

majority of low-income children in day care centers are not supported by Title XX money,

many low-income children in for-profit day care centers are denied access to the benefits of

5
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CACFP. As a result of amendments included in the 1989 Child Nutrition Reauthorization,

USDA is conducting demonstration projects on this issue. A significant number of low-

income children arc in for-profit center based care; this is particularly true in the Southern

states. The cost for this proposal is estimated as approximately $18 million. I have attached

the April demonstration project results from Kentucky.

Proposal: USDA should continue the CACFP Homeless Demonstration
Projects.

The CACFP Homeless Demonstration project has been very helpful to the children it has

reached. We recommend that USDA give serious consideration to the most effective

structure within which CACFP can continue to be used to provide assistance to homeless

children. We further recommend increasing the age limit for children in shelters

participating in CACFP from the current limit of 6 years of age to 12 years of age the age

limit for CACFP participation in day care homes and centers.

Proposal: Raise the age limit for participation in CACFP from 12 to 18
years old.

This increase in the age limit would allow after school hour care centers serving

Middle/Junior or Senior High School students to utilize the CACFP. The opportunity to

have CACFP as an additional resourcc would be especially important for the "At-Risk

Youth" after school programs that have been established for teenagers living in low-income

urban arcas. An informal staff estimate by the Congressional Budget Office on the cost of

this provision as it appeared in the Adolescent Nutritional Equity Act was approximately 2

113
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million dollars per year.

Proposal: Allow state-approved foster care homes to participate in
CACFP (FCCH Section).

Children in foster care are often at-risk nutritionally because of the abuse and/or neglect

they have suffered. The CACFP would provide additional resources for foster care homes,

which are most often chronically underfunded, to meet the nutritional needs of these

children. If a preschool child is in a residential child care facility, that child is eligible to

receive federally funded meals through the School Lunch Program. However, a preschool

child living in a foster care home is not eligible for any federally funded meal program.

B. Facilitating Outreach

Proposal: Improve the use of the United States Department of
Agriculture's (USDA) CACFP expansion funds for rural and
low-income areas.

The National Child Care Survey estimates that in 1990, there were four million children

enrolled in family day care on a regular basis. In 1992, CACFP was serving only about 20

percent of those children. A significant portion of those unserved are low-income and rural

children. "Expansion funds to finance the administrative expenses for such institutions to

expand into low-income or rural areas" were provided for as part of the amendments

included in the 1989 Child Nutrition Reauthorization Bill. The National CACFP Sponsors

Forum and Food Research and Action Center's survey results, as well as feedback from

sponsors at regional and national meetings, revealed the need for several crucial

modifications:

7
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1. In order for the expansion funds to be most effective for use in combating harriers

to CACFP, the money should be available to CACFP sponsors to help, where necessary, to

facilitate low-income day care home providers to become licensed. (Family day care homes

must be licensed day care to participate in CACFP.) Although the statue is silent on this

issue, USDA's current interpretation prohibits the use of expansion funds for licensing.

USDA's recent evaluation of demonstration projects looking at the most effective outreach

techniques, showed that assistance with licensing was a very effective outreach technique.

Additionally, because of the length of time needed to establish relationships in the

community, the expansion monies should be made available for an extended period of time,

increasing the grant period to one year and the maximum reimbursements for up to one

hundred homes.

3. In the absence of final regulations on this issue there has been a significant variation

in the implementation of these funds at the state leveL Some states have enforced

unreasonable requirements on sponsors wishing to use the expansion funds, including

excessive paperwork and reporting requirements.

Proposal: Require USDA to provide training and technical assistance to
sponsors on effective outreach techniques to low-income and
rural family day care homes.

Pursuant to an amendment in the 1989 Child Nutrition Reauthorization Bill, USDA carried

out demonstration projects and produced a report on effective outreach to low-income and

8
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rural providers. In order to facilitate the outreach efforts of sponsors, in particular the use

of the expansion monies, USDA should provide training and technical assistance on these

issues through their regional and state staff. CACFP sponson have expressed a need for this

information. It would be very helpful for USDA to produce booklets and audiovisual

materials for sponsors to use when doing outreach to low-income family day care home

providers. In addition, USDA should function as a clearinghouse for materials and plans that

have been successful, especially low-literacy and non-English language outreach and program

materials.

II. Broadening Benefits

Proposal: Providing additional nutritional assistance to children in CACFP
family day care homes by providing the option of a fourth meal
service.

This provision would require USDA to reinstate the option of providing a fourth "meal

service" to children in CACFP family day care homes over eight hours in a day. Currently,

family day care providers can offer at most two meals and a snack (or two snacks and a

meal). This proposal would allow family day care providers to offer an additional meal to

children in care over eight hours, most likely dinner, or if appropriate a second snack. Prior

to 1981, when the provision was cut because of fiscal reasons, such children could actually

receive up to five meal services each day three meals and two snacks. The idea was little

meals for little people".

The fourth meal service is an option available to day care centers. Many children are in

family day care homes for 10-12 hours each day. It seems unreasonable to deny a child in

9
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a family day care an additional meal or snack that the child in center-based care is served.

This provision is particularly important for low-income children whose parents may have

limited resources with which to supplement the food provided by the family day care home.

On a daily basis there are approximately 800,000 children participating in the family day care

portion c r:ACFP.

III. Coordination of Services to Low-income Families wie; Preschool Chaim"

Proposal: Reduce the paperwork for Head Start centers xtrticipating in
CACFP by making the children participating in Head Start
automatically income eligible for CACFP.

Over 90% of Head Start centers participate in CACFP. Head Start children comprise

approximately 30% of the caseload for the center-based portion of CACFP. This percentage

is expected to rise considerably if Congress funds the Clinton Administration's Hcad Start

expansion. Head Start income eligibility guidelines allow for income of up to 100% of the

poverty level, with 10% of enrollment set aside which can be used for children above the

income guidelines. If Head Start children were made automatically eligible for CACFP

there would be a substantial reduction in paperwork. This would help to facilitate the

coordination of these two excellent programs. Allowing the 10% who may be over income

to have automatic eligibility would create a cost to this change. However, it is estimated that

only five percent of Head Start participants are actually from families with income above the

poverty level.

We need to ensure that Head Start children served in CACFP child care centers for hours

outside of Head Start would be able to carry their automatic eligibility with them. This
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automatic eligibility should work in much the same way as automatic eligibility for AFDC

and Food Stamp program participants.

Proposal: Designate a portion of future appropriations for the Nutrition
Education and Training program to provide assistance to
CACFP.

The provision of NET services to provide training and technical assistance to CACFP family

day care home sponsors and day care center staff in meeting the dietary guidelines would

be very helpful. In particular, a simple publication for family day care providers on menu

planning and food preparation to meet the dietary guidelines is needed. These provid.::rs

have special needs, because they cater most often to the younger preschoolers and they are

preparing food at home. Advice on institutional menu planning that helps school lunch

programs does not meet the needs of family day care home providers.

Proposal: Require USDA to work toward enhancing the provision of
Medicaid funded services to low-income children in day care
centers participating in CACFP.

Medicaid can pay for a wide variety of preventative services for preschool children. In

recent years there has been a considerable expansion of Medicaid coverage to include more

preschool children. CACFP day care centers can provide an effective avenue for informing

low-income families of their children's eligibility for Medicaid benefits. This can easily be

achieved by requiring the state agencies to include notification of potential eligibility in the

standard prototype "Parent Letter" the state prepares for the day care centers to send out

with the CACFP income application each year. Each state agency should write the

11
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notification using their specific state Medicaid income guidelines and a short description of

the potential benefits available. USDA should prepare the necessary materials to inform

the state agencies about the importance of Medicaid to low-income children, including a

basic explanation of the program benefits.

For some CACFP day care centers, in particular Head Start centers and larger day care

centers located in low-income areas, serious consideration should be given to providing

Medicaid funded services on site. USDA should investigate the possibililies for facilitating

the provision of this type of comprehensive services to young children from low-income

families enrolled in CACFP day care centers.

Proposal: Reduce the paperwork for after school hours centers
participating in CACFP by allowing direct certification of
income eligibility by using school meal program application
income data.

By reducing the paperwork involved in participating in CACFP, more after school hours

centers may be able to become part of the program. Ideally, CACFP should be one of the

building blocks of much needed after school education programs for low-income students.

Proposal: Require USDA to works towards coordinating WIC outreach
with the Child and Adult Care Food Program.

Many of those eligible for but currently unable to participate in WIC are older preschool

children. If the Administration's plan to fully fund the WIC program becomes a reality, then

outreach to low-income families with preschool children will become increasingly important.

CACFP day care centers can provide an excellent source of referrals for older, potentially

12
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WIC eligible children.

IV. Administrative Improvements

Our recommendations encompass a wide range of important administrative changes

which will facilitate a more efficient program. I will submit these recommendations as part

of my full written testimony.

Proportal: Allow Sponsors an overclaim error rate based on a percentage
of the administrative monies received.

This would change the current overclairn rule which only allows a maximum of $200.00 in

overclaims to a "substantial compliance rule" which would allow 3% or less than the total

amount claimed for the audit period. Considering the large amount of money that is often

involved in an audit period $200.00 is an extremely small percentage of the overall claims

and therefore does not represent a realistic error rate.

4

Proposal: Increase the timc limit for CACFP sponsors to submit a revised
claim from 60 days to 90 days.

This change is needed in part because of the financial difficulties being experienced by many

state governments. Budget cut backs and employee furloughs at the state level have caused

longer turn around times for the CACFP checks in some states. This shortens the length

of time the sponsors have the checks before the time limit on finding errors expires.

Proposal: Increase administrative monies for sponsors serving rural and
low-income inter-city area providers.

13
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CACFP sponsors have considerable monitoring obligations: a minimum of 3 home visits per

year, with additional visits if any problems arise. Monitoring visits are vital to the strength

of the program but they are costly for sponsors of rural providers. In addition, the safety

conditions in many low-income inter-city areas make monitoring a two person job.

Proposal: Require USDA to standardize, to the extent possible, the
implementation of CACFP regulations across all states.

Where possible, CACFP policy should be uniform throughout the country. For example, the

implementation of the USDA funds for the expansion of CACFP to low-income and rural

providers is currently mired down in a multitude of different and often contradictory

regulatiom in some states.

Proposal: Allow sponsors to carry over a percentage of administrative
monies into the next fiscal year.

This recommendation would facilitate the smooth operation of the program from year to

year. Not all costs are incurred on a monthly basis. This change would allow sponsors to

better meet the needs of unexpected costs related to program operation.

Conclusion

I again want to thank this Subcommittee for the privilege of appearing before you

today. I extend to each of you, on behalf of the Child and Adult Care Food Program

Sponsor's Forum, an invitation to visit with sponsoring agencies within your states. Seeing

these programs firsthand and talking with those participating in them provides insight I

cannot bring to you within this forum.

Thank you again. I would be pleased to answer any questions you might have.
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Community Coordinated Child Care
ins sima n,d roost a ladiallk Kama*, 4COOS Or WAX' MX 11311rMi TDO 6116.171*

FAMILY CHILD CARE I :ES,

Family child care IQ .aticoally defined as tne care 04

small group of children, usually six or fewer, in th home

of the carogiver. Most i.tates providc some type of

regulatory approval aystnm For those email homes. CACFP

statutes reouirws that 0.y home participating in this

program must wither meet the state's approval standards or

alternate approval standards as defined by the state agency

adeintstering the CACFP.

In addition, tates also providu regulatory standards

for what to called ularge family child care homes", or "group

homes." These homes usually provide child care for 7-12

children. They too, may participate in the CACFP AS

family child care home.

Family child care homes can only participate in the

CACFP through a non-profit sponsoring agency. The

sponsoring agency agrees to be fiscally responsible for

adminictering the CACFP t, ihm homes. This includes

monitoring And trainiNg he. In CACFP requiremente, =nd ach

month, checking all menu,. enrullmehts of tho children,

determining the claim ,u.,pctness of it, submitting the

claim to the state agency. distributing funds to homes, and

maintaining fiscal recc,d, of all documentation required by

CACFP. Tho CACFP pay% thn apnnsoring agency a flat

administrative fee each mot,th for each homy that submits a

valid claim that month.
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Howes are paid a flat amount per eligible seal served tO

ach enrolled Child. Homs.i may only be reimbursed for up to

three wealsc-vices each day.

CHILD CARE CENTERS/HEAD S1ART PROGRAMS

This part of the Child and Adult Care Food Program is

divided into two sections: the NON-PROFIT sector and the

FOR-PROFIT sector. Both types are reimbursed for meals

served to eligible children, based on frew/reduced priced

guidelines. Both types may also be reimbursed for up to four

mealservices each day.

The NON-PkOFIT sectL.r includes all child care centers

that have IRS 5Olfci3 status and Head Start progress. Those

programs are automatically eligible to participate in the

CACFP.

They may participate in the CACFP one of two wayst

either through "sel4-spon,ors4iio"; that is, the program has

a direct contract with the CACFP state agency to

elf-administer tho program within their facility.

The other option is that the program say participate

through a contract with a non-profit sponsoring agency. The

agency becomes fiscally responsible .for the administration

of the CACFP within that child care program.

If the program eleLt:-. to participate through

sponsoring agency, than the child care program must pay any

administration fees chargdd by the sponsor.

The FOR-PROFIT sector i.e., child care centers not

recognized by the IRS as having 50lic/3 status - must soot

1 .3
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an additional eligibility standard each month befere they

are allowed to participate in the CACFP.

Except in kentucky and Iowa, all for-profit Programs

must have mach month at least 2S4 of their enrolled children

funded by Title %X funds. If they servo part-time children

and the number of enrolled children seiceeds the capacity of

the program, then the 21% test is applied to the capacity,

and not the enrollment.

In Kentucky and Iowa. the lfhil9 Child Nutrition

Requthorization Act allowed two states to have for-profit

demonstration projects. In these two states, for-profit

centers may participate 1h the CACFP if 21% of the enrolled

children each month are eligible for free or reduced priced

meals. The 254 test Is lied to the actual number of

low-income children being sareedp not to the funding stream

of subsidy for the children.

FOR-PROFIT centers, after eligibility is established, say

also use eith "self-sponsnrship" or a contract with a

non-profit sponsoring agehcy to participate in the CACFP.

BEST CtIPII AVALA
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June 20, 1993

Why Instituting a Means Test in the Family Day Care Portion of the Child and Adult Care Food
Program is Inappropriate

The Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) is a key source of support for family
day care. Through the vital resources provided, including training and technical assistance and
reimbursement for food and meal preparation costs, the program functions as an important tool
in creating and maintaining accessible, affordable, quality child care for low and middle income
parents. The adverse effects of a means test on the accessibility, quality and safety of the family
day care available to low-income families with young children cannot be overestimated.

The implementation of a means test for children in family day care participating in the
Child and Adult Care Food Program would actually act as a barrier to participation in CACFP
by low-income families, and would almost certainly result in very limited participation by such
families. This would have serious consequences beyond the loss of the nutritional benefits of
participation in this food program.

Wbv CACFP is Important to Low-iocome Children in Family Day Care

Family day care is a key component of our child care system. Thirty-four percent
of children under five who are cared for in a formal day care setting are in family
day care, including the majority of infants and toddlers. There is an enormous
shortage of infant care, because of the high cost. It is critical to support public
policies that help to expand the supply of infant care since over 50 percent of
mothers with children under age one are now in the paid work force. CACFP
helps low-income families receive low-cost, high quality child care.

For many of these children, the family day care home they attend is their primary
source of food; they spend 10-12 hours each day in care and receive most of their
meals while there. According to Congress's Select Panel for the Promotion of
Child Health, preschool children often receive 75-80 percent of their nutritional
intake from their day care providers. CACFP makes a significant difference in the
ability of low-income family day care providers to provide wholesome and
nutritious meals. In an evaluation of the program's effectiveness, USDA reported
that children in day care settings participating in CACFP ate more nutritious meals
than did those who were in child care sites that did not participate in the program.

The Child and Adult Care Food Program plays a major role in ensuring the
quality of family day care. The majority of family day care homes are still not
licensed or regulated. However, CACFP has been the single most important
factor in efforts to encourage family day care homes to be regulated, since this is
a requirement for participation in CACFP. Once they are part of the CACFP,
providers receive training and monitoring from umbrella sponsors. Although
training is directly linked to the quality of care children receive, the majority of
state child care regulations require either minimal or no training for family day
care providers. Thus, the visits that providers receive from the CACFP staff are

4
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key to helping to ensure that children are in minimally safe settings and receive
quality care. Even if family day care homes are regulated by states, most states
do not have the resources to do inspections. If they conduct inspections, they
rarely are able to see every home yearly, and are increasingly visiting only twenty
percent of registered homes each year. The CACFP requires that three
inspections per year be made to each day care home participating in the program.
In addition, if there is a complaint or problem the day care home will be visited
each month until the problem is resolved.

Family day care can provide an income and a job for many women who would
otherwise be dependent on AFDC Providers are predominantly low-income
women who have very low earnings from family day care.

Wby A Means Test Would Be Harmful to CACFP

The impact of a means test on a home-based industry, such as family day care, is quite
different from the impact on programs administered through institutions- A means test would
be so administratively cumbersome at thc home level that it would force the majority of
providers and sponsors out of the program.

The institution cf i. means test would add enormous new paperwork and audit
responsibilities for providers, sponsors, state administering agencies and USDA
without assisting any new low-income families. A means test would create
additional administrative requirements that would be time consuming and costly,
including increasing the number of records that must be kept and the amount of
time needed to complete each meal service claim. A means test would also be
problematic because there is greater movement of families in and out of family
day care homes than centers, and greater turnover among family day care homes.
Administrative costs would be increased significantly, resulting in a shifting of
valuable federal dollars from actuilly providing nutritious meals and snacks to
children to needless administrative costs.

CACFP reimburses for meals and snacks served to children in day care homes at
a flat rate regardless of their family's income. As a result, moderate and low-
income families receive equal help from CACFP. The fiat rate of reimbursement
represents a blend of the reimbursements offered to day care centers. Asking
providers to collect income data, calculate different rates and accept severely
reduced reimbursement for the moderate-income children in their care would
force many if not most to stop participating in CACFP.

The practical result of these record keeping and reimbursement changes would be
an elimination of service to many low-income children because they receive care
in the company of economically advantaged children. For example, a family day
care provider with four children in her care, two of them from families with low-
incomes and two from families with moderate incomes, can easily participate in
the CACFP under the present regulations. If a means test was implemented, this

1 `,6
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provider would most lately be forced to drop out of the program because the
reimbursement given for the two low-income children plus the very low
reimbursements that would be provided for the other children, would not cover
the cost of meeting the relatively expensive CACFP meal pattern guidelines for all
four of the children. Unlike other child nutrition programs, in the day care home
environment there is no economy of scale for food purchasing and the difference
in CACFP reimbursements will not be offset by a fee per meal

A means test would discourage participation in CACFP by providers serving low-
income children. Low-income providers often find it difficult to deal with the
necessary CACFP forms and regulations; additional paperwork requirements
would only further intimidate them and they would be the first to drop out if
means testing were implemented.

As part of a presentation entitled 'The Future of the CACFP", given at the 1992
Annual Midwest CACFP Sponsors Association conference, USDA staff attributed
a large part of the rapid expansion in CACFP to the following four significant
pieces of legislation; The Family Support Act of 1988, which authorized funding
for the "JOBS" program, the Human Services Reauthorization of 1990, which
reauthorized Head Start and expressed a commitment for increased funding, the
Child Care and Development Block Grant (CCDBG), which provided for child
care subsidies for low-income children, and Title IX A of the Social Security Act,
which includes three sourcei of child care funding for low-income children the
newest of which is the "At-Risk" Child Care Program. Since all of these programs
are targeted to low-income families, it would follow that the increase in CACFP
participation is primarily due to an influx of children from low-income families.

In USDA's most recent report on CACFP, Family Day Care Homes
Demonstration. the department does an excellent job of detailing successful
strategies for overcoming the existing barriers to participation for low-income
providers. This report describes thedifficulty that these providers have regotiating
the complexity of the current paperwork requirements. Mother substantial
barrier to participation dealt with in USDA's report is the often complicated and
costly process of becoming a licensed day care home provider. If we are serious
about our commitment to continued expansion of the number of low-income
providers in the program, we should pursue the strategies descnbed in the report,
rather than erecting further barriers such as the means test.

In the final analysis; the institution of a means test would actually inhibit the original goal of
CACFP to support quality day care by providing the resources to allow preschool children
participating in day care to receive nutritious meals. For the relatively small savings that would
be achieved by instituting the means test, the administration would be causing a significant
increase in bureaucracy and administrative costs, while crippling the ability of CACFP to function
as a major source of government assistance to family day care.

Prepared by Geri Henchy, FRAC and Helen Blank, CDF
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Community Coordinated Child Care
Salk Thal Sod WAN&Wesickw 80203 (502) 8314351 FAX 836.14011 11:10 018-1705

Up-Dato On Kentucky For-Profit CACFP Demonstration Project

Brief History

Current law allows for-profit centers participation only if

25% of the enrolled children each month are funded by Title XX

Funds. Since the arly 1980s, the use of Title XX funds to assist

low-income parents in paying for child care has declined, while

other sources of funding for assisting low-income parents have

increased. State funding, local public and private funding sources

(United Way and local government voucher programs) as well as new

federal programs (Child Care and Development Block Grant, Family

Support Act) have moved in to help fill this void.

Still, these other funding sources, even though they were also

funding low-income children, ware not allowed in determining

whether the for-profit centers could participate in the CACFP.

The Iowa and Kentucky Demonstration Projects have allowed for-

profit center participation if 25% of the enrolled children were

eligible for free and reduced priced lunches.

In Kentucky, 225 centers serving 47,000 children with 57

percent eligible for free/reduced priced meals were participating

in April, 1993. The April claim in Kentucky totaled $342,077.

73-484 0 - 93 - 5 0! 8
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We feel, however, that the claim amounts paid in Kentucky

should not be used to project the costs of this project. It is our

belief that the states that will utilize this program the most are

Southern states. These states have a history of using voucher-type

programs to assist low-income families rather than developing

specific public-funded centers to meet the need.

Without a doubt, the Demonstration Project in Kentucky has

shown that a significant number of low-income children are being

served in for-profit centers. In addition, the quality of the

meals and number of meals served to children has significantly

increased. We are awaiting the results of the USDA study of the

Demonstration Project, which was completed last year by MACRO

international. We feel sure that the study will validate our

observations of this project.

1 99
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Mr. GREEN. Our next witness is Robert Robinson, Associate Di-
rector for the General Accounting Office. Mr. Robinson.

Mr. ROMNSON. Thank you. We thank you for the opportunity to
testify today on our October 1992 report on school contractmilk
contract bid-rigging, if it is not already apparent from that title, be-
cause we represent a pretty substantial shift in gear from the pres-
entations of the previous witnesses.

We have a formal statement that we have provided for the
record, but I would like to take just 5 minutes, and it is timed
down to 5 minutes, I hope, to lay out the highlights of our message.

Before I do that, let me just introduce a couple of folks behind
me who are here to support me. Jim Fowler and Dale Wolden,
whoDale in particular has about 10 or 12 years in the whole
dairy industry support programs and if we get into that arcane
subject matter, I sure want Dale to be able to participate.

Our work on school milk contract bid-rigging was conducted in
response to a request by former Representative Coleman in his ca-
pacity as the ranking minority member of the House Agriculture
Committee and a member of your full committee.

Mr. Coleman asked us to determine whether there were prob-
lems with agricultural legislation that may be contributing to bid
rigging. In short, we reported that while Justice Department offi-
cials believed existing antitrust legislation is adequate to prosecute
milk contract bid-rigging cases, Federal dairy program legislation,
through its establishment of minimum prices for milk, creates an
environment that could foster collusion on milk prices.

Also, Federal legislation that provides a limited exemption from
antitrust legislation to dairy cooperatives makes it somewhat more
difficult to achieve convictions, again, according to Justice person-
nel.

Beyond presenting this overall observation on the legal environ-
ment surrounding iJid-rigging enforcement, our report identified
the need for the Justice Department and USDA to take a number
of administrative actions to enhance the government's enforcement
position relative to milk contract bid-rigging.

In responding to our report, the agencies have told us that they
have taken steps to first improve the coordination and information
exchange on dairies suspected of illegal bidding on contracts, and
second, expand training programs to help the State and local
school officials recognize signs of improper bidding behavior as a
first step in the enforcement process.

Now, we have not closely examined the degree to which these
promised actions have actually been implemented, but based on
some limited follow-up, it appears that while additional improve-
ment is possible, progress is being made.

The most significant unresolved issue remaining from our re-
port's finding is USDA's continued reluctance to debar and suspend
dairy operations found guilty of bid-rigging from future school milk
contracts.

While the Justice Department has successfully prosecuted dozens
of cases and DOD has followed up with over 100 suspension and de-
barment actions rega rding milk contracts on military installations,
USDA has not taken this action in a single case.
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In explaining its position, USDA and FNS, Food Nutrition Serv-
ice officials have at various times taken the position that, one,
other actions were sufficient to protect the interests of the public
and the Federal Government; two, suspensions and debarment ac-
tions should not be used for punitive purposes; three, FNS lacks
the multi-discipline team of knowledgeable investigators and law-
yers that would be necessary to undertake such actions; and, four,
FNS is concerned about the potential impact of suspension and de-
barment actions on the ability of schools to obtain milk.

Its final statement to us on this subject included the observation
that, "The Department will continue to consider for potential sus-
pension and debarment those cases where adequate cause for such
action exists."

Once again, however, as of our last check on July 10, USDA has
not taken such action in any case.

We feelwe continue to feel that suspension and debarment ac-
tions are an important deterrent to improper bidding practices.
However, unless dairies have some reasonable expectation that if
they are caught, they will be suspended or debarred from federally
funded programs, the return value of these sanctions is limited.

Now, this is not an academic or hypothetical issue. It is clear to
us that we are not dealing with isolated occurrences of bid-rigging.
The Justice Department has brought 96 cases against corporations
and individuals in the dairy industry since 1988.

Forty-six million dollars in fines have been leviecl and 26 individ-
uals have been sentenced to jail terms. Thirty-two grand juries are
currently investigating additional cases across 21 States.

Finally, there are indications that bid-rigging activity may not be
restricted solely to the dairy industry. Accordingly, we believe a
more aggressive USDA posture toward improper bidding activity
may be warranted.

Members of the subcommittee, this concludes my prepared re-
marks and we would be happy to answer any questions you might
have with the potential assistance from my colleagues.

Mr. GREEN. Thank you. We appreciate your testimony.
[The prepared statement of Robert Robinson follows:]
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Statement of
Robert A. Robinson

Mr. Chairmsn and Members of the Subcommittee:

I am pleased to be here today to participate in your
hearings on child nutrition programs and to discuss our October
1992 report on milk contract bid-rigging.' As you will recall,
our report was done at the request of the previous Ranking
Minority Member of the House Committee on Agriculture, who was
also a Member of your full Committee. We were asked to examine
bid-rigging on school milk contracts to determine whether there
were any problems with agricultural legislation, or its
admOistration, that allowed bid-rigging co occur. We were not
requested to include any other food commodities in our study.

In response to this request we reported that:

-- According to Department of Justice (D0J) officials,
federal programs designed to provide price stability in
the dairy industry, by setting minimum prices, may
create an environment that can foster improper collusion
on milk prices. However, neither we nor DOJ officials
identified any actual cases in which these agricultural
programs were specifically responsible for improper
bidding behavior.

-- The Department of Agriculture (USDA) and DOJ, which
share responsibilities for overseeing dairy cooperatives
for improper collusion on prices, could benefit from a
more systematic process for sharing information on their
respective efforts in investigating bid-rigging. In
this regard, we recommended that USDA and DOJ establish
a more systematic process for coordinating information.

-- USDA could be more aggressive in either suspending or
debarring dairies indicted or convicted of bid-rigging
from bidding on school milk contracts. At the time of
our report, USDA had not suspended or debarred any
dairies that had been indicted or found guilty of bid-
rigging. We recommended that USDA, as appropriate,
suspend or debar companies and in(;',iduals guilty of
bid-rigging from participatig in school milk contracts.

-- USDA was providing little training to help state and
local procurement officials detect bid-rigging. Because
USDA was expanding its bid-rigging awareness craining
program, we did not make any recommendations in our
report on this issue.

'Food Assistance: School Milk Contract Bid-Rigging (GAO/RCED-93-5,
Oct. 16, 1992).
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In my testimony tociay, 1 will update you on DOJ's current milk
contract bid-rigging investigations, DOJ's and USDA's responses
to the findings and recommendations in our report, and our
thoughts on whether bid-rigging extends to other contracts for
food commodities purchased for federal school meal programs.

STATUS OP DOJ MILK CONTRACT
A/D-RIGGING INVESTICATIONS

According to information provided by DOJ, as of July 1, 1993,
its.Antitrust Division had filed 96 criminal cases against 52
corporations and 64 individuals in the milk and dairy products
industry. Cases have been brought in 13 states involving milk
supplied to public schools participating in federally subsidized
school lunch programs as well as to various military
installations. According to DOJ data, 45 corporations and 48
individuals have been convicted and fines totaling about $46.3
million have been imposed. Twenty-six individuals have been
sentenced to serve jail terms averaging about 6 months each. In
addition, 32 grand juries are currently investigating cases in
21 states.

DOJ AND USDA RESPONSES TO OUR
P/NDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONA

As you know, federal agencies are required by law to provide a
statement regarding actions they plan to take in response ro GAO
report recommendations to the Senate Committees on Governmental
Affairs and Appropriations and to the House Committees on
Government Operations and Appropriations. In their statements
on our report, both departments have expressed general agreement
with our findings and recommendations.

USDA agrees that debarments and suspensions may tie warranted,
however, it maintains that other factcis need to be considered,
such as the potential impact of these actions on Iccal school
operations before it takes such action. Accordingly, USDA has
yet to debar or suspend any companies or individuals found
guilty of bid-rigging.

Coordination Between DOJ and USDA
in Pursuing Bid-Rigging ActivilY

In their responses to our recommendation that DOJ and USDA
improve their procedures for sharing information on bid-rigging,
both departments reiterated their position that they have worked
together in the past on this issue. DOJ agreed with our
conclusion that more formalized coordination would be
beneficial. DOJ said that it would begin sending monthly
reports summarizing the Department's Antitrust Division's
investigations and prosecutions involving the dairy industry to
USDA. The DOJ statement also said that the Department and

2
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USDA's Food and Nutrition Service IFNS)--the USDA agency
responsible for administering school meal and other federal food
assistance programs--would develop more formalized procedures to
ensure that both FNS and local school officials report signs of
possible bid collusion to the appropriate authorities and share
any reported information with DOJ.

In stating what action it was taking on our reports'
recommendation, although not agreeing that a more formal system
of coordination was needed between the two departments, USDA
out)iined the steps that FNS was taking to develop internal
procedures to improve coordination with DOJ. USDA's response
included cooperation in pursuing illegal bidding activity by
dairy cooperatives as well as by other companies providing food
to the Department's food assistance programs.

USDA Suspensions and Debarments

USDA, as of July 10, 1993, still has neither suspended nor
debarred any of the oompanies or individuals found guilty of
milk contract bid-rigging from bidding on school milk contracts.
The Department has taken the position, both in responding to our
report and in its March and April 1993 testimonies before the
House and Senate Appropriations Committees, that it would
consider debarment or suspension of companies and individuals
from bidding on school milk contracts. However, before taking
this action, it stated that it would also consider (1) the
present responsibility of the companies and individuals involved
and (2) the potential impact of such actions on local program
operations, such as a school's ability to obtain food supplies
from suppliers. In response to our report, USDA said that it
would pursue such actions to the extent that the interests of
the public and the federal government need to be protected.

In testimony, FNS officials stated that the actual damages from
milk bid-rigging tall on the schools and that USDA's primary
concern is for schools to recover these damages. The strategy
is to work with the states and DOJ through criminal or civil
actions to recover damages. This strategy includes working with
the Defense Logistics Agency, which has suspended or debarred
suppliers convicted of bid-rigging on sales of milk to military
installations, to come up with monitoring and payment schemes so
that companies can continue to sell milk to schools.

In our view, higher school meal costs that result from bid-
rigging could also ultimately impact the federal government's
school meal programs. The federal government underwrites the
costs of school meals (which include milk) that are provided
free or at reduced price to economically disadvantaged
children. A number of school officials have told us that the
costs of providing these meals exceeds the federal
reimbursement rate. USDA currently has a nationwide study

3
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under way examining the costs to provide school meals.
Illegal bidding activity may have been a factor in the
increase in school meal costs. This increase has the
potential to (1) lead to increased pressure on the federal
government to increase school meal reimbursement rates or (2)
cause schools to drop out of federal school meal programs.

In our view, USDA could take stronger action by suspending or
debarring those found guilty of bid-rigging on school milk
contracts. Although it may be appropriate for USDA to
con4ider the potential impact of a suspension or a debarment
on a program, we believe that USDA must carefully balance the
deterrent value of such actions against the possible short-
term detrimental impacts they may create for some schools or
school districts. We believe that the deterrent value of
suspension and debarment actions is only meaningful if those
dairles that bid-rig have a reasonable expectation that, if
caucht, they will be suspended or debarred from federally
funded programs.

Training to Detect Bid-Rigging

In the draft of our report, we discussed the limited amount
of bid-rigging awareness training that USDA had provided to
state and local school food procurement officials. At the
rime of our review, USDA had provided such training in only
one of FNS's seven regions across the United States--it's
Southeastern region. USDA, DOJ, and Department of Defense
officials we talked to during our review told us that such
training is essential for helping procurement officials
recognize bid-rigging. In commenting on the draft, USDA
stated that it was expanding its bid-rigging awareness
training to other jurisdictions. Because USDA committed
itself to action on this issue, we did not make a
recommendation in our report.

SInce we issued our report, USDA has expanded training to at
least two additional FNS regions. We continue to believe
that training in detecting what may be illegal bidding
activity is essential for those awarding contracts for school
food purchases. USDA should continue its efforts to expand
training to additional locations.

PO$SIBILITY QF BID-RIGGING RELATING
TO OTHER FOOD COMMODITY CONTRACTS

Our review focused only on milk contract bid-rigging--we did
not look at the possibility that bids are being rigged on
contracts for other food commodities sold to schools. Since
we issued our report, however, there have been a number of
media reports asserting that illegal contracting activities
involving other school-purchased food commoditiessuch as

4
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chicken nuggets, hot dogs, and bakery products--may be
occurring. We have not examined the accuracy of these
claims. Both DOJ and USDA officials, however, indicated to
us during our review that products, such as bakery goods and
fresh fruits and vegetables, were especially susceptible to
improper contracting practices.

In summary, there is a lot of good news with respect to
federal milk bid-rigging enforcement efforts, but more work
needs to be done. On the plus side, DOJ continues to
aggressively pursue milk bid-rigging investigations and has
taken legal action against a number of violators. Also, USDA
and DOJ apparently agree that a more systematic process for
sharing information on bid-rigging activities is warranted,
and they are investigating ways to improve the lines of
communication between the two departments. We continue to
believe that the two departments need to work closely
together to exchange bid-rigging information. In addition,
USDA is expanding its training in detecting bid-rigging to
other areas of the country. We believe it is necessary to
ensure that those responsible for soliciting bids for food
items and awarding contracts have the training needed to
detect what may be suspicious bidding patterns and report
them to the appropriate investigative authorities.

On the down side, however, USDA seems hesitant to suspend or
debar dairy companies and individuals found guilty of bid-
rigging. We believe that suspension and debarment actions
can be meaningful deterrents to bid-rigging activity.
However, if USDA does not exercise these options, their
effectiveness as deterrents is lost.

Mr. Chairman, this completes my prepared statement. I would
be pleased to respond to any questions that you or Members of
the Subcommittee may have.

(150229)
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Mr. GREEN. I have a number of questions, and that is one of the
prerogatives as a freshman in the Chair, for the first time, I get to
ask some questions, but I am not going to. Let me make some com-
ments.

Having served a number of years in the legislature in Texas in
dealing with the school lunch program and the breakfast program
virtuallywe fought in the mid-1980s to try and expand the pro-
gram, and I was proud that if any school has 10 percent or more
students eligible, then it is mandated and we have one of the high-
est participation rates in the Nation, and I know for Texas that is
unusual, particularly for a program such as this, but I wasI re-
member and I will tell one war story.

Back in the 1980s a school superintendent who was very con-
cerned as superintendent, called when we were expanding the
breakfast program and he was so upset we were going to do that.
He was just amazed, and we went ahead and did it. And about 3
years later I was visiting with him and I said, by the way, how is
the breakfast program working out since you were opposed to it?
He said, I was wrong. It is one of the best programs we ever did.

He was amazed and he saidhe is still the superintendent, by
the way, because he had been superintendent for many years, but
even folks who are so diametrically opposed to your program can
learn from it.

We have had a great deal of success, at least from my experience
in the legislature in Texas on the school lunch program. With that,
Mr. Gunderson.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you all for your testimony.

I have to agree with you, Mr. Robinson, that you might not be
the right guy to be here, not because of your testimony, but I am
not sure that we don't need to hear from the Department of Justice
and USDA in terms of their implementation of this program.

I think your report is helpful, sobering, but helpful to us, and I
would hope this subcommittee would hear from the rest of them
before we proceed in this area.

Can you indicate how aggressive the Department of Justice has
been in pursuing bid-rigging? Most of your criticism seems to be di-
rected towards USDA enforcement.

How aggressive has the Justice Department been?
Mr. ROBINSON. I think it is fair to say that the Department of

Justice has been fairly aggressive in pursuing these kind of cases,
especially in the last year or so. The pace of enforcement and the
pace of prosecutorial effort seems to have picked up even faster
than it was by the time we had done our report by October of 1992.

So I don't think there is any doubt they are attacking this with a
fair degree of aggressiveness.

Mr. GUNDERSON. When did you make your first recommendations
to the Department of Agriculture regarding enforcement measures
they ought to be taking?

Mr. ROBINSON. The report is October of last year.
Mr. GUNDERSON. And so then your assessment as of July is that

between October of last year and this year no dramatic change has
been made in the enforcement side?
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Mr. ROBINSON. No casesno debarments or suspension actions
had been taken when we were compiling the evidence for our
report, and as of July 10 at least, no actions have been taken subse-
quently.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Let's change gears just a bit.
To what degree do you believe USDA has the statutory enforce-

ment powers necessary to pursue proper action?
Mr. ROBINSON. I think all would agree that they have the author-

ity to debar, suspend or debar those companies found guilty of anti-
trust violations.

Their counterparts in the Defense D partment, the Defense Lo-
gistics Agency, has taken this action in well over 100 cases, about
140 I believe at last count.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Is there any area that you believe needs legisla-
tive change in order to further prevent the continuation of bid-rig-
ging?

Mr. ROBINSON. Again, I think you almost need to hear from the
Justice Department to get their firsthand observations as to what
kind of impact on their prosecutorial ability that is provided by the
basic dairy program legislation, which far exceeds the balance of
this one program obviously.

I would feel a lot more comfortable having the answer come from
them. Based on what they told us, they have sufficient authority to
pursue cases, and indeed as there are almost 100 prosecutions, tes-
tifies they are taking action, they feel that to a certain degree, you
know, they are bound by the restrictions of Capper/Volstead, and
believe that the basic marketing order and price support programs
provides a climate upon which more collusion than ordinary might
be occurring.

However, I know I am rambling here, but it is clear that these
kind of activities are clearly illegal business practices and to that
extent, they have the authority to be pursuing them and are doing
so.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Did you come to any analysis that Capper/Vol-
stead prevents prosecution of bid-rigging?

Mr. ROBINSON. Capper/Volstead of course is the subject of many
law review articles and I am not certain I want to get into the de-
tails of that legislation.

I think Capper/Volstead clearly exempts a dairy producer from
forming a cooperative to makediscuss prices and establish single
bids to outside organizations.

It gets a little fuzzier when a couple of dairy cooperatives get to-
gether to form single bids, but it is clearlydoes not extend the ex-

* emption to a dairy cooperative and a third party from working to-
gether. That is clearly still prohibited.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Do you have any evidence where two or more
dairy cooperatives are likely to have pursued bid-rigging but be-
cause of Capper/Volstead have not been the object of an enforce-
ment action?

Mr. ROBINSON. We have no evidence. I might cite a 1956 case
that the Justice Department lost where just that issue ,ame togeth-
er, and I think in an appeals court finding, the courts found that a
couple of cooperatives did get together, but that was acceptable
under Capper/Volstead.

1 4
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Again, there is wide debate as to whether that ruling was
should be attacked again in some other case.

Mr. GUNDERSON. I.just want you to know, I have no interest in
defending dairy cooperatives through the Capper/Volstead Act if
bid-rigging is occurring. And if you have evidence, I would certain-
ly appreciate receiving that so we can determine what legislative
changes we ought to make.

Can you comment similarly as you did in your report on any dif-
ficulty market orders have caused in determining price rigging
across the country? Can you elaborate on that?

Mr. ROBINSON. I think what the Justice Department people
wereas they explained it to us, what they were talking aboutis
because the marketing orders establish minimum prices, it reduces
the range of competitive activity and creates a situation where ev-
eryone knows everyone else's minimum price, so it restricts the
nature of the competitive range, if you will.

That is what they were talking to us, by establishing an atmos-
phere where folks can get together to discuss prices.

Mr. GUNDERSON. That is very interesting, I want to follow up on
something Mr. Good ling said earlier. Two weeks ago this commit-
tee was on the floor defending the option to choose whole milk in
their school lunch program, and I pointed out to people that the
only reason we put that in Federal law was because very frankly
school nutrition people came to us and said, if you don't put it in, it
will nct be in the bids. The school board is required by law to
accept the lowest bid submitted and if those bids are constructed
almost totally on 1 percent milk, they have no choice. So if you
want a choice, you are going to have to write it into Federal law. I
think, frankly, the GAO report has indicated that we must provide
some of the flexibility because of these kinds of problems that
exist.

Let me switch gears just a second.
One of you talked about summer lunch programs.
Ms. FORD. I did.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Ms. Ford. We have been told in some of our

overviews and visits to the summer lunch programs that if, after
lunch, there are leftover fruits or packaged items such as cookies,
they all must be thrown out. Children cannot take them with them
or take them home and they cannot be rinsed off and used the next
day. Either they are eaten or disposed of that day. Is that your un-
derstanding?

Ms. FORD. That may be occurring in some States. In the State of
Delaware, because we realize that there is so much poverty and
hunger, we have under our State administration created some
ways to use leftover foods.

We have each sponsor develop a policy for leftover foods. We
have many, many institutions that are housing children. For in-
stance, the Departnient of Corrections, juvenile corrections, have
children in their auspices. We donate food to those children for
snacks later on in the day. That meal is not charged to the
Summer Food Service Program. Just the other

Mr. GUNDERSON. Go ahead.
Ms. FORD. Okay. Just the other day, one of our sponsors called

and said, oh, they are wasting so much fruit, what shall I do? I
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said, well, we can try another form of fruit. A lot of the children
aren't getting fresh fruit at home so sometimes they are accus-
tomed to applesauce and other things that have come in in the
commodity foods.

So the next thing you do is the next time you have your children
in a group, explain to them we do not want them to throw away
what we consider good food. When you receive your food tray, we
will put up in the cafeteria, these are foods that I do not feel like
eating, I have not contaminated them in any way, and we put them
on a share tray so that other children who may want seconds of
that same meal can go up to the share tray.

So we are constantly devising ways to use foods that are still in a
condition to be used again without breaking the laws of the pro-
gram.

Mr. GUNDERSON. At the end of the day, do you have to dispose of
the food on the tray?

Ms. FORD. Pardon me?
Mr. GUNDERSON. At the end of the day, do you have to dispose of

the food on the tray?
Ms. FORD. At the end of the day there may be a few items there,

but what happens is other children who are there at that same sit-
ting come up to the share tray and partake of the same helping
that the other

Mr. GUNDERSON. If they don't, do you then have to dispose of
that?

Ms. FORD. That may happen if they are foods that are potentially
contaminated.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Is that Federal or State regulation, to your
knowledge?

Ms. FORD. What we do is use regulations based on our health de-
partment, based on the expertise of food service directors and nu-
tritionists who are available on those types of sites to make that
determination.

Generally if you are talking aboutwe are talking about a piece
of fruit that can be rinsed off and could be served or given to an-
other child, we don't see that as harmful.

However, when we are dealing with a sandwich that includes
protein and may have had a condiment put on it, then generally
we encourage that to be thrown away, because generally we are
dealing with temperatures of food and any time the temperature
goes over 40 degrees, then they are considered to be potentially
hazardous, so we encourage our site people to throw those foods
away.

Mr. GUNDERSON. I leave a charge with all three of you: If there is
any particular Federal regulation that requires you to dispose of
noncontaminated food at the end of that day, would you please
inform this subcommittee of it? We get this complaint and, yet, we
can't find where we are the problem. If we are the problem. We
want to solve that.

So if you ever discover that regulation, let us know. I could ask
questions all morning, but I don't think they put the timer light
on, Mr. Chairman, and so I think I better be courteous of my col-
leagues and yield back the time at this point.

Thank you.

142



140

Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Gunderson.
Mr. Sawyer.
Mr. SAWYER. Thank you, very much. Thanks to Chairman Kildee

for having this hearing.
I would also like to take a moment to associate myself with the

concerns of the gentleman from the dairy State. It is a matter of
genuine concern.

I would like to just take a moment to give a special welcome to
Lisa Hamler-Podolski who represents the Ohio Hunger Task Force,
an organization that has been of benefit to my State for a long
period and is nationally known for its advocacy of hunger issues,
and particularly the kinds of issues that bring us here together this
morning.

Child and adult nutrition programs are really one of the shining
lights of this committee, and I share the hope of everyone in this
room, that when we authorize this program, we will be able to
expand the reach of these programs in much the way that you
have described.

Let me particularly comment with gratitude for your support for
the start-up grant program. That was an amendment of mine the
last time around and it is good to hear that it is doing so well. I
would like frankly to hear from others around the country about
what kind of success they have experienced with that.

Again, let me thank all of you for your testimony here today. It
has been focused and useful and enlightening and will be of enor-
mous help as we pursue reauthorization.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Sawyer.
Congresswoman Woolsey.
Ms. WOOLSEY. First of all, I want to compliment my freshman

colleague for the good job he is doing in running thischairing this
committee. You are doing good, Gene.

Mr. Robinson, just very quickly, the district I represent, the two
counties north of San Francisco, across the Golden Gate bridge,
well, we provide about 65 percent of the dairy product for the
entire Bay area, and I know they will be very interested in bring-
ing this debate to a conclusion and coming out with some positive
programs and some activity and action, but what I would like to
know from you, what impact has this bid-rigging had on the price
of dairy products to the breakfast and lunch programs?

Do we have a measurement of that?
Mr. ROBINSON. Ms. Woolsey, that was not within the scope or the

boundaries of our investigation. So I really can't give you any in-
formed commentary on that.

Ms. WOOISEY. Okay. Well, I think that would be important to us
up here.

Now, I really identify with the three programs that you wonder-
ful women have come and talked to us about this morning, and one
of my visions for our schools is to have coordinated services at or
near all school sites.

Of course that includes nutrition programs as well as child care
and medical programs and social services and counseling and what-
ever working families need. Number one would be to address the
concerns and needs of our poor students, but also to address the
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needs of working families in general, so what I would like you to
talk to me about is how your programs and the programsour pro-
grams that we are talking about today can be expanded to benefit
all children.

I know for certain that dual-partner families who are bothboth
partners are working and single parent families of course, that
ma3rbe they can afford decent nutrition at home but maybe there
isn'twith latchkey kids, maybe there won't be the supervision to
make certain that that child actually partakes of the good food,
that by the time they get to school their mind is ready to learn
versus having eaten sugary foods or fast foods or something.

So how can we expand that? I mean, I have a vision and a fanta-
sy of doing this and having a sliding scale and maybe a card that is
paid for by the family that is the same color card for everybody,
but it just has a different cost to it, but maybe the families that
can afford it can offset some of these costs.

Now, it is not fair that I get lights when we didn't have lights
before, but anywaythank you. So just, I am giving you an idea of
what it is I would like to hear from you.

How can we expand this? Is it possible? Will it work? Or do we
still have to absolutely concentrate on the neediest? We can't leave
them out. I am not intending that.

Ms. FORD. Well, I would like to start out by answering with what
we are going to do in the State of Delaware. We are going to 13(...

extending our education services to our parents. We feel that the
USDA has provided the nutritious meal.

We feel that through the nutrition education and training pro-
gram that we now need to reach further out to the homes, maybe
through the community centers, to help parents understand what
we call good nutrition and to insist that their children partake of
what we have provided.

When a child goes through the school cafeteria line, there is no
one there to say, Johnny, you must take an apple. You must take
the protein, you must take the fruit and vegetable.

I have myself been a monitor of the school lunch program and I
have seen children use the school lunch moneys that the parents
gave for other than the nutritious meal. So what that parent must
do is assist those of us who have provided the funds and to teach
their children that this is indeed what you are supposed to eat
when you go to school, and indeed when you are attending your
summer lunch program, I want you to make sure you eat that nu-
tritious meal. I know about it.

I have learned about it and I am not going to provide it here at
home because you can go to your neighborhood park and get it, and
this causes my food dollar to go further, and so we are concerned
now about reaching our parents and letting them know exactly
what we have on that tray, because it is certainly a beautiful meal,
and thanks to the partnership that we have developed with our
handicapped program through the division of visually impaired, we
are indeed very proud of what we are giving our children, and it
has caused me as an administrator of the program in the State of
Delaware to have as many self-preparations as we can.

We have depended upon our commercial vendors for many, many
years. However, it is a great feeling to be able to walk into your
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neighborhood meal production plant and know that you have your
community people employed. Their children are receiving the
meals while they are working and receiving moneys for helping
with the preparation of the meal, and we indeed have a beautiful
tray going to our children.

Ms. WOOLSEY. That makes good sense, and when I talk about co-
ordinated services at or near the school site, the parent support
groups and the parent training classes fit right in with that con-
cept. So

Ms. FORD. Another thing that we have done through our nutri-
tion education and training program to assist the other programs,
we have found through our needs assessment studies that children
between the ages of 13 and 19 are a littlethey know about nutri-
tion, but because of peer, whatever they have, they are too cool to
eat.

So we have created the nutrition rap video and what I found out
from listening to my own child is that she seems to be able to re-
member all the words in the rap, so if we put some nutritious fat
to the rap, maybe they will remember that.

So that is what we have done with our nutrition rap video in re-
sponse to educating our 13- to 19-year-old children and that has
been very helpful. I have gotten responses from our school district
persons and we want to do more of that type of thing.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Okay, thank you.
Ms. HAMLER-PODOLSKI. Representative Woolsey, it enlightens me

to hear you talk about preventative models. We in the State of
Ohio did put forth a preventative model that would have been im-
plemented in the most disadvantaged school districts in our State,
some of which was included in that bill would be family resource
centers.

Also proposed would be 1 to 15 teacher/student ratios for grades
K through 3, as well as caseworkers placed in every school that
were considered at risk with a high percentage of children from
ADC families, one caseworker per 400 students.

Another very important component of this preventative model
would be to ensure that every child that entered school was pre-
pared for the learning process, which incorporated not only the
school lunch program, but the National School Lunch Program.

It is my belief that we as a Nation can only rebuild our commu-
nities and our neighborhoods froni the basis of a focal point of
moving back to the educational environment. Currently in this
country with busing, we have children that are being placed on
buses that are being bused from rural areas to inner-city areas.

Parents, low-income parents that do not have the resources to
participate in their children's educational process, this is a reality.
There is no way to communicate with the school because there is
no phone in the home. Many of the parents are marginally or func-
tionally illiterate, therefore cannot read or interpret correspond-
ence that is coming home.

We have found this to be a huge obstacle in getting children en-
rolled in school-based nutrition programs. The current eligibility
process includes a lengthy application which is a huge barrier
when we have families, again, that are marginally or functionally
illiterate. The application process is overwhelming.
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I would encourage each of you to visit a school district in your
State. Go in, talk to the school food service directors, talk to the
teachers, talk to the principals. They have some wonderful ideas on
how we can rebuild the educational environment in this communi-
ty.

I had wanted to answer a question that had come up about the
Nationalor the School Breakfast Program that I believe Repre-
sentative Gunderson had asked.

Current Federal regulations do prohibit that no food shall be re-
moved from a summer lunch program site. Monitors are instructed
that no child, again, can remove any food from a site, and I would
like to share a story about that.

Last summer I had been visiting a large site in a metropolitan
housing community in Montgomery County, which is the Dayton
area. A child came in. He was unaccompanied. He was I would say
3 to 4 years old. The site director said, I feel so badly for this child.
It is Friday, it is the end of the month. I am sure the food stamps
have been exhausted in the home.

As the endas the lunch ended, she watched him very closely.
He had only eaten half of his sandwich and his apple was left on
the table, and as the children started exiting the cafeteria, he re-
moved the food from the top of the table and attempted to slide it
in his pocket.

As he moved towards the door, the monitor stopped him and
said, I am sorry, you can't take that food home. And he started to
cry, and he said, you don't understand. My little brother is at home
and he is hungry. My mom is at home and she is hungry. I need to
take this food home to feed them. That is the reality.

I bring stories to you, but that is the reality of childhood hunger
in this country. It follows the gamut from the summer program,
the Summer Food Service Program for C1 dren, to the National
School Lunch Program, the School BreaKiast Program, and the
Child and Adult Food Care Programs.

What you see here before you are programs that can address the
needs of children from zero to 18 if program regulations are rewrit-
ten to be workable and less punitive.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Lisa, what is the genesis of that ruling? I mean,
what rule is that?

Ms. HAMLER-PODOISKI. It is a USDA regulation that has been on
the program. Ms. Ford may be able to address that.

Ms. WOOLSEY. We can look into that later. I just thought you
might know. Okay.

Ms. FORD. Children are notone of the major supervision situa-
tions, meals must be consumed onsite with supervision and it is
true that the USDA regulation does not allow children to take
meals home.

Now, I have been supportive of that law because we do not know
what children are going to do with food when it leaves that site. It
is very hot and many times they may take it home. The parents
aren't at home. They sit it around the house. The meal becomes
sour and then the State agency is accused of food poisoning.

So we are very strict with that particular law. We do not allow
our children to take meals home. However, children are children
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and many times oranges and things go under arms and kids run
across the neighborhood and they are gor a.

But we are not going to hurt anybody and we are not going to
humiliate anybody over a free meal. So once that child has run off
the site, we are not going to run off the site for the child.

It is the same thing in the classroom. When you want children to
be quiet, some of them are going to talk.

Now, when a site is seen to be having children habitually leaving
the site with food, then we have our process for correcting that,
and what we do is on the very next day, the State monitor, who is
hired as the eyes and ears of the State agency on a part-year basis,
arrives at the site with the sponsor representative and we talk to
the children.

We let them understand that this meal is similar to the meal
that you received in the school cafeteria. We expect that you would
eat it here at our picnic we are providing. This is part of the picnic
for you and we want you to stay here and eat it with us.

Now, if you do not do that, then we are not going to bring your
food to you the next day. It is my feeling that if one site can obey
the regulations of the program, then all sites can obey the regula-
tions of the program.

Ms. WOOLSEY. I understand that, but I think Lisa's point was
that ifnot all food spoils, so maybe we can look atmaybe there
is an in-between here somewhere that is notcertainly we don't
want to hurt anybody and send any contaminated food home.

Ms. FORD. There are other things that happen when foods go out
across your communities. You get children leaving trash across
your cities. So you get complaints from people who you want to
support your programs.

So there are many reasons why meals should be consumed
onsite.

Ms. WOOLSEY. That is obvious, but I am hearing a plea for let's
not be so rigid that we leave the little brother without any food.
Sobut I understand where you are coming from, Ms. Ford.

Ms. FORD. The law cuts off the service of the program at 19 years
of age and the child who is pleading for a meal at home for the
parent, we have a law here and we have to train our people that
we have to preserve that law or else the integrity of the program is
lost. And so we care about that parent at home, but we have guide-
lines here, and so if we lift those guidelines in any manner, anyone
who is hired that lifts those guidelines which assist us in preserv-
ing the law, then we would just lose everything.

We would have food going out all over the place. And this is a
very visible program and we have many conservative people who
do not like the idea of the program.

So we become very strict and rigid because we do have that law
and we do want the meals to stay onsite where they can be con-
sumed under supervision.

Ms. WOOLSEY. Ms. Locke.
Ms. LOCKE. Thank you. I would like to go back to the original

question that you posed, and as I understand it, your concern is to
assure, A, coordinated services, B, coordinated services in or near
school sites, and the ability to reach out to all children, not just
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those that we are seeing as the most needy, and have I gotten that
correct?

Ms. WOOLSEY. Without leaving out the needy. I want to make
that certain there

Ms. LOCKE. What we have done in the Child and Adult Food Care
Program since 1989 is to bring in, in the two demonstration States,
thousands of children, certainly a significant portion of them low
income, but also other children served in those programs who qual-
ify for paid meals certainly benefit because the nutrition standards
of the program are there for every meal that they are served and
consume.

So we are excited about bringing in significant portions of new
children, certainly including low-income and at-risk children, but
also to provide the umbrella of nutrition standards for children
who maybe don't meet that specificthose specific guidelines.

One of the proposals in my testimony is to increase the age limit
in the Child and Adult Food Care Program from 12 years of age to
18 years of age. There seems to be significant boys and girl club
programs, recreation programs, after-school programs that are
serving this age population that are not able to provide meal serv-
ices to those children simply because of the age requirement in this
particular program.

We would also see particularly if we extend the Homeless Dem-
onstration Project that that age gap would be significant.

What I am also, just to mention, list A had mentioned the family
resource centers. In Kentucky in 1990 we passed extensive educa-
tion reform, and one piece of that was to set up at every school, or
near the school, a family resource center if the school had at least
20 percent of the children eligible for free or reduced price lunches.

We have most schools online. Those family resource centers are
certainly social service centers. They are centers for referrals of
multi-types of organizations. We use them in terms of developing
family child care, after school care, and all parents within the
school and within the neighborhood are eligible to use those, and I
think what we are seeing in the States is more and more a move
that no one program can provide all services to all people, and we
have got to coordinate and work together, particularly at the local
level, to make those things function.

Child care has to work with school breakfast, school lunch, net,
summer feeding programs, all of those, and we need to assure that
we are providing a safety' net of services for all of these kids by
coordinating what it is we do.

Ms. WOOISEY. Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREEN. Thank you.
Mr. Chairman.
Chairman KILDEE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I apologize. Two

different floors today. I am trying to work for justice and human
dignity and I really got into a struggle upstairs. I didn't think it
would take that long to defend human dignity and I really appreci-
ate Mr. Green taking the Chair and presiding in such a very pro-
fessional and sensitive manner.

One question. I get together rather regularly, socially and profes-
sionally, with my school food service directors in my district. They
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are very nice people. I think we attract nice people to that type of
work, and I have seen that a school might be administering four
different child nutrition programs, plus they might be operating a
central kitchen serving the elderly in daycare settings, and all of
these programs have their own separate and unique requirements
and eligibility criteria which makes administering these programs
very complex.

I have really been mulling over my mind the idea of developing
kind of a seamless child nutrition delivery system where the school
can provide all of these meals without having to constantly shift
from one program to another and look at the regulations one to an-
other.

Do you think this is something that we should pursue to try to
streamline this and make it a little easier for those food service di-
rectors back in the local school districts? Anyone want to have any
comment on that?

Ms. HAMLER-PODOLSKI. I would certainly applaud your efforts at
anything that would streamline the current programs, the current
child nutrition programs that exist.

A report I believe in 1989 that said that 44 percent of the paper-
work that were processed in schools across America related to child
nutrition programs. I would say that is quite labor intensive when
we have school food service directors and personnel who are at-
tempting to feed our children, not push paperwork.

The other thing that I would recommend is possibly a piloting
automated payment system to school districts as well, possibly
automated reporting systems and payment systems that can be
done. Not only is the paperwork labor intensive, it is generally
done in 90 percent of the cases in a manual environment.

Chairman KILDEE. Yes.
MS. LOCKE. I would like to just provide a personal comment as it

relates to that. Certainly we see in Kentucky a specific problem
with this. With our education reform, we have mandated services
for 3- and 4-year-olds within our public school system.

Those children are receiving either a school breakfast or a school
lunch under that. However, school breakfast and school lunch does
not provide snacks, and so the children, all of them eligible for free
lunch who are participating in this particular school-based pre-
school program must bring in cookies, graham crackers, et cetera,
from home for snacks because there is no funds in the nutrition
program to pay for the snacks, and the school and the payment
system of the program did not provide that.

So it has been a real frustration in that area not to have the
snack. There are some other things and I will just throw this one
out, I think it was covered back in the 1970s. Residential child
caring facilities, institutions that provide residential care for chil-
dren participate in the school lunch program and provide breakfast
and lunch.

Well, those children are also there for supper. They arc also
there at snack time but that is not part of the reimburoement
system. So I think that many times when we wrote these bills and
certainly the father of school lunch, Mr. Perkins, many years ago,
probably didn't look at so many of these things when school lunch
was developed at that time, but we are changing and the children
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that we are serving and how we are serving them are certainly dif-
ferent, and so I certainly applaud those efforts and certainly the
Child and Adult Care Food Care Program portion would hope to be
an integral part of any coordination or any seamless part of serv-
ices.

Chairman KILDEE. Speaking of Mr. Perkins, with whom I had the
privilege of serving for many years when he was chairman of this
committee, you know, it is interesting to note that when the school
lunch program began, it really began because of two reasons.

One of the greatest reasons was that it was discovered during
World War II, that many people could not pass their physicals. It
was determined that for many of those who could not pass the phy-
sicals, it was because of poor nutrition, particularly in their grow-
ing years. To a good extent this program came into being as a
matter of national defense to make sure we had able-bodied people
to defend this country. I have always been tempted to transfer the
funding of this program over to the Defense Department because
they get so much money.

They are really built in lobbyists. Cap Weinberger got all the
money he wanted and particularly during Cap Weinberger's day, I
just felt we should transfer that over there and that kind of money
falls off the trucks as they leave the Pentagon here.

I remember I sold a Christmas tree to Cap Weinberger one time,
my two sons were Boy Scouts and we were selling Christmas trees
and here comes Cap Weinberger up to buy a Christmas tree and he
bought one for $50, and I was going to charge him $500, he had
been so used to paying the high dollar, but I resisted that.

I don't really want to transfer to the Defense Department, but it
might assure better funding over there. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. ROBINSON. Mr. Kildee, I might make one comment here in
regard to your rationalizing all the multiple programs.

We are currently putting together a policy background analysis
on all 14 of the Department of USDA administered food assistance
programs that will hopefully provide some good information to
help you in that process.

Chairman KILDEE. We appreciate that, be very helpful. Get it to
usI think next year is when we reauthorize this, that will be very
timely for us. I appreciate that, Mr. Robinson.

Ms. FORD. I would like to see the sharing of the eligibility crite-
rion between the school districts and the municipal, county and
State government entities that elect to sponsor programs in the
summertime.

We have had the problem of, we know we are serving the same
children in the summer lunch program, but a summer food service
sponsor many times has to go from door to door to put out the very
same application that the school district has already collected from
the child.

There is currently a control sheet of those children and their eli-
gibility in the school district's premises, and I think the USDA
needs to allow that information to be shared by any organization
that chooses to do something worthy for the same children who
have already been declared eligible.
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So if we could look at that and clear that up in the regulations, I
think that would be a great help for the expansion of the summer
lunch program.

Ms. HAMLER-PODOLSKI. Chairman Kildee, this is a matter of na-
tional security. Children cannot wait while we as adults debate.

As Ms. Ford said, direct certification and the exchange of infor-
mation about current eligibility would streamline these programs
tremendously. Currently we have children who are residing in fam-
ilies that are receiving ADC and food stamps under the child nutri-
tion and WIC amendments of 1989.

States were given the ability to directly certify those children for
school-based nutrition programs, but yet many schools have chosen
not to execute direct certification because of problems with confi-
dentiality.

The bottom line is, they are frightened that if this information is
removed from the district and may fall into the wrong hands, that
the district may encounter a lawsuit.

We have found in many districts in our State that have moved
forward to implement direct certification that districts who once
thought there were very low percentages of free and reduced priced
children, a school district in Lebanon, Ohio said they weren't really
interested in direct certification, more interested or interested in
the breakfast program, but it did convince them, go with direct cer-
tification.

The information came down from the State Department of
Human Services. He was surprised at what he found. Districtwide
he believed, based on his last year's enrollment, that 10 percent of
the students enrolled in the district were eligible for free and re-
duced priced meals. When he got his numbers supplied in the next
year, he discovered that number was 18 percent.

One of the reasons that it is so difficult to get children involved
in school-based nutrition programs is because of the stigma that is
attached. We may have younger siblings participating in the
school-based nutrition programs at the elementary level but the
falloff is significant as you move to the middle school and high
school levels.

Thank you.
Mr. GREEN. Thank you.
I would like to thank the witnesses and I couldn't help butMs.

Ford, and I understand your concern about making sure the rules
are followed and the concern about theso we don't lose those pro-
grams, but I would also hope that site monitor wouldif that child
from Ms. Podolski's examples, if that child said I need to take this
home, that someone would follow that child home and I would
hopein fact I am going to work on my school districts to make
sure that is done because I come from a district that every school
has some type of reduced or free lunch and breakfast program, but
you have obviously provided a great deal of thought in how we can
improve the programs and ensure our students are well nourished
and we want to stay in touch with you as the child reauthorization
process continues.
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I want to thank you for not only myself but the real Chairman of
the committee, Chairman Kildee, for your commitment to feeding
our children. And the hearing record will remain open for 2 addi-
tional weeks for further submissions and the committee stands ad-
journed.

Thank you.
[Whereupon, at 11:50 a.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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